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THIS REPORT ON FORM 10-K CONTAINS FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS THAT INVOLVE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES. 
ACTUAL EVENTS AND RESULTS COULD DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE ANTICIPATED IN THESE FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS AS A RESULT OF CERTAIN FACTORS. SEE ITEM 7, "MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS--SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT".  

EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE NOTED, THE DISCUSSIONS, DESCRIPTIONS AND OTHER MATERIAL PRESENTED IN THIS REPORT 
ARE PRESENTED ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS ASSUMING THAT THE MERGER OF MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC. AND 
EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC. INTO EARTHLINK, INC. HAD OCCURRED AS OF JANUARY 1, 1999. IN THE MERGER, EACH 
MINDSPRING SHARE WAS EXCHANGED FOR ONE EARTHLINK, INC. SHARE AND EACH EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC. 
SHARE WAS EXCHANGED OR 1.615 EARTHLINK, INC. SHARES.  

PART I  

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.  

OVERVIEW  

EarthLink, Inc. (or the "Company"), is a leading Internet service provider, or ISP, providing reliable nationwide Internet access and related 
value-added services to our individual and business members. The Company was formed in February 2000 as a result of the merger of 
EarthLink Network, Inc. ("EarthLink Network"), and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. ("MindSpring") in a transaction accounted for as a 
"pooling-of-interests." By combining the two companies we formed the second largest Internet service provider in the United States. We expect 
to achieve significant revenue, expense and capital synergies through economies of scale, the elimination of duplicative expenditures and the 
combined skills of the two companies' management teams. We will also be able to take advantage of the complimentary blend of assets and 
capabilities contributed by the two companies to improve and expand service offerings and to accelerate our member growth rate.  

Our combined member base grew from approximately 1.7 million paying members on December 31, 1998 to approximately 3.1 million paying 
members on December 31, 1999. Our growth has resulted from strategic acquisitions as well as traditional marketing channels and alliances. 
Our organic growth is a product of our efforts to enhance our members' Internet experience through (1) simple, rapid and reliable access to the 
Internet, (2) superior member service and technical support, and (3) member education and support. As a result, we believe we have a high 
member retention rate for our industry.  

Our corporate offices are located at 1430 West Peachtree St., Suite 400, Atlanta, Georgia 30309 and our telephone number at that address is 
(404) 815-0770.  

STRATEGIC ALLIANCES AND ACQUISITIONS  

In June 1998, we entered into a strategic alliance with Sprint Corporation ("Sprint"). As a part of this alliance, Sprint transferred approximately 
130,000 members to us and is committed to generating at least 150,000 new members for us during each of the succeeding 5 years through 
their channels. Additionally, we are co-branded as Sprint's exclusive consumer Internet access provider, and we have exclusive access to 
certain dial-up modem ports in Sprint's network. We also have access to Sprint's marketing and distribution channels and the right to use 
Sprint's widely recognized brand name. As a result of this relationship, we recently announced our intention to offer wireless web access via 
Sprint PCS wireless phones.  

In October 1998, we purchased substantially all of Spry, Inc.'s ("Spry") subscriber base of individual dial-up Internet access members in the 
United States and Canada, including approximately 130,000 individual access accounts and acquired various assets used in serving those 
members, including a leased member support facility and a leased network operations facility in Seattle, Washington and all rights to the 
"Sprynet" name. Spry was a wholly-owned subsidiary of America Online, Inc ("AOL"). The purchase price for these assets was approximately 
$32 million.  
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In February 1999, we purchased substantially all of NETCOM On-Line Communication Services, Inc.'s ("NETCOM") subscriber accounts in 
the U.S., including approximately 408,000 individual access accounts, approximately 25,000 web hosting accounts and approximately 3,000 
dedicated Internet access accounts. NETCOM, now known as ICG Netahead, Inc. ("ICG Netahead"), is a wholly owned subsidiary of ICG 
Communications, Inc. We also acquired assets used in serving those members, including leased operations facilities in San Jose, California and 
Dallas, Texas and the rights to the "NETCOM" name, except in Canada, the United Kingdom and Brazil. ICG Netahead retained all of its 
assets used in connection with its network operations. Under a separate network services agreement with ICG Netahead, we also acquired 
access to ICG Netahead's network. We paid $245 million for the NETCOM assets, consisting of $215 million in cash and $30 million in 
common stock.  

In January 2000, we entered into a strategic alliance with Apple Computer Corporation, which we expect to accelerate our member growth. In 
connection with this alliance, we expanded our existing commercial relationship with Apple so that we will serve as the default ISP for Apple's 
Macintosh line of computers for a minimum of two years and our overall commercial relationship has been extended through January 4, 2005. 
Furthermore, Apple purchased $200 million of our newly created Series C convertible preferred stock.  

MARKETING CHANNELS  

Our sales and marketing efforts consist of the following programs:  

ADVERTISING. We advertise our services in print, billboards, electronic and broadcast media. We maintain a presence at national trade 
shows such as Internet World and MacWorld, as well as local and regional trade shows.  

DIRECT MARKETING. EarthLink promotes its services directly to members in the form of disk and coupon distribution through the mail, and 
through promotional inserts in packages, periodicals and newspapers.  

ORIGINAL EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURER CHANNELS. EarthLink has marketing arrangements with a number of leading hardware and 
software manufacturers to include our Internet access software pre-installed on or included with their products.  

AFFINITY MARKETING PROGRAM. Affinity marketing partners such as Discover Card and AAA of Southern California typically bundle 
our Internet access software with their own goods or services to create a package that promotes EarthLink to potential members.  

SPRINT ALLIANCE. Our alliance with Sprint includes a marketing and distribution arrangement that provides us access to Sprint's branded 
marketing and distribution channels in the United States, the right to use Sprint's brand for a minimum of ten years and a five-year commitment 
from Sprint to deliver a minimum of 150,000 new members annually through Sprint's channels. Additionally, Sprint promotes EarthLink as 
Sprint's exclusive consumer Internet access provider.  

APPLE ALLIANCE. Although we have been the default ISP in Apple's setup software on its Macintosh branded line of computers, our new 
January 5, 2000 Internet services agreement extends the time of our relationship through January 4, 2005. This new agreement also makes us 
the exclusive default ISP for dial- up, ISDN and DSL services on Macintosh computers sold in the United States for a minimum of two years.  

MEMBER REFERRAL PROGRAM. We believe that our existing members are among our most important marketing tools. We currently 
waive one month of standard access service fees or grant credit for each member who refers a new member to our service. These referrals 
generate a significant percentage of our new membership.  
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KEY BUSINESS AREAS  

NARROWBAND ACCESS  

Narrowband access revenues consist primarily of monthly fees charged to members for dial-up Internet access. We have approximately three 
million narrowband members. Narrowband revenues were $582.9 million in 1999 which represented 87 percent of total revenues for the year.  

WEB HOSTING  

We lease server space and provide web services to companies and individuals wishing to have a web or e-commerce presence. EarthLink's web 
hosting revenues were $47.4 million in 1999, which represented seven percent of total revenues for the year. As of December 31, 1999, we 
hosted approximately 109,000 Web sites compared to 36,000 in 1998, a 203% increase.  

BROADBAND ACCESS  

Broadband access revenues consist of fees charged for high-speed, high-capacity access services including cable, dedicated circuits and DSL 
services. In 1999 our main broadband focus became DSL. In the fourth quarter of 1999, we began service to 12 major cities giving us access to 
15 markets nationwide including Los Angeles, Atlanta, New York and Chicago. As of December 31, 1999, we approximately had 25,000 
broadband members.  

CONTENT, COMMERCE AND ADVERTISING  

We generate content, commerce and advertising revenues by leveraging the value of our member base and user traffic. The principal 
component of our strategy is our Premier Partnership Program, through which we offer and sell promotional packages that provide advertisers 
with access to the multiple points of contact we have with our members. The Premier Partnership Program focuses on third parties having a 
natural affinity to and benefit for our member base. The program generates revenues through (1) sales of banner and other online ads; (2) fees 
generated through revenue sharing arrangements with online retailers who are accessed through our properties; and, (3) payments for placing 
links from our properties to third-party content. We also sell advertising and content space on our various online properties, such as the 
Personal Start Page, the Mall and our online magazine eLink, and through our news magazine, bLink.  

SERVICES  

We currently support the pre-merger products and services of both the former EarthLink Network and MindSpring through approximately 
5,000 dial-up points of presence, or POPs as well as through our broadband access alternatives. Our primary service offerings include:  

- dial-up Internet access,  

- high speed access via dedicated circuits, DSL or cable modem,  

- Web hosting and Web page design, and  

- Content, commerce and advertising.  

These services are offered in various competitively priced plans designed to meet the needs of our members. Our Internet access software 
incorporates a telephone dialer and email program with several leading third-party Internet access tools, including our own proprietary browser 
as well as the latest browsers from Netscape and Microsoft. This software provides a functional, easy-to-use Internet access solution for 
Windows and Macintosh platforms. The software automatically installs these and other software applications on member computers. The 
simple point-and-click functionality of our software, combined with its easy-to-use multimedia registration and installation system, permits 
online credit card registration, allowing both our novice and experienced members to quickly set up access to the Internet.  
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Our business services, which are provided by the company's EarthLink Biz department, consist of:  

- Web hosting, the business of maintaining a member's Internet Web site,  

- Web page design,  

- domain name registration, and  

- e-commerce solutions.  

In October 1999, we introduced our new access software and online interface, EarthLink 5.0. EarthLink 5.0 is designed to provide members 
with an intuitive, all-in-one Internet environment. It allows for customization and personalization, letting EarthLink members take advantage of 
the power, speed and scope of a direct Internet connection through one fully-integrated user interface. Members need only click a button to 
access the Web, email, chat or other Internet applications. In addition to a one-stop Internet environment, EarthLink 5.0's feature set includes 
an intuitive multimedia-aided account setup process, full management of user profiles and locations, seamless setup multiple personalization 
and productivity options.  

MEMBER AND TECHNICAL SUPPORT  

We believe that reliable member and technical support are critical to retaining existing members and attracting new members. We provide the 
following member and technical support services:  

- toll-free, live telephone assistance available seven days a week, 24 hours a day,  

- email-based assistance available seven days a week, 24 hours a day,  

- help sites and Internet guide files on the EarthLink Web site,  

- automated "fax back" and "fax on demand" assistance, and  

- printed reference material.  

We also provide dedicated support for business members. In addition, we maintain newsgroups on the Internet where subscribers can post 
requests for help and other subscribers, as well as our own support personnel, can respond.  

We currently handle an average of over 60,000 member and technical support calls a day through our call centers located in Pasadena, 
California; Atlanta, Georgia; Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; Phoenix, Arizona; Seattle, Washington; Sacramento, California; San Jose, California; 
and Dallas, Texas. We also contract with call center services vendors whose EarthLink-trained employees provide additional technical support 
assistance. We believe the call centers' technology and systems are scaleable to accommodate call volume growth. We actively evaluate our 
call center facilities in order to deliver more effective and efficient services to our members.  

TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT AND SERVICE ENHANCEMENT  

We place significant emphasis on expanding and refining our services to enhance member Internet experience. Our technical staff is engaged in 
a variety of technical development and service enhancement activities and continuously reviews new third-party software products and 
technology for potential incorporation into our systems and services. EarthLink 5.0 is a recent product of these efforts. We also regularly 
update and expand the online services provided through the EarthLink Web site, organize Web content and develop online guides, help screens 
and other user services and resources.  

POPS AND NETWORK INFRASTRUCTURE  

We provide our members with Internet access primarily through both Company managed network and third-party network POPs. Over 90% of 
the U.S. population can access our Internet service through a local telephone call. We have access to third-party provider POPs through 
network services agreements with  
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UUNet, PSINet, Level 3, Sprint, Worldcom Advanced Networks (formerly Gridnet International, L.L.C.), GTE Internetworking Incorporated 
(formerly BBN Planet Corporation) and ICG Netahead.  

We believe that using a combination of EarthLink-owned POPs and leased third-party POPs enables us to provide Internet access services on a 
nationwide basis while managing the timing and magnitude of our capital expenditures. We employ a strategy of leasing POPs from third-party 
providers in locations where it is more economical to do so. These are typically geographic areas where we have lower market penetration than 
areas we serve through EarthLink-owned POPs. We periodically reevaluate the economics of this strategy and, if warranted, may install an 
EarthLink POP to replace or overlap with a third-party POP. Members located in a geographic area not currently serviced by a local POP can 
access the Internet through an 800 service.  

We have invested in measures to minimize the effects of damage from fire, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failure, computer 
viruses, security breaches and similar events or backup Internet services or backbone facilities or other redundant computing or 
telecommunications facilities.  

COMPETITION  

We operate in the Internet services market, which is extremely competitive. Our current and prospective competitors include many large 
companies that have substantially greater market presence, financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we have. We compete 
directly or indirectly with the following categories of companies:  

- established online services, such as America Online, the Microsoft Network and Prodigy;  

- local, regional and national ISPs, such as Rocky Mountain Internet and Internet America Inc.;  

- national telecommunications companies, such as AT&T and GTE;  

- regional Bell operating companies, such as BellSouth and SBC Communications Corp;  

- online cable services, such as ExciteAt Home and Roadrunner;  

- Free ISPs such as Netzero and Juno; and  

- Broadband providers such as cable television, utility and local and long distance telephone companies.  

Our competition is likely to increase. We believe this will probably happen as large diversified telecommunications and media companies 
acquire ISPs and otherwise proved ISP services and as ISPs consolidate into larger, more competitive companies. Diversified competitors may 
bundle other services and products with Internet connectivity services, potentially placing us at a significant competitive disadvantage. In 
addition, competitors may charge less than we do for Internet services, causing us to reduce (or preventing us from raising) our fees. As a 
result, our business may suffer.  

PROPRIETARY RIGHTS  

GENERAL. We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark, patent and trade secret laws and contractual restrictions to establish and protect 
our technology and proprietary rights and information. We require employees and consultants and, when possible, suppliers and distributors, to 
sign confidentiality agreements. However, we cannot assure you that our steps will be sufficient to prevent misappropriation of our technology 
and proprietary rights and information or that our competitors will not independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or 
superior to ours. From time to time, third parties have alleged that certain of our trademarks infringe their trademarks. None of these claims has 
had an adverse effect on our ability to market and sell its services. However, we cannot ensure that those claims will not have an adverse effect 
in the future or that others will not assert infringement claims against us in the future.  
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LICENSES. We have licenses to distribute and/or use third-party software incorporated in our software. Significant applications which we 
license for distribution include Netscape Communicator (this license automatically renews each December for additional one-year terms unless 
either party terminates the license on 120 days notice), Microsoft Internet Explorer (this license expires in August 2000 and thereafter 
automatically renews for additional one-year terms, although either party may terminate the license at any time on 30 days notice), and 
MacTCP software from Apple (this license renews each year). We acquired some software, trademarks and other proprietary technology from 
Spry and NETCOM which we may continue to use in support of the members we acquired from those companies. We have an agreement with 
AOL, under which we distribute a co-branded EarthLink version of AOL Instant Messenger. We intend to maintain or negotiate renewals of 
existing software licenses and authorizations as necessary. We may also want or need to license other applications in the future. Our inability to 
renew existing software licenses or to license additional applications could have a material adverse effect on us.  

EMPLOYEES  

As of December 31, 1999, we employed 4,828 full time equivalents, including 731 sales and marketing personnel, 3,232 member and technical 
support representatives, 601 operations personnel, member and technical support representatives and 264 administrative personnel. None of our 
employees are represented by a labor union, and we have no collective bargaining agreement.  

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.  

The Company maintains facilities and offices at various locations throughout the United States for general corporate purposes, including 
technology centers, member call centers, office space and our corporate headquarters.  

Our principal executive offices are in Atlanta, Georgia. We lease approximately 51,900 square feet in our headquarters building at a current 
monthly rent of $59,000. We also lease a 110,000 square foot facility in Pasadena, California to house an equipment and technology center. 
Current monthly rent on the facility is $147,000.  

In addition, we maintain leased space for member support call centers and office purposes in Atlanta Georgia, Harrisburg Pennsylvania, 
Pasadena California, Phoenix Arizona, Sacramento California, San Jose California, and Dallas Texas.  

All of the above leases include scheduled base rent increases over the respective lease terms. The total amount of base rent payments is being 
charged to expense on the straight-line method over the terms of the leases. In addition to the base rent payments, the Company generally pays 
a monthly allocation of the buildings' operating expenses. We believe we have adequate facilities and plan to acquire additional space to meet 
our future growth needs.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.  

We are not currently involved in any legal proceedings that we believe could have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on 
our business or financial condition. There are proceedings pending before the FCC and other governmental legislative and regulatory 
authorities that could adversely affect the ISP industry and the means by which ISPs conduct business and the cost structure for ISP services. 
We are not a party to these proceedings.  

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS.  

None.  
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PART II  

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKH OLDER MATTERS.  

Prior to the merger of the two companies, EarthLink Network common stock was listed and traded on the Nasdaq national market under the 
symbol "ELNK," and MindSpring common stock was listed and traded on the Nasdaq national market under the symbol "MSPG". This table 
sets forth for the indicated periods, the high and low sales prices per share as reported as composite transactions in The Wall Street Journal. 
Neither EarthLink Network nor MindSpring has historically paid dividends to its common stockholders. The data given for EarthLink Network 
has been adjusted for the 2-for-1 stock split effected July 1998 and the 1.615 exchange ratio of its common stock in the merger with 
MindSpring. The data given for MindSpring has been adjusted for the 3-for-1 stock split effected July 1998 and the 2-for-1 stock split effected 
June 1999.  

 

The last reported sale price of the Company's common stock on the Nasdaq National Market on March 17, 2000 was $21.50 per share. There 
were approximately 1,543 holders of the Company's Common Stock. Our common stock is listed and traded on the Nasdaq national market 
under the symbol "ELNK".  

DIVIDENDS  

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends. We currently expect to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the growth and 
development of our business, including potential acquisitions. Therefore, we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future, 
except as required pursuant to the terms of our convertible preferred stock owned by Sprint and Apple.  

SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES  

In connection with our January 1999 follow-on public offering, Sprint exercised its "top-up" rights and purchased 979,000 shares of our newly 
created Series B convertible preferred stock, convertible into 979,000 shares of common stock (assuming the acceleration of certain paid in 
kind dividends rights).  
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                                                   EARTHLINK            MINDSPRING 
                                                 NE TWORK, INC.       ENTERPRISES, INC. 
                                                 CO MMON STOCK          COMMON STOCK 
                                              ----- --------------   -------------------  
                                                HIG H       LOW        HIGH       LOW 
                                              ----- ---   --------   --------   --------  
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998 
First Quarter...............................   $17. 47     $ 7.59     $11.50     $ 4.61 
Second Quarter..............................    23. 76      15.48      17.38       8.08 
Third Quarter...............................    27. 32      16.41      26.19      12.66 
Fourth Quarter..............................    44. 50      20.98      39.50      11.56 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999 
First Quarter...............................    55. 26      35.49      62.50      31.25 
Second Quarter..............................    56. 04      23.07      66.50      27.94 
Third Quarter...............................    43. 65      22.95      54.88      23.00 
Fourth Quarter..............................    39. 01      24.15      40.44      23.88 
YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2000 
First Quarter (through February 4, 2000)....    30. 15      25.39      30.15      26.00 
 
EARTHLINK, INC. 
February 7 through March 17, 2000...........   $31. 44     $19.81 



ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.  

On February 4, 2000, EarthLink Network and MindSpring merged into EarthLink, Inc. Following, in Items 6a, 6b and 6c, we present selected 
financial data for  
(1) EarthLink, Inc., the combined company, (2) EarthLink Network prior to the merger and (3) MindSpring prior to the merger, respectively. In 
all discussions, share numbers for pre-merger EarthLink have been adjusted to reflect the effect of the pooling of interests in which each 
outstanding share of then existing EarthLink Network securities was exchanged for 1.615 shares of the equivalent securities of the new 
company and each outstanding share of then existing MindSpring securities was exchanged for one share of the equivalent security of the new 
company.  

ITEM 6A. EARTHLINK, INC.--SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  

The following supplemental selected financial data should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations for EarthLink, Inc." and the Supplemental Combined Financial Statements and Notes thereto included 
elsewhere in this Report  

EARTHLINK, INC.--SELECTED PRO FORMA SUPPLEMENTAL CO MBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

 

 

(1) Reflects the accretion of liquidation dividends on Series A and B convertible preferred stock at 3% compounded quarterly and the accretion 
of a dividend related to the beneficial conversion feature in accordance with EITF D-60.  

(2) Each outstanding share of then existing EarthLink Network common stock was exchanged for 1.615 shares of the common stock of the new 
company and each outstanding share of then existing MindSpring common stock was exchanged for one share of the common stock of the new 
company. See Note 1 of Notes to Supplemental Combined Financial Statements for an explanation of the determination of the number of 
weighted average shares outstanding in the net loss per share computation.  
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                                                                             YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              ---------------------------------------- ------------- 
                                                                1995       1996       1997       1998       1999 
                                                              --------   --------   --------   ------- -   --------- 
                                                                    (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AM OUNTS) 
CONSOLIDATED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
Revenues........................................... .........  $ 5,255    $ 51,362   $133,444   $290,61 4   $ 670,433 
Operating costs and expenses....................... .........   12,507      89,142    165,641    345,06 9     866,113 
Loss from operations............................... .........   (7,252)    (37,780)   (32,197)   (54,45 5)   (195,680)  
Net loss........................................... .........   (8,079)    (38,761)   (33,997)   (53,17 8)   (173,694)  
Deductions for accretion dividends (1)............. .........       --          --         --     (7,60 1)    (14,106)  
                                                              -------    --------   --------   ------- -   --------- 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders....... .........  $(8,079)   $(38,761)  $(33,997)  $(60,77 9)  $(187,800)  
                                                              =======    ========   ========   ======= =   ========= 
Basic and diluted net loss per share (2)........... .........  $ (0.25)   $  (0.76)  $  (0.44)  $  (0.6 6)  $   (1.65)  
                                                              =======    ========   ========   ======= =   ========= 
Weighted average shares (2)........................ .........   32,254      51,119     77,387     91,46 6     113,637 
                                                              =======    ========   ========   ======= =   ========= 
Other operating data: 
  EBITDA (3)....................................... .........  $(6,682)   $(30,342)  $(14,127)  $ 15,49 8   $  (6,157)  
  Cash flows from 
    Operating activities........................... .........   (3,713)    (18,227)    (9,936)    62,09 8      44,211 
    Investing activities........................... .........   (7,990)    (39,697)   (25,097)   (56,88 6)   (339,749)  
    Financing activities........................... .........   11,833      70,855     47,223    277,55 9     672,684 

                                                                                   DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              ---------------------------------------- --------------- 
                                                                1995       1996       1997       1998         1999 
                                                              --------   --------   --------   ------- --   ---------- 
BALANCE SHEET DATA: 
Cash and cash equivalents.......................... .........  $   715    $ 13,646   $ 25,836   $ 308,6 07   $  685,753 
Total assets....................................... .........    9,719      62,351     91,175     510,0 02    1,109,147 
Long-term debt..................................... .........      355       8,813     13,308      10,1 25      188,367 
Total liabilities.................................. .........    8,947      44,192     63,685     109,5 15      350,694 
Accumulated deficit................................ .........   (7,041)    (45,802)   (79,799)   (140,5 78)    (328,378)  
Stockholders' equity............................... .........      772      18,159     27,490     400,4 87      758,453 



(3) Represents earnings (loss) before depreciation and amortization, interest income and expense and income tax expense. EBITDA is not 
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, is not indicative of cash used by operating activities and should not be 
considered in isolation from, as an alternative to, or more meaningful than measures of performance determined in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  

(4) The financial data of the combined Company include adjustments of $3.9 million and $25.3 million for 1998 and 1999, respectively, to give 
effect to the reestablishment of a valuation allowance on the MindSpring net deferred tax assets. In 1998 MindSpring's management reviewed 
its net deferred tax asset, consisting primarily of net operating loss carryforwards and based on the net income generated in 1998 as well as the 
projections of future income determined that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would be realized. Accordingly, the 
Company reversed its valuation allowance in 1998 and did not record one in 1999. In the course of the reorganization discussions management 
of MindSpring and EarthLink Network reviewed the combined net deferred tax assets and concluded that sufficient uncertainty now exists 
regarding realizability of the net deferred tax asset.  

ITEM 6B. EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.--SELECTED FINANCIA L DATA  

The following consolidated selected financial data should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations for EarthLink Network, Inc." and the Consolidated Combined Financial Statements and Notes thereto 
included elsewhere in this Report.  

EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.--SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANC IAL INFORMATION  

 

 

(1) Reflects the accretion of liquidation dividends on Series A and B convertible preferred stock at 3% compounded quarterly and the accretion 
of a dividend related to the beneficial conversion feature in accordance with EITF D-60.  

(2) See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of EarthLink Network Inc., for an explanation of the determination of the number 
of weighted average shares outstanding in the net loss per share computation.  
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                                                                             YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              ---------------------------------------- ------------- 
                                                                1995       1996       1997       1998       1999 
                                                              --------   --------   --------   ------- -   --------- 
                                                                    (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AM OUNTS) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
Revenues........................................... .........  $ 3,028    $ 33,230   $ 80,888   $175,94 1   $ 342,288 
Operating costs and expenses....................... .........    9,046      63,488    109,342    238,18 0     466,595 
Loss from operations............................... .........   (6,018)    (30,258)   (28,454)   (62,23 9)   (124,307)  
Net loss........................................... .........   (6,120)    (31,149)   (29,916)   (59,78 2)   (108,248)  
Deductions for accretion dividends (1)............. .........       --          --         --     (7,60 1)    (14,106)  
                                                              -------    --------   --------   ------- -   --------- 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders....... .........  $(6,120)   $(31,149)  $(29,916)  $(67,38 3)  $(122,354)  
                                                              =======    ========   ========   ======= =   ========= 
Basic and diluted net loss per share (2)........... .........  $ (0.80)   $  (2.57)  $  (1.50)  $  (2.5 8)  $   (3.81)  
                                                              =======    ========   ========   ======= =   ========= 
Weighted average shares (2)........................ .........    7,674      12,138     20,002     26,15 7      32,133 
                                                              =======    ========   ========   ======= =   ========= 
Other operating data: 
  EBITDA (3)....................................... .........  $(5,713)   $(26,105)  $(19,077)  $ (7,51 3)  $ (38,132)  
  Cash flows from 
    Operating activities........................... .........   (3,643)    (16,222)   (21,290)    26,59 7     (21,410)  
    Investing activities........................... .........   (4,266)    (18,361)   (16,095)    (9,23 9)    (49,899)  
    Financing activities........................... .........    8,199      38,286     49,842    107,05 6     239,024 

                                                                                   DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              ---------------------------------------- --------------- 
                                                                1995       1996       1997       1998         1999 
                                                              --------   --------   --------   ------- --   ---------- 
BALANCE SHEET DATA: 
Cash and cash equivalents.......................... .........  $   290    $  3,993   $ 16,450   $ 140,8 64   $  308,579 
Total assets....................................... .........    4,874      27,119     46,887     266,3 41      423,475 
Long-term debt..................................... .........      355       6,088      8,218       7,7 01        8,259 
Total liabilities.................................. .........    4,584      34,367     40,812      68,9 97       96,937 
Accumulated deficit................................ .........   (5,007)    (36,156)   (66,072)   (133,4 54)    (255,809)  
Stockholders' equity (deficit)..................... .........      290     (21,261)     6,075     197,3 44      326,538 



(3) Represents earnings (loss) before depreciation and amortization, interest income and expense and income tax expense. EBITDA is not 
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, is not indicative of cash used by operating activities and should not be 
considered in isolation from, as an alternative to, or more meaningful than measures of performance determined in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  

ITEM 6C. MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.--SELECTED FIN ANCIAL DATA  

The following consolidated selected financial data should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations for MindSpring Enterprises, Inc." and the Financial Statements of MindSpring and Notes thereto included 
elsewhere in this Report.  

MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.--SELECTED HISTORICAL F INANCIAL INFORMATION  

 

 

(1) See Note 1 of Notes to the Financial Statements MindSpring Enterprises for an explanation of the determination of the number of weighted 
average shares outstanding in the net income (loss) per share computation.  

(2) Represents earnings (loss) before depreciation and amortization, interest income and expense and income tax expense. EBITDA is not 
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, is not indicative of cash used by operating activities and should not be 
considered in isolation from, as an alternative to, or more meaningful than measures of performance determined in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  
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                                                                             YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              ---------------------------------------- ------------- 
                                                                1995       1996       1997       1998       1999 
                                                              --------   --------   --------   ------- -   --------- 
                                                                    (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AM OUNTS) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
Revenues........................................... .........  $ 2,227    $ 18,132   $52,556    $114,67 3   $ 328,145 
Operating costs and expenses....................... .........    3,461      25,654    56,299     106,88 7     399,518 
Profit (loss) from operations...................... .........   (1,234)     (7,522)   (3,743)      7,78 6     (71,373)  
                                                              -------    --------   -------    ------- -   --------- 
Net (loss) income.................................. .........  $(1,959)   $ (7,612)  $(4,081)   $ 10,54 4   $ (40,131)  
                                                              =======    ========   =======    ======= =   ========= 
 
Net (loss) income per share (1) 
  Basic............................................ .........  $ (0.10)   $  (0.24)  $ (0.09)   $   0.2 1   $   (0.65)  
                                                              =======    ========   =======    ======= =   ========= 
  Diluted.......................................... .........  $ (0.10)   $  (0.24)  $ (0.09)   $   0.2 1   $   (0.65)  
                                                              =======    ========   =======    ======= =   ========= 
Weighted average shares (1) 
  Basic............................................ .........   19,860      31,516    45,084      49,22 2      61,742 
                                                              =======    ========   =======    ======= =   ========= 
  Diluted.......................................... .........   19,860      31,516    45,084      50,86 2      61,742 
                                                              =======    ========   =======    ======= =   ========= 
Other operating data: 
  EBITDA (2)....................................... .........  $  (969)   $ (4,237)  $ 4,950    $ 23,01 1   $  31,975 
  Cash flows from 
    Operating activities........................... .........      (70)     (2,005)   11,354      35,50 1      65,621 
    Investing activities........................... .........   (3,724)    (21,336)   (9,002)    (47,64 7)   (289,850)  
    Financing activities........................... .........    3,634      32,569    (2,619)    170,50 3     433,660 

                                                                                  DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              ---------------------------------------- ------------ 
                                                                1995       1996       1997       1998       1999 
                                                              --------   --------   --------   ------- -   -------- 
BALANCE SHEET DATA: 
Cash and cash equivalents.......................... .........  $   425    $ 9,653    $  9,386   $167,74 3   $377,174 
Total assets....................................... .........    4,845     35,232      44,286    247,59 9    714,925 
Long-term debt..................................... .........       --      2,725       5,090      2,42 4    180,108 
Total liabilities.................................. .........    4,363      9,825      22,873     40,51 8    253,755 
Accumulated deficit................................ .........   (2,034)    (9,646)    (13,727)    (3,18 3)   (43,314)  
Stockholders' equity............................... .........      482     25,407      21,415    207,08 3    461,170 



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.  

On February 4, 2000, EarthLink Network and MindSpring merged into the Company. Following, in Items 7a, 7b and 7c, we present 
Management's Discussion and Analysis for (1) EarthLink, Inc., the combined company, (2) EarthLink Network prior to the merger and (3) 
MindSpring prior to the merger, respectively. In all discussions, share numbers for pre-merger EarthLink Network have been adjusted to reflect 
the effect of the pooling of interests in which each outstanding share of then existing EarthLink Network securities was exchanged for 1.615 
shares of the equivalent securities of the combined company and each outstanding share of then existing MindSpring securities was exchanged 
for one share of the equivalent security of the new company.  

The following discusses the supplemental combined financial condition and results of operations of the Company, EarthLink Network and 
MindSpring should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Report.  

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT  

The Management's Discussion and Analyses and other portions of this Report include "forward looking" statements within the meaning of the 
federal securities laws that are subject to future events, risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
expressed or implied. Important factors that either individually or in the aggregate could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
expressed include, without limitation, (1) that the Company's service offerings may fail to be competitive with existing and new competitors, 
(2) that the Company may not retain or grow its member base, (3) that the Sprint and/or the Apple alliance may not be as beneficial to the 
Company as management anticipates, (4) customer attrition rates may not improve to expected levels, (5) the expected rate of growth in 
advertising, content and commerce may not be achieved, (6) the Company may not adequately respond to technological developments 
impacting the Internet, (7) that needed financing may not be available to the Company if and as needed, (8) that a significant change in the 
growth rate of the overall U.S. economy may occur, such that consumer and corporate spending are materially impacted, (9) that a significant 
reversal in the trend toward increased usage of the Internet may occur, (10) that a drastic negative change in the market conditions may occur, 
and (11) that some other unforeseen difficulties may occur. These factors are not intended to represent a complete list of all risks and 
uncertainties inherent in the Company's business, and should be read in conjunction with the more detailed cautionary statements included 
elsewhere in recent SEC filings.  

ITEM 7A. EARTHLINK, INC.-- MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS.  

OVERVIEW  

EarthLink, Inc is a leading Internet service provider, or ISP, providing reliable nationwide Internet access and related value-added services to 
our individual and business members. The Company was formed in February 2000 by way of the merger of EarthLink Network and 
MindSpring. By combining the two companies we formed the second largest Internet service provider in the United States. The combined 
company is expected to achieve significant revenue, expense and capital synergies through economies of scale, the elimination of duplicative 
expenditures and the combined skills of the two companies' management teams. The combined company will also be able to take advantage of 
the complimentary blend of assets and capabilities contributed by the two companies to improve and expand service offerings and accelerate its 
member growth rate.  

Our combined member base grew from approximately 1.7 million paying members on December 31, 1998 to approximately 3.1 million paying 
members on December 31, 1999, making us one of the world's leading ISPs. Our growth has resulted from strategic acquisitions as well as 
traditional marketing channels and alliances. Our organic growth is a product of our efforts to enhance our members' Internet experience  
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through (1) simple, rapid and reliable access to the Internet, (2) superior member service and technical support, and (3) member education and 
support. As a result, we believe we have a high member retention rate for our industry.  

The Company derives revenue in four key business areas:  

- NARROWBAND ACCESS REVENUES which consist of monthly fees charged to members for dial up Internet access  

- WEB HOSTING REVENUES which we earn by providing web services to companies and individuals wishing to have a web or e-Commerce 
presence  

- BROADBAND ACCESS REVENUES which consists of fees charged for high-speed, high capacity access services including cable, 
dedicated circuits and DSL, and  

- CONTENT, COMMERCE AND ADVERTISING REVENUES which represent (1) sales of banner and other online ads; (2) fees generated 
through revenue sharing arrangements with online retailers who are accessed through our properties; and (3) payments for placing links from 
our properties to third-party content. We also sell advertising and content space on our various online properties, such as the Personal Start 
Page, the Mall and our online magazine eLink, and through our bi- monthly magazine, bLink.  

In June 1998, we entered into a strategic alliance with Sprint. As a part of this alliance, Sprint transferred approximately 130,000 members to 
us and is committed to generating at least 150,000 new members for us during each of the succeeding five years through their channels. 
Additionally, we are co-branded as Sprint's exclusive consumer Internet access provider, and we have exclusive access to certain dial-up 
modem ports in Sprint's network. We also have access to Sprint's marketing and distribution channels and the right to use Sprint's widely 
recognized brand name.  

In October 1998, we purchased substantially all of Spry, Inc.'s subscriber base of individual dial-up Internet access members in the United 
States and Canada, including approximately 130,000 individual access accounts. We also acquired various assets used in serving those 
members, including a leased member support facility and a leased network operations facility in Seattle, Washington and all rights to the 
"Sprynet" name. Spry was a wholly-owned subsidiary of America Online, Inc. The purchase price for these assets was approximately $32 
million.  

In February 1999, we purchased substantially all of NETCOM On-Line Communication Services, Inc.'s subscriber accounts in the U.S., 
including approximately 408,000 individual access accounts, approximately 25,000 Web hosting accounts and approximately 3,000 dedicated 
Internet access accounts. NETCOM, now known as ICG Netahead, Inc., is a wholly owned subsidiary of ICG Communications, Inc. We also 
acquired assets used in serving those members, including leased operations facilities in San Jose, California and Dallas, Texas and ICG 
Netahead's rights to the "NETCOM" name, except in Canada, the United Kingdom and Brazil. ICG Netahead retained all of its assets used in 
connection with its network operations. Under a separate network services agreement with ICG Netahead, EarthLink Inc., purchases access to 
ICG Netahead's network. We paid $245 million for the NETCOM assets, consisting of $215 million in cash and $30 million in common stock.  

In January 2000, we entered into a strategic alliance with Apple Computer, which we expect to accelerate our member growth. In connection 
with this alliance, we expanded our existing commercial relationship with Apple so that we will serve as the default ISP for Apple's Macintosh 
line of computers for a minimum of two years and our overall commercial relationship has been extended through January 4, 2005.  

12  



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

The following table sets forth the percentage of total revenues represented by certain items in our supplemental combined statements of 
operations for the periods indicated:  

 

(1) Represents the amortization of intangible assets acquired and a one time transaction cost, in June 1998, of $1,397,000 resulting from the 
strategic alliance with Sprint.  

(2) In 1998, MindSpring's management reviewed its net deferred tax asset, consisting primarily of net operating loss carryforwards and based 
on the net income generated in 1998 as well as the projections of future income determined that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax 
assets would be realized. Accordingly, the Company reversed its valuation allowance in 1998 and did not record one in 1999. In the course of 
the reorganization discussions, management of MindSpring and EarthLink Network reviewed the combined net deferred tax assets and 
concluded that sufficient uncertainty now exists regarding realizability of the net deferred tax asset. The financial data of the combined 
Company include adjustments of $3.9 million and $25.3 million for 1998 and 1999, respectively, to give effect to the reestablishment of a 
valuation allowance on the MindSpring net deferred tax assets. See note 1 to the Supplemental Combined Financial Statements of EarthLink, 
Inc. included herein.  
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                                               YEAR  ENDED             YEAR ENDED              YEAR END ED 
                                            DECEMBE R 31, 1997      DECEMBER 31, 1998       DECEMBER 31 , 1999 
                                           -------- -----------   ---------------------   ------------- --------  
                                                        % OF                    % OF                    % OF 
                                           (000'S)    REVENUE     (000'S)     REVENUE     (000'S)     REVENUE 
                                           --------    --------   ----------   --------   ----------   --------  
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
Revenues: 
  Narrowband access......................  $119,030       89      $  260,229      90      $  582,883      87 
  Web Hosting............................    12,557        9          22,007       7          47,435       7 
  Broadband access.......................     1,220        1           3,321       1          23,540       4 
  Content, commerce and advertising......       637        1           5,057       2          16,575       2 
                                           --------      ---      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
    Total revenues.......................   133,444      100         290,614     100         670,433     100 
 
Operating costs and expenses: 
  Cost of revenues.......................    57,183       43         115,529      40         248,487      37 
  Operations and member support..........    44,801       34          80,244      28         182,134      27 
  Sales and marketing....................    36,281       27          65,037      22         219,349      33 
  General and administrative.............    23,168       17          34,575      12          67,876      10 
  Acquisition-related costs(1)...........     4,208        3          49,684      17         148,267      22 
                                           --------      ---      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
    Total operating costs and expenses...   165,641      124         345,069     119         866,113     129 
                                           --------      ---      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
 
Loss from operations.....................   (32,197 )    (24)        (54,455)    (19)       (195,680)    (29) 
Net interest income (expense)............    (1,800 )      1           3,671       1          21,986       3 
                                           --------               ----------              ---------- 
    Net loss before income tax 
      provision..........................   (33,997 )    (25)        (50,784)    (18)       (173,694)    (26) 
Income tax provision(2)..................                --          (2,394)     (1)             --      -- 
                                           --------      ---      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
    Net loss.............................   (33,997 )    (25)        (53,178)    (19)       (173,694)    (26) 
Deductions for accretion dividends.......        --       --          (7,601)     (2)        (14,106)     (2) 
                                           --------      ---      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
Net loss attributable to common 
  stockholders...........................  $(33,997 )    (25)     $  (60,779)    (21)     $ (187,800)    (28) 
                                           ========      ===      ==========     ===      ==========     === 
 
OPERATING DATA: 
Number of members at year end............   698,000                1,640,000               3,122,000 
Number of employees at year end..........     1,789                    2,320                   4,828 
EBITDA...................................   (14,127 )    (11)         15,498       5          (6,157)     (1) 
 
CASH FLOW DATA: 
Cash flow (used in) from operations......    (9,936 )                 62,098                  44,211 
Cash flow (used in) from investing 
  activities.............................   (25,097 )                (56,886)               (339,749) 
Cash flow (used in) from financing 
  activities.............................    47,223                  277,559                 672,684 



1999 COMPARED TO 1998  

NARROWBAND ACCESS REVENUES  

Narrowband access revenues consist primarily of monthly fees charged to members for dial up Internet access. EarthLink's narrowband 
revenues increased from $260.2 million in 1998 to $582.9 million in 1999, a 124 percent increase. The substantial growth in narrowband 
revenues was primarily due to an increase in the Company's member base from 1.6 million at December 31, 1998 to 3.1 million at December 
31, 1999. Approximately 408,000 members were acquired from NETCOM in February 1999, 130,000 were acquired from Spry in October 
1998. Approximately 130,000 members were acquired in June 1998 from Sprint.  

WEB HOSTING REVENUES  

Web hosting revenues are earned by leasing server space and providing web services to companies and individuals wishing to present a web or 
e-commerce presence. EarthLink's Web hosting revenues increased from $22.0 million in 1998 to $47.4 million in 1999, a 116 percent 
increase. As of December 31, 1999, the combined company hosted 109,000 Web sites compared to 36,000 in 1998, a 203% increase.  

BROADBAND ACCESS REVENUES  

Broadband access revenues represent fees charged for high-speed, high-capacity access services including cable, ISDN and DSL services. 
EarthLink's broadband revenues increased from $3.3 million in 1998 to $23.5 million in 1999, a 612 percent increase. In 1999 our main 
broadband focus became DSL. In the fourth quarter of 1999, we began service to 12 major cities giving us access to 15 markets nationwide. As 
of December 31, 1999, the combined company had 25,000 broadband members.  

CONTENT, COMMERCE AND ADVERTISING REVENUES  

Content, commerce and advertising revenues are generated by leveraging the value of the Company's member base and user traffic. Content, 
commerce and advertising revenues increased from $5.1 million in 1998 to $16.6 million in 1999, a 225 percent increase. The principal 
component of our strategy is our Premier Partnership Program, through which we offer and sell promotional packages that provide advertisers 
with access to the multiple points of contact we have with our members. We also sell advertising and content space on our various online 
properties, such as the Personal Start Page and the Mall, and through our news magazine, bLink.  

COST OF REVENUES  

Cost of revenues increased 115% during 1999 as compared 1998, primarily due to the increase in our member base. However, cost of revenues 
as a percentage of revenues decreased from 40% to 37%. This is attributable to: (a) more effective management of our network, (b) the addition 
of lower cost POP providers such as Sprint and Level 3, and (c) our increasing ability to negotiate more favorable commercial arrangements 
with our telecommunications service providers as we leverage our growing member base.  
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OPERATIONS AND MEMBER SUPPORT  

Operations and member support expenses consist primarily of costs associated with technical support and member service, as well as customer 
information systems. Operations and member support expenses increased from $80.2 million or 28% of revenue for the year ended December 
31, 1998 to $182.1 million or 27% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 1999. These increases reflect (1) the increase in members from 
1.6 million to 3.1 million, (2) the opening of additional call centers in 1999 and (3) management's focus on retaining existing members by 
providing superior service and devoting significant resources to expanding technical support capabilities.  

SALES AND MARKETING  

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising, direct response mailings, sales compensation, bounties, communications costs 
related to trial members, salaries and the cost of promotional material. Sales and marketing expenses increased 237% from $65.0 million to 
$219.3 million during 1999. The increase was primarily due to the costs of growing our member base from 1.6 million members to 3.1 million 
members and is in accordance with management's increased emphasis on organic growth through marketing strategies. This increased emphasis 
includes the implementation of an ambitious advertising program to create brand awareness, the development of new marketing channels, the 
expansion of sales and marketing efforts, increased sales commissions and increased marketing personnel headcount. Sales, marketing and 
other direct costs associated with the acquisition of members are expensed as incurred.  

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE  

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of costs associated with the accounting and human resources departments, professional 
expenses, rent, and bad debt and credit card processing. General and administrative expenses increased 96% from $34.6 million in 1998 to 
$67.9 million in 1999. The increase was primarily due to increases in payroll, depreciation, credit card processing fees and bad debt. The rise in 
payroll costs was primarily due to growth in headcount. The increase in depreciation expense was due to the acquisition of office equipment 
and the build-out of leasehold improvements. The increases in credit card processing fees and bad debt were due to the increase in our member 
base. As a percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expenses decreased from 12% in 1998 to 10% in 1999.  

INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE, NET  

Net interest income increased from $3.7 million in 1998 to $22.0 million 1999. The increase was primarily due to an increase in average cash 
balances available for investment as a result of our public follow on common stock offerings completed in 1998 and 1999. Interest expense 
increased due to borrowings of $80 million under the credit facility to finance the NETCOM acquisition and $179.9 million in 5% convertible 
subordinated notes. This increase in interest expense was partially offset by aging of lease obligations and a general reduction in interest rates 
paid on capital leases entered into during 1999.  

1998 COMPARED TO 1997  

REVENUES  

EarthLink's narrowband access revenues increased from $118.9 million in 1997 to $260.2 million in 1998, a 119 percent increase. The 
substantial growth in narrowband revenues was primarily due to an increase in the Company's member base from 698,000 at December 31, 
1997 to 1.6 million at December 31, 1998. In June 1998 we gained access to Sprint's marketing and distribution channels as part of our 
strategic relationship with Sprint. In addition to these channels, we aggressively expanded into the OEM arena by securing relationships with 
Apple, Packard Bell NEC and CompUSA. In October 1998 we obtained approximately 130,000 members in conjunction with our acquisition 
of Spry from AOL. Also  
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contributing to our growth was the addition of several key Affinity marketing partners, Sam's Club, Discover Card and AAA of Southern 
California. EarthLink's Web hosting revenues increased from $12.6 million in 1997 to $22.0 million in 1998, a 75 percent increase. As of 
December 31, 1998, the combined company hosted 36,000 Web sites compared to 14,000 in 1997, a 157 percent increase. Revenues from 
broadband access and content, commerce and advertising were minimal for 1997 and 1998.  

COST OF REVENUES  

Cost of revenues increased 102% from $57.2 million in 1997 to $115.5 million in 1998 due to the increase in our member base. However, cost 
of revenues as a percentage of revenues decreased from 43% to 40%. This is attributable to: (a) more effective management of our network, (b) 
the addition of Sprint to our family of POP providers, and (c) our increasing ability to negotiate more favorable commercial arrangements with 
our telecommunications service providers as we leverage our growing member base.  

OPERATION AND MEMBER SUPPORT  

Operations and member support expenses increased from $44.8 million or 34% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 1997 to $80.2 
million or 28% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 1998. This increase in total expenditures is attributable to the growth in our 
member base whereas the decrease as a percentage of revenue is primarily due to an increase in staffing in our technical support and member 
service call centers at a slower rate than the growth of the overall member base. We focus on retaining existing members by providing superior 
services and devoting significant resources to expanding technical support staff and network operations capabilities but achieve economies of 
scale as our member base grows.  

SALES AND MARKETING  

Sales and marketing expenses increased from $36.3 million in 1997 to $65.0 million in 1998. The increase was primarily due to an increase in 
direct marketing and advertising costs associated with Company growth initiatives. Sales and marketing expenses were approximately 27% of 
revenues for 1997 and 22% of revenues in 1998. The decrease as a percentage of revenues resulted from economies of scale with respect to 
costs such as payroll that do not increase in direct proportion to increases in revenue and from cost control efforts implemented by 
management. Sales, marketing and other direct costs associated with the acquisition of members are generally expensed as incurred.  

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE  

General and administrative expenses increased 49% from $23.2 million in 1997 to $34.6 million in 1998. The increase was primarily due to 
increases in payroll, depreciation, credit card processing fees and bad debt. The rise in payroll costs was primarily due to growth in headcount. 
The increase in depreciation expense was due to the acquisition of office equipment and the build-out of leasehold improvements. The 
increases in credit card processing fees and bad debt were due to the increase in our member base. As a percentage of total revenues, general 
and administrative expenses decreased from 17% in 1997 to 12% in 1998.  

INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE, NET  

The Company incurred net interest expense of $1.8 million in 1997 and earned net interest income of $3.7 million in 1998. The change was 
primarily due to an increase in average cash balances available for investment as a result of our public follow on common stock offerings 
completed in 1998. Interest expense decreased due the aging of lease obligations and a general reduction in interest rates paid on capital leases 
entered into during 1998.  
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  

Our operating activities used cash of $9.9 million during the year ended December 31, 1997, and provided $62.1 million and $44.2 million in 
cash during the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively. The Company's net losses of $34.0 million, $53.2 million and $173.7 
million were the primary components of cash used in operating activities in the three years ended December 31, 1999, respectively. The 
Company's net losses were offset by significant non-cash depreciation and amortization expenses relating to the Company's network and 
intangible assets of $18.1 million, $70.0 million and $190.5 million during the three years ended December 31, 1999, respectively. In 1998 and 
the Company's net losses were further offset by significant increases in deferred revenues and accounts payable and accrued expenses.  

Our investing activities, used cash of approximately $25.1 million, $56.9 million and $339.7 million in 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively. 
Capital equipment purchases were $22.6 million, $44.5 million and $109.8 million during the three years then ended. Net cash received in the 
Sprint transaction of $23.8 million was partially offset by Sprint transaction costs of $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 1998. We 
acquired the subscriber base of Spry, Inc. effective October 1998 with an initial cash payment of $25 million followed by a final payment of $7 
million in the first quarter of 1999. In 1999 we acquired the member base of NETCOM and approximately $13.2 million capital equipment for 
consideration of $245 million, consisting of $215 in cash and common stock valued at $30 million, (752,232 shares, at a price per share of 
$39.88). During 1999 we invested $4.0 million in a limited partnership and committed to make an additional investment amounting to $6.0 
million.  

Financing activities provided approximately $47.2 million, $277.6 million and $672.7 million in cash during 1997, 1998 and 1999, 
respectively. In January 1997, we sold 7.4 million shares of common stock in EarthLink Network's initial public offering and generated 
approximately $26.2 million in net proceeds. In September 1997 we raised $15.4 million in private sales of equity securities during 1997. We 
completed a follow on public offering in June 1998 of 6.1 million shares of common stock. Our net proceeds were approximately $106.3 
million. In January 1999, the Company completed a follow on public offering of 4.0 million shares of its common stock at $45.51 per share. In 
conjunction with the offering, Sprint exercised its preemptive rights to maintain its existing ownership level in the Company. Accordingly, 
Sprint purchased 1.2 million shares of which 311,000 shares were common stock and 993,000 shares were Series B convertible preferred stock 
(having the same rights and preferences as the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock already held by Sprint). Net proceeds from the sale of 
common stock were $183.1 million. Net proceeds from the sale of Series B convertible preferred stock to Sprint were approximately $42.6 
million. We completed an additional offering of 6 million shares of common stock at $8.84 per share. Net proceeds from the offering were 
approximately $49.8 million. In December 1998, the Company issued 4.6 million shares of common stock at $28.50 for net proceeds of 
approximately $124.8 million. In April 1999 the Company completed a follow on public offering of 5.5 million shares of its common stock. 
Net proceeds were approximately $263.5 million. We also sold $179,975,000 aggregate principal amount of our 5% Convertible Subordinated 
Notes due 2006, raising net proceeds of approximately $174.1 million. During 1997, 1998 and 1999, we financed the acquisition of data 
processing and office equipment amounting to approximately $10.5 million, $9.3 million and $10.4 million, respectively, through equipment 
leases and sale leaseback agreements. We record sale leaseback transactions at cost, which approximates the fair market value of the property, 
and, therefore, no gains or losses are recorded. We continue to depreciate the property and record a financing obligation representing the 
proceeds based upon payments under the lease agreement.  

On December 31, 1999, we had approximately $685.8 million in cash and cash equivalents. We believe our available cash is sufficient to meet 
our operating expenses and capital requirements for the next 12 months. We also have a $50 million credit facility from Sprint in the form of 
convertible senior debt, increasing to $100 million by June 5, 2001 at an interest rate of 6% per annum. In conjunction with the merger, each 
holder of our Convertible Subordinated Notes has the option to require us to repurchase that holder's notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% 
of the principal amount plus accrued interest to the  
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date of repurchase. The repurchase price will be paid in cash. If all holders exercise this option the payment will be $184.3 million. Our capital 
requirements depend on numerous factors, including the rate of market acceptance of our services, our ability to maintain and expand our 
member base, the rate of expansion of our network infrastructure, the size and types of acquisitions in which we may engage and the level of 
resources required to expand our marketing and sales programs. We cannot accurately predict the timing and amount of capital requirements. 
We may require additional financing sooner than anticipated if capital requirements vary materially from those currently planned. We have no 
commitments for any additional financing other than the line of credit from Sprint, and we cannot be sure that we can obtain additional 
commitments on favorable terms, if at all. Additional equity financing may dilute our stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may 
restrict our ability to declare and pay dividends and raise future capital. If we are unable to obtain additional needed financing, we may be 
required to reduce the scope of operations or anticipated expansion, which could materially and adversely affect us.  
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ITEM 7B. EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.--MANAGEMENT'S DISC USSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR.  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

The following table sets forth the percentage of total revenues represented by certain items in our statements of operations for the periods 
indicated:  

 

(1) Represents acquisition and amortization related expenses for 1998 and 1999 and a one time transaction cost of $1,397,000 related to the 
June 1998 Sprint transaction.  

(2) Reflects the accretion of Liquidation Dividends on Series A and B convertible preferred stock at 3% compounded quarterly and the 
accretion of a dividend related to the beneficial conversion feature in accordance with EITF D-60.  

(3) Represents net loss before depreciation and amortization, interest income and expense and income tax expense. EBITDA is not determined 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, is not indicative of cash used by operating activities and should not be considered 
in or as an alternative to, or more meaningful than measures of performance determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles.  
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                                        YEAR ENDED             YEAR ENDED              YEAR ENDED 
                                     DECEMBER 31, 1 997      DECEMBER 31, 1998       DECEMBER 31, 1999 
                                    --------------- ----   ---------------------   -------------------- -  
                                                 % OF                    % OF                    % OF 
                                    (000'S)    REVE NUE     (000'S)     REVENUE     (000'S)     REVENUE  
                                    --------   ---- ----   ----------   --------   ----------   ------- -  
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
Revenues: 
  Narrowband access...............  $ 74,228      9 2      $  161,009      92      $  310,868      91 
  Web hosting.....................     5,202       6           7,537       4          11,554       3 
  Broadband access................     1,143       1           3,285       2           6,756       2 
  Content, commerce and 
    advertising...................       315       1           4,110       2          13,110       4 
                                    --------     -- -      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
    Total revenues................    80,888     10 0         175,941     100         342,288     100 
 
Operating costs and expenses: 
  Cost of revenues................    38,065      4 7          77,223      44         132,679      39 
  Operations and member support...    30,607      3 8          53,765      31         104,842      31 
  Sales and marketing.............    25,971      3 2          42,837      24         125,992      37 
  General and administrative......    14,699      1 8          21,720      12          38,010      11 
  Acquisition-related costs(1)....        --      - -          42,635      24          65,072      19 
                                    --------     -- -      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
    Total operating costs and 
      expenses....................   109,342     13 5         238,180     135         466,595     137 
                                    --------     -- -      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
 
Loss from operations..............   (28,454)    (3 5)        (62,239)    (35)       (124,307)    (37) 
Net interest income, (expense)....    (1,462)     ( 2)          2,457       1          16,059       5 
                                    --------     -- -      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
    Net loss......................   (29,916)    (3 7)        (59,782)    (34)       (108,248)    (32) 
 
Deductions for accretion 
  dividends(2)....................        --      - -          (7,601)     (4)        (14,106)     (4) 
                                    --------     -- -      ----------     ---      ----------     --- 
Net loss attributable to common 
  stockholders....................  $(29,916)    (3 7)     $  (67,383)    (38)     $ (122,354)    (36) 
                                    ========     == =      ==========     ===      ==========     === 
OPERATING DATA: 
Number of customers at year end...   420,000               1,000,000               1,776,000 
Number of employees at year end...     1,287                   1,343                   2,624 
EBITDA(3).........................   (19,077)    (2 4)         (7,513)     (4)        (38,132)    (11) 



1999 COMPARED TO 1998  

NARROWBAND ACCESS REVENUES  

Narrowband access revenues consist of monthly fees charged to members for dial-up Internet access. EarthLink Network's narrowband access 
revenues increased from $161.0 million in 1998 to $310.9 million in 1999, a 93 percent increase. The substantial growth in narrowband access 
revenues was primarily due to the increase in the company's member base from 1.0 million at December 31, 1998 to 1.8 million at December 
31, 1999. The largest portion of our member growth came through traditional marketing channels, direct marketing and strategic relationship 
with Sprint.  

WEB HOSTING REVENUES  

Web hosting revenues are earned by leasing server space and providing web services to companies and individuals wishing to have a web or e-
commerce presence. Web hosting revenues increased from $7.5 million in 1998 to $11.6 million in 1999, a 55 percent increase. As of 
December 31, 1999, the company hosted 41,000 Web sites compared to 15,000 in 1998, a 173 percent increase.  

BROADBAND ACCESS REVENUES  

Broadband access revenues represent fees charged for high-speed, high-capacity access services including cable, ISDN and DSL services. 
EarthLink Network's broadband access revenues increased from $3.3 million in 1998 to $6.8 million in 1999, a 106 percent increase. As of 
December 31, 1999, the company had 21,000 broadband members compared to 5,400 in December 1998.  

CONTENT, COMMERCE AND ADVERTISING REVENUES  

Content, commerce and advertising revenues are generated by leveraging the value of the company's member base and user traffic. Content, 
commerce and advertising revenues increased from $4.1 million in 1998 to $13.1 million in 1999, a 220% increase. The principal component 
of our strategy is our Premier Partnership Program, through which we offer and sell promotional packages that provide advertisers with access 
to the multiple points of contact we have with our members. We also sell advertising and content space on our various online properties, such 
as the Personal Start Page and the Mall, and through our bi- monthly magazine, bLink.  

COST OF REVENUES  

Cost of revenues increased 72% from $77.2 million in 1998 to $132.7 million in 1999 due to the increase in our member base. However, cost 
of revenues as a percentage of revenues decreased from 44% to 39%. This is attributable to: (a) more effective management of our network, (b) 
the addition of lower cost POP providers such as Sprint and Level 3, and (c) our increasing ability to negotiate more favorable commercial 
arrangements with our telecommunications service providers as we leverage our growing member base.  

OPERATIONS AND MEMBER SUPPORT  

Operations and member support expenses consist primarily of costs associated with technical support and member service, as well as customer 
information systems. Operations and member support expenses increased from $53.8 million or 31% or revenue for the year ended December 
31, 1998 to $104.8 million or 31% or revenue for the year ended December 31, 1999. These increases reflect (1) the increase in members from 
1.0 million to 1.8 million, (2) the opening of additional call centers in 1999 and (3) management's focus on retaining existing members by 
providing superior service and devoting significant resources to expanding technical support capabilities.  
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SALES AND MARKETING  

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising, direct response mailings, sales compensation, bounties, communications costs 
related to trial members, salaries and the cost of promotional material. Sales and marketing expenses increased 194% from $42.8 million in 
1998 to $126.0 million in 1999. The increase was primarily due to management's increased emphasis on organic growth through marketing 
strategies including the implementation of an ambitious advertising program to create brand awareness, the development of new marketing 
channels, the expansion of sales and marketing efforts, the increase of sales commissions and the increase of marketing personnel headcount. 
Sales, marketing and other direct costs associated with the acquisition of members are expensed as incurred.  

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE  

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of costs associated with the accounting and human resources departments, professional 
expenses, rent, and bad debt. General and administrative expenses increased 75% from $21.7 million in 1998 to $38.0 million in 1999. The 
increase was primarily due to increases payroll, depreciation, credit card processing fees and bad debt. The rise in payroll costs was primarily 
due to growth in headcount. The increases in credit card processing fees and bad debt were due to the increase in our member base. As a 
percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expenses decreased from 12% in 1998 to 11% in 1999.  

INTEREST INCOME (EXPENSE), NET  

Interest income increased from $4.4 million in 1998 to $17.3 million 1999. The increase was primarily due to an increase in average cash 
balances available for investment as a result of our public follow on common stock offerings completed in June 1998 and January 1999. 
Interest expense decreased from $2.0 million during 1998 to $1.3 million due to the aging of lease obligations and a general reduction in 
effective interest rates paid on capital leases entered into during 1999.  

1998 COMPARED TO 1997  

REVENUES  

EarthLink Network's narrowband access revenues increased from $74.2 million in 1997 to $161.0 million in 1998, a 117 percent increase. The 
substantial growth in narrowband revenues was primarily due to an increase in the base of narrowband members from 422,000 at December 31, 
1997 to 1.0 million at December 31, 1998. In June 1998 we gained access to Sprint's marketing and distribution channels as part of our 
strategic relationship with Sprint. EarthLink Network's Web hosting revenues increased from $5.2 million in 1997 to $7.5 million in 1998, a 44 
percent increase.  

COST OF REVENUES  

Cost of revenues increased 103% from $38.1 million in 1997 to $77.2 million in 1998 due to the increase in our member base. However, cost 
of revenues as a percentage of revenues decreased from 47% to 44%. This is attributable to: (a) more effective management of our network, (b) 
the addition of Sprint to our family of POP providers, and (c) our increasing ability to negotiate more favorable commercial arrangements with 
our telecommunications service providers as we leverage our growing member base.  

OPERATIONS AND MEMBER SUPPORT  

Operations and member support expenses increased from $30.6 million or 38% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 1997 to $53.8 
million or 31% or revenue for the year ended December 31, 1998. This increase in total expenditures is attributable to the growth in our 
member base whereas the decrease as a percentage of revenue is primarily due to an increase in staffing in our technical support and member  
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service call centers at a slower rate than the growth of the overall member base. We focus on retaining existing members by providing superior 
services and devoting significant resources to expanding technical support staff and network operations capabilities but achieve economies of 
scale as our member base grows.  

SALES AND MARKETING  

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of third-party, advertising, sales commissions, salaries, referral credits, communication costs 
associated with trial accounts and the cost of promotional material. Sales and marketing expenses increased from $26.0 million in 1997 to 
$42.8 million in 1998. The increase was primarily due to an increase in third-party bounty payments of $4 million, increased sales commissions 
of $1 million, increased marketing personnel headcount leading to an increase in employee costs of $3.4 million and increased emphasis on 
marketing including expanded sales and marketing efforts on a nation wide basis leading to an increase in advertising expense of $3.2 million. 
Sales and marketing expenses were approximately 33% of revenues for 1997 and 25% of revenues in 1998. The decrease as a percentage of 
revenues resulted from economies of scale with respect to costs such as payroll that do not increase in direct proportion to increases in revenue 
and from cost control efforts implemented by management. Sales, marketing and other direct costs associated with the acquisition of members 
are expensed as incurred.  

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE  

General and administrative expenses increased 48% from $14.7 million in 1997 to $21.7 million in 1998. The increase was primarily due to 
increases payroll, depreciation, credit card processing fees and bad debt. The rise in payroll costs was primarily due to growth in headcount. 
The increase in depreciation expense was due to the acquisition of office equipment and the build-out of leasehold improvements. The 
increases in credit card processing fees and bad debt were due to the increase in our member base. As a percentage of total revenues, general 
and administrative expenses decreased from 18% in 1997 to 12% in 1998.  

INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE, NET  

Interest income increased from $637,000 in 1997 to $4.4 million 1998. The increase was primarily due to an increase in average cash balances 
available for investment as a result of our public follow on common stock offering completed in June 1998. Interest expense decreased from 
$2.1 million in 1997 to $2.0 million during 1998 due to repayment of approximately $4 million in notes payable, the conversion of $5 million 
in debt to equity and a reduction in the effective interest rates paid to lessors.  

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  

Our operating activities used $21.3 million, provided $26.6 million and used $21.4 million in cash during the years ended December 31, 1997, 
1998 and 1999, respectively. Net losses of $29.9 million, $59.8 million and $108.2 million were the primary components of cash used in 
operating activities in the three years ended December 31, 1999, respectively. Net losses were offset by significant non-cash depreciation and 
amortization expenses relating to the EarthLink Network's network and intangible assets of $9.3 million, $54.7 million and $86.2 million 
during the three years ended December 31, 1999, respectively. In 1998 EarthLink Network's net loss was further offset by significant increases 
in accounts payable and accrued expenses.  

Our investing activities, used cash of approximately $16.1 million, $9.2 million and $49.9 in 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively. Capital 
equipment purchases were $14.5 million, $24.3 million and $47.3 million during the three years then ended. Net cash received in the Sprint 
transaction of $23.8 million was partially offset by Sprint transaction costs of $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 1998. During 1999 
we  
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invested $4.0 million in a limited partnership. We are committed to invest an additional $6.0 million in limited partnerships.  

Financing activities provided approximately $49.8 million, $107.1 million and $239.0 million in cash during 1997, 1998 and 1999, 
respectively. In January 1997, we sold 4.6 million shares of common stock in our initial public offering and generated approximately $26.2 
million in net proceeds. In September 1997 we raised $15.4 million in private sales of equity securities during 1997. We completed a follow on 
public offering in June 1998 of 3.8 million shares of common stock. Our net proceeds were approximately $106.3 million. In January 1999, the 
company completed a follow on public offering of 2.4 million shares of its common stock at $73.63 per share. In conjunction with the offering, 
Sprint exercised its preemptive rights to maintain its existing ownership level in the company. Accordingly, Sprint purchased 808,000 shares of 
which 201,000 shares were common stock and 607,000 shares were Series B convertible preferred stock (having the same rights and 
preferences as the Series A convertible preferred stock already held by Sprint). Net proceeds from the sale of Common Stock were $183.1 
million. Net proceeds from the sale of Series B convertible preferred stock to Sprint were approximately $42.6 million. During 1997, 1998 and 
1999, we financed the acquisition of data processing and office equipment amounting to approximately $10.5 million, $9.3 million and $13.4 
million, respectively, through equipment leases and sale leaseback agreements. We record sale leaseback transactions at cost, which 
approximates the fair market value of the property, and, therefore, no gains or losses are recorded. We continue to depreciate the property and 
record a financing obligation representing the proceeds based upon payments under the lease agreement.  

On December 31, 1999, we had approximately $308.6 million in cash and cash equivalents. See Management's Discussion and Analysis for 
EarthLink, Inc. for further discussion of cash requirements.  
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ITEM 7C. MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.--MANAGEMENT'S  DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

The following table shows financial data for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997. Operating results for any period are not 
necessarily indicative of results for any future period. Dollar amounts are shown in thousands (except per share data)  

 

REVENUES. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 1999 totaled approximately $328.1 million as compared to approximately $114.7 
million for the year ended December 31, 1998. The increase in revenues of 186% resulted primarily from a 95% increase in total members. The 
increase in members is due to the acquisition of the NETCOM members in February 1999, the acquisition of Spry members in October 1998 
and organic growth. Revenues from narrowband access to the Internet, which includes start-up fees, represented approximately 83% of total 
revenue for the year ended December 31, 1999 vs. 86% for the year ended December 31, 1998. Web hosting revenue grew to $35.9 million, or 
11% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 1999 from $14.5 million, or 13% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 
1998. The decrease in both narrowband access and Web Hosting revenue as a percentage of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 
1999 as compared to the year ended December 31, 1998 can be attributed to the greater contribution and relative growth in our Broadband 
revenues. Broadband  
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                                                          YEAR ENDED            YEAR ENDED             YEAR ENDED 
                                                       DECEMBER 31, 1997     DECEMBER 31, 1998      DE CEMBER 31, 1999 
                                                      -------------------   -------------------   ---- -----------------  
                                                                   % OF                  % OF                    % OF 
                                                      (000'S)    REVENUE    (000'S)    REVENUE     (00 0'S)     REVENUE 
                                                      --------   --------   --------   --------   ---- ------   --------  
Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenues: 
  Narrowband access................................ .  $44,802       85%     $ 99,220      86%     $  2 72,015      83% 
  Web hosting...................................... .    7,355       14%       14,470      13%         35,881      11% 
  Broadband access................................. .       77        0%           36       0%         16,784       5% 
  Content, commerce, and advertising............... .      322        1%          947       1%          3,465       1% 
                                                      -------      ---      --------     ---      ---- ------     --- 
    Total revenues................................. .   52,556      100%      114,673     100%        3 28,145     100% 
 
Operating costs and expenses: 
  Cost of revenues................................. .   19,118       36%       38,306      33%        1 15,808      35% 
  Operations and Member Support.................... .   14,194       27%       26,477      23%         77,292      24% 
  Sales and marketing.............................. .   10,310       20%       22,200      20%         93,357      29% 
  General and administrative....................... .    8,469       16%       12,855      11%         29,866       9% 
  Acquisition-related costs........................ .    4,208        8%        7,049       6%         83,195      25% 
                                                      -------      ---      --------     ---      ---- ------     --- 
    Total operating costs and expenses............. .   56,299      107%      106,887      93%        3 99,518     122% 
 
Operating Loss (Income)............................ .   (3,743)      (7)%       7,786       7%        ( 71,373)    (22)% 
Interest (Expense) Income, net..................... .     (338)      (1)%       1,214       1%          5,927       2% 
                                                      -------      ---      --------     ---      ---- ------     --- 
(Loss) Income before taxes......................... .   (4,081)      (8)%       9,000       8%        ( 65,446)    (20)% 
Income tax benefit................................. .       --        0%        1,544       1%         25,315       8% 
                                                      -------      ---      --------     ---      ---- ------     --- 
Net (Loss) Income.................................. .  $(4,081)      (8)%    $ 10,544       9%     $  ( 40,131)    (12)% 
                                                      =======               ========              ==== ====== 
Net (Loss) Income per share 
  Basic............................................ .  $ (0.09)              $   0.21              $    (0.65) 
                                                      -------               --------              ---- ------ 
  Diluted.......................................... .  $ (0.09)              $   0.21              $    (0.65) 
                                                      -------               --------              ---- ------ 
Weighted Average Common 
  Shares Outstanding 
  Basic............................................ .   45,084                 49,222                  61,742 
  Diluted.......................................... .   45,084                 50,862                  61,742 
Other Operating Data: 
  Approximate number of members at end of period... .  278,000                640,000               1,3 46,000 
  Number of employees at end of period............. .      502                    977                   2,204 



revenue grew to $16.8 million, or 5% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 1999 from $36,000 million, or 0% of total revenue, 
for the year ended December 31, 1998. This increase is attributed to the acquisition of 3,000 dedicated Internet access members from 
NETCOM in February 1999 as well as the rollout of xDSL and cable services during the year.  

COSTS OF REVENUES. For the year ended December 31, 1999, cost of revenues increased to approximately 35% of total revenue, compared 
to approximately 33% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 1998. Cost of revenues increased as a percentage of total revenues as a 
result of a greater percentage of our members being served through the use of third party networks rather than MindSpring POPs due to the 
Spry and NETCOM acquisitions. Cost of revenues for members being serviced by MindSpring POP's includes depreciation for these POPs and 
other related equipment.  

OPERATIONS AND MEMBER SUPPORT. Operations and member support expenses consist primarily of costs associated with technical 
support and member service, as well as customer information systems. Operations and member support expenses increased from $26.5 million 
or 23% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 1998 to $77.3 million or 24% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 1999. This 
increase is primarily due to increased staffing in our technical support and member service call centers necessary to support MindSpring's 
accelerated growth program initiated in September 1999 as well the addition of several new call centers in 1999.  

SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising, direct response mailings, sales 
compensation, bounties, communications costs related to trial members, salaries and cost of promotional materials. Sales and marketing 
expenses increased to $93.4 million, or approximately 29% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 1999, compared to $22.2 million, 
or approximately 20% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 1998. This increase is primarily due to higher advertising expenditures 
related to MindSpring's accelerated growth program initiated in September 1999.  

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of costs associated with the 
accounting and human resources departments, professional expenses, bad debt, credit card processing and executive compensation. General and 
administrative expenses increased to $29.9 million, or approximately 9% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 1999, compared to 
$12.9 million, or approximately 11% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 1998. This decrease as a percentage of total revenue is 
due to efficiencies gained primarily through economies of scale.  

ACQUISITION-RELATED AMORTIZATION. Acquisition-related amortization expense increased significantly to 25% of total revenues for 
the year ended December 31, 1999 from 6% of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 1998 due to the acquisitions of the Spry and 
NETCOM member bases, which are being amortized over three years.  

INTEREST (EXPENSE) INCOME, NET. Interest (expense) income, net was approximately $5.9 million, or 2% of total revenues, for the year 
ended December 31, 1999 compared to approximately $1.2 million, or 1% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 1998. This 
increase in interest (expense) income, net for the year ended December 31, 1999 compared to the year ended December 31, 1998 was primarily 
due to interest income increasing as a result of the increase in cash available for investment purposes, resulting from equity and debt offerings 
in December 1998 and April 1999, offset by interest expense increasing which resulted from our convertible debt offering completed in April 
1999. The offerings raised net proceeds of approximately $562 million from which we repaid $80 million outstanding under a secured credit 
facility. Interest expense includes interest on our 5% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006 and fees related to our unused credit facility as 
well as amortization of deferred financing costs incurred in conjunction with both.  
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INCOME TAX BENEFIT (PROVISION). For the year ended December 31, 1999, MindSpring recorded an income tax benefit of $25.3 
million, or 8% of total revenues, for an effective tax rate of 39%, compared to an income tax benefit of $1.5 million, or 1% of total revenues, 
for the year ended December 31, 1998. For the year ended December 31, 1998 MindSpring recorded a benefit for income taxes due to a one 
time benefit taken in the fourth quarter of the year as a result of the removal of the valuation allowance associated with MindSpring's deferred 
tax assets.  

NET (LOSS) INCOME AND (LOSS) INCOME PER SHARE. As discussed above, and primarily as a result of the increase in sales and 
marketing expenditures and in acquired member base amortization, MindSpring had a net loss for the year ended December 31, 1999 of ($40.1 
million) or $(0.65) per basic and diluted share. MindSpring's net income for the year ended December 31, 1998 was $10.5 million or $0.21 per 
basic and diluted share.  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998  

REVENUES. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 1998 totaled approximately $114.7 million, as compared to approximately $52.6 
million for the year ended December 31, 1997. This approximately 118% increase in period revenues resulted primarily from an approximately 
130% increase in subscribers. The greater proportional increase in subscribers compared to the percentage increase in period revenues was 
principally due to the acquisition of Spry subscribers from AOL during the fourth quarter of 1998. Revenues from access to the Internet, which 
includes start-up fees, represented approximately 86% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 1998, compared to 85% of total 
revenue for the year ended December 31, 1997. Web hosting revenue grew to $14.5 million, or 13% of total revenue, for the year ended 
December 31, 1998 from $7.4 million, or 14% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 1997. Broadband and content, commerce and 
advertising revenues were immaterial for both 1997 and 1998.  

COSTS OF REVENUES. For the year ended December 31, 1998, cost of revenues decreased to approximately 33% of total revenue, compared 
to approximately 36% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 1997. Not taking into account approximately $2.0 million in discounts 
we received in 1998 under our network services agreement with PSINet, Inc., cost of revenues would have been approximately 35% of total 
revenue. Not taking into account approximately $2.1 million in discounts we received in 1997 under the network services agreement with 
PSINet, Inc., cost of revenues would have been approximately 40% of total revenue. The discounts earned under the network services 
agreement with PSINet ended in October 1998. This decrease of cost of revenues as a percentage of total revenue resulted primarily from 
increased efficiency and reduced network costs associated with MindSpring-owned POPs.  

OPERATIONS AND MEMBER SUPPORT. Operations and member support expenses increased from $14.2 million or 27% of revenue for the 
year ended December 31, 1997 to $26.5 million or 23% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 1998. This increase in total expenditures is 
attributable to the growth in our member base whereas the decrease as a percentage of revenue is primarily due to an increase in staffing in our 
technical support and member service call centers at a slower rate than the growth of the overall member base. We focus on retaining existing 
members by providing superior services and devoting significant resources to expanding technical support staff and network operations 
capabilities but achieve economies of scale as our member base grows.  

SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising, direct response mailings, sales 
compensation, bounties, communications costs related to trial members, salaries and cost of promotional materials. Sales and marketing 
expenses increased to $22.2 million, or approximately 20% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 1998, compared to $10.3 million, 
or approximately 20% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 1997.  
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GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of costs associated with the 
accounting and human resources departments, professional expenses, bad debt, credit card processing and executive compensation. General and 
administrative expenses increased to $12.9 million, or approximately 11% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 1998, compared to 
$8.5 million, or approximately 16% of total revenue, for the year ended December 31, 1998. This decrease as a percentage of total revenue is 
due to efficiencies gained primarily through economies of scale.  

ACQUISITION-RELATED AMORTIZATION. Acquisition-related amortization expense increased to $7.0 million, or 6% of total revenues, 
for the year ended December 31, 1998 from $4.2 million, or 8% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 1998. Amortization 
expense resulted solely from acquired subscriber bases, which are being amortized over three years.  

INTEREST (EXPENSE) INCOME. The following table details the increase in interest income in 1997 compared to 1998:  

 

Interest on capital leases increased for the year ended December 31, 1998, compared to the year ended December 31, 1997, because 
MindSpring entered into several new capital leases for equipment at the end of 1997. Interest income increased in 1998 due to the increase in 
outstanding cash balances available for investment as a result of positive operating cash flows and two public equity offerings completed 
during the year. See "--Liquidity and Capital Resources".  

INCOME TAX PROVISION. For the year ended December 31, 1998 MindSpring recorded a benefit for income taxes due to a one time benefit 
taken in the fourth quarter of the year as a result of the removal of the valuation allowance associated with MindSpring's deferred tax assets. 
MindSpring is continually assessing its income tax situation and management believed that it was "more likely than not" that the deferred tax 
assets would be realized in the future. MindSpring expected to report taxable earnings, even though we expected to be incurring net losses at 
the same time. This was principally due to the requirement that, for tax purposes, subscriber acquisition costs must be amortized over 15 years, 
compared to the three-year period applied for accounting purposes. For the year ended December 31, 1997, no income tax benefit was 
recognized as MindSpring had a net taxable loss for the year.  

NET INCOME (LOSS) AND INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE. As a result of the factors discussed above, MindSpring's net income for the year 
ended December 31, 1998 was $10.5 million, or $0.21 income per basic and diluted share, compared to a net loss of $4.1 million, or $0.09 
basic and diluted loss per share, for the year ended December 31, 1997.  
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                                                                1997         1998 
                                                              ---------   ---------- 
Interest on capital leases......................... .........  $(473,000)  $ (754,000)  
Interest on PSINet notes........................... .........   (276,000)    (136,000)  
Interest income--other............................. .........    411,000    2,104,000 
                                                              ---------   ---------- 
Interest (expense) income net...................... .........  $(338,000)  $1,214,000 
                                                              =========   ========== 



LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  

For the year ended December 31, 1999, MindSpring generated net cash from operations of approximately $65.6 million, compared to $35.5 
million for the year ended December 31, 1998, an increase of approximately 85%. During 1999, we spent approximately $227.5 million to fund 
purchases of subscriber bases. $215 million of this amount was paid to ICG Communications in connection with the closing of the NETCOM 
acquisition, approximately $80 million of which we borrowed under our $100 million secured revolving credit facility, which we repaid as 
discussed below, and the remainder from our available cash. Additionally, in March 1999 we paid the remaining $7 million to complete the 
payments related to the Spry acquisition. During the twelve months of 1999, we spent a total of approximately $62.5 million primarily related 
to purchases of telecommunications equipment necessary for the provision of service to subscribers. We did not enter into any new capital lease 
agreements in 1999.  

In March 1999, we filed a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the public offering from 
time to time of up to $800 million of debt and equity securities. In April 1999, we completed two public offerings of securities under this shelf 
registration statement. We sold 5,520,000 shares of our common stock raising net proceeds of approximately $263.5 million, from which we 
repaid approximately $80 million of principal and interest outstanding under our secured credit facility. We also sold $179,975,000 aggregate 
principal amount of our 5% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006, raising net proceeds of approximately $174.1 million. Net of expenses 
and repayment of debt, MindSpring raised an aggregate of approximately $357.6 million in these offerings.  

On December 31, 1999, we had approximately $377.2 million in cash and cash equivalents. See Management's Discussion and Analysis for 
EarthLink Inc. for further discussion of cash requirements.  

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA .  

The information required by this item appears in a subsequent section of this Report. (See Item 14(a)(1) and (2)).  

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

None.  
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PART III  

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT  

Information relating to management's nominees for directors of the Company will be set forth under the captions "Proposal 1--Election of 
Directors--Nominees" and "Proposal 1--Election of Directors--Information Regarding Nominees for Director" in the Company's Proxy 
Statement for its 2000 Annual Meeting of Shareholders or in a subsequent amendment to this Report. Such information is incorporated herein 
by reference. Information relating to the executive officers of the Company will be set forth under the caption "Executive Officers" in the 
above-referenced Proxy Statement or amendment. Such information is incorporated herein by reference. Information regarding compliance by 
directors and executive officers of the Company and owners of more than ten percent of the Company's Common Stock with the reporting 
requirements of Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, will be set forth under the caption "Compliance with 
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934" in the above-referenced Proxy Statement or amendment.  

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

Information relating to management compensation will be set forth under the captions "Proposal 1--Election of Directors--Director 
Compensation" and "Executive Compensation" in the Company's Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above or in a subsequent amendment 
to this Report. Such information is incorporated herein by reference, except for the information set forth under the captions "Executive 
Compensation--Audit and Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation" and "Stock Performance Graph," which specifically 
is not so incorporated by reference.  

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT  

Information regarding ownership of the Company's securities by certain persons is set forth under the captions "Beneficial Ownership of 
Common Stock" in the Company's Proxy statement referred to in Item 10 above or in a subsequent amendment to this Report. Such 
information is incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS  

Information regarding certain relationships and transactions between the Company and certain of its affiliates is set forth under the caption 
"Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation" in the Company's Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above or in a 
subsequent amendment to this Report. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, A ND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.  

(A) DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THIS REPORT.  

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF EARTHLINK, INC.  

Report of Independent Accountants  

Consolidated Combined Balance Sheet as of December 31, 1998 and 1999  

Consolidated Combined Statement of Operations for the three years ended December 31, 1999  

Consolidated Combined Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the three years ended  
December 31, 1999  

Consolidated Combined Statement of Cash Flows for the three years ended December 31, 1999  

Notes to Consolidated Combined Financial Statements  

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

Report of Independent Accountants  

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 1998 and 1999  

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three years ended December 31, 1999  

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the three years ended December 31, 1999  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the three years ended December 31, 1999  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

3. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

Report of Independent Accountants  

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 1998 and 1999  

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three years ended December 31, 1999  

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the three years ended December 31, 1999  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the three years ended December 31, 1999  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

(B) FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE  

The Financial Statement Schedule(s) described in Regulation S-X are omitted from this Report because they are either not required or are 
immaterial.  

(C) EXHIBITS  

EXHIBIT                                                    DESCRIPTION 
---------------------              ---------------- --------------------------------------------  
 2.1                       --      Agreement and Pl an of Reorganization, dated September 22, 
                                   1999, by and amo ng EarthLink Network, Inc., MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . and Earthlink, Inc., as amended (included 
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                                   as Annex A to th e Proxy Statement/Prospectus contained in 
                                   Part I of this R egistration Statement). 



 
31  

EXHIBIT                                                    DESCRIPTION 
---------------------              ---------------- --------------------------------------------  
 2.2                       --      Stock Option Agr eement, dated September 22, 1999, between 
                                   MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. and EarthLink Network, Inc. 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 2.2 of EarthLink 
                                   Network Inc.'s F orm 8-K, dated September 22, 1999, File No. 
                                   0-20799). 
 
 2.3                       --      Stock Option Agr eement, dated September 22, 1999, between 
                                   EarthLink Networ k, Inc. and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 2.3 of EarthLink 
                                   Network Inc.'s F orm 8-K, dated September 22, 1999, File No. 
                                   0-20799). 
 
 2.4                       --      Form of EarthLin k Stockholder Agreement, dated September 22,  
                                   1999, between ce rtain stockholders and EarthLink Network, 
                                   Inc. (incorporat ed by reference to Exhibit 2.4 of EarthLink 
                                   Network, Inc.'s Form 8-K, dated September 22, 1999, File No.  
                                   0-20799). 
 
 2.5                       --      Form of MindSpri ng Stockholder Agreement, dated September 
                                   22, 1999, betwee n certain stockholders and MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.5 
                                   of EarthLink Net work, Inc.'s Form 8-K, dated September 22, 
                                   1999, File No. 0 -20799). 
 
 2.6*                      --      Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 4, 2000, 
                                   between EarthLin k Network, Inc. and Apple Computer, Inc. 
                                   Limited. 
 
 2.7*                      --      Investor Rights Agreement dated January 4, 2000, between 
                                   EarthLink Networ k, Inc. and Apple Computer, Inc. Limited. 
 
 3.1*                      --      Certificate of I ncorporation of EarthLink, Inc. 
 
 3.2*                      --      Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of  
                                   EarthLink, Inc. 
 
 3.3*                      --      By-laws of Earth Link, Inc. 
 
 3.4*                      --      Form of Certific ate of Designation, Preferences and Rights 
                                   of Series A Conv ertible Preferred Stock. 
 
 3.5*                      --      Form of Certific ate of Designation, Preferences and Rights 
                                   of Series B Conv ertible Preferred Stock and amendment 
                                   thereto. 
 
 3.6*                      --      Form of Certific ate of Designation, Preferences and Rights 
                                   of Series C Conv ertible Preferred Stock. 
 
10.1                       --      1995 Stock Optio n Plan and form of Stock Option Agreement 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink 
                                   Network's Regist ration Statement on Form S-1--File No. 
                                   333-15781). 
 
10.2                       --      Amended and Rest ated Stock Option Plan for Directors 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10.2 to EarthLink 
                                   Network's Regist ration Statement on Form S-1--File No. 
                                   333-15781). 
 
10.3                       --      (a) Netscape Com munications Corporation Internet Service 
                                   Provider Navigat or Distribution Agreement, dated May 31, 
                                       1996, betwee n EarthLink Network, Inc. and Netscape 
                                       Communicatio ns Corporation (incorporated by reference to  
                                       Exhibit 10.6  to EarthLink Network's Registration 
                                       Statement on  Form S-1--File No. 333-15781). 
 
                                   (b) Amendment No . 1 to Netscape Communications Corporation 
                                   Internet Service  Provider Agreement (incorporated by 
                                       reference to  Exhibit 10.6(a) to EarthLink Network's 
                                       Registration  Statement on Form S-1--File No. 333-15781).  
 
                                   (c) Amendment No . 2 to Netscape Communications Corporation 
                                   Internet Service  Provider Agreement (incorporated by 
                                       reference to  Exhibit 10.6(b) to EarthLink Network's 
                                       Registration  Statement on Form S-1--File No. 333-15781).  
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EXHIBIT                                                    DESCRIPTION 
---------------------              ---------------- --------------------------------------------  
10.4                       --      (a) Network Serv ices Agreement, dated May 31, 1996, between 
                                   EarthLink Networ k, Inc. and UUNET Technologies, Inc. 
                                       (incorporate d by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to EarthLink 
                                       Network's Re gistration Statement on Form S-1--File No. 
                                       333-15781). 
 
                                   (b) Addendum No.  1 to Network Services Agreement 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10.7 (a) to EarthLink 
                                       Network's Re gistration Statement on Form S-1--File No. 
                                       333-15781). 
 
10.5                       --      Software Distrib ution Agreement (MacTCP), dated October 2, 
                                   1995, between Ea rthLink Network, Inc. and Apple Computer, 
                                   Inc. (incorporat ed by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to EarthLink  
                                   Network's Regist ration Statement on Form S-1--File No. 
                                   333-15781). 
 
10.6                       --      Amended and Rest ated Employment Agreement (incorporated by 
                                   reference to Exh ibit 10.8(d) to EarthLink Network's 
                                   Registration Sta tement on Form S-1--File No. 333-53063). 
 
10.7                       --      Standard Industr ial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease, dated 
                                   December 1, 1995 , between EarthLink Network, Inc. and Becton  
                                   Dickinson and Co mpany (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
                                   10.12 to EarthLi nk Network's Registration Statement on Form 
                                   S-1--File No. 33 3-15781). 
 
10.8                       --      Internet Wizard Sign-Up Agreement, between EarthLink 
                                   Network, Inc. an d Microsoft Corporation, dated August 16, 
                                   1996 (incorporat ed by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to 
                                   EarthLink Networ k's Registration Statement on Form S-1--File  
                                   No. 333-15781). 
 
10.9                       --      Network Access A greement, between EarthLink Network, Inc. 
                                   and PSINet, Inc. , dated July 22, 1996 and Amendment No. 1 to  
                                   Network Access A greement (incorporated by reference to 
                                   Exhibit 10.20 to  EarthLink Network's Registration Statement 
                                   on Form S-1--Fil e No. 333-15781). 
 
10.10                      --      (a) Office Lease  by and between The Mutual Life Insurance 
                                   Company of New Y ork, and EarthLink Network, Inc., dated 
                                       September 20 , 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  
                                       10.21 to Ear thLink Network's Registration Statement on 
                                       Form S-1--Fi le No. 333-15781). 
 
                                   (b) Third Amendm ent to the lease agreement between WHMNY 
                                   Real Estate Limi ted Partnership and EarthLink Network, Inc. 
                                       (incorporate d by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink 
                                       Network's Fo rm 10-Q filed on November 16, 1998--File No.  
                                       0-20799). 
 
10.11                      --      Amended and Rest ated Convertible Securities Vesting Plan 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10.18 to EarthLink 
                                   Network's Report  on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
                                   December 31, 199 7--File No. 0-20799). 
 
10.12                      --      (a) Key Employee  Compensation Continuation Plan 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10.19 to EarthLink 
                                       Network's Re port on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
                                       December 31,  1997--File No. 0-20799). 
 
                                   (b) Amendment to  Key Employee Compensation Continuation Plan  
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10.19(a) to EarthLink 
                                       Network's Re port on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
                                       December 31,  1997--File No. 0-20799). 
 
10.13                      --      Governance Agree ment, dated as of February 10, 1998, 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink 
                                   Network's Form 8 -K filed on February 10, 1998--File No. 
                                   0-20799). 
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EXHIBIT                                                    DESCRIPTION 
---------------------              ---------------- --------------------------------------------  
10.14                      --      Credit Agreement , dated as of February 10, 1998, with Sprint  
                                   Corporation as t he Lender (incorporated by reference to 
                                   Exhibit 10.3 to EarthLink Network's Form 8-K filed on 
                                   February 10, 199 8--File No. 0-20799). 
 
10.15                      --      Registration Rig hts Agreement, dated as of February 10, 
                                   1998, with Sprin t Corporation, and Sprint Communications 
                                   Company L.P. (in corporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to 
                                   EarthLink Networ k's Form 8-K filed on February 10, 
                                   1998--File No. 0 -20799). 
 
10.16                      --      Stockholders Agr eement, dated as of February 10, 1998, among  
                                   EarthLink Networ k, Inc., Sprint Corporation, Sprint 
                                   Communications C ompany L.P., and the persons identified on 
                                   Schedule 1 there to (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
                                   99.2 to EarthLin k Network's Form 8-K filed on February 10, 
                                   1998--File No. 0 -20799). 
 
10.17                      --      Agreement to Vot e Stock, dated as of February 10, 1998, 
                                   among the Granti ng Stockholders named on Schedule A thereto,  
                                   Sprint Corporati on and Sprint Communications Company L.P. 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 99.3 to EarthLink 
                                   Network's Form 8 -K filed on February 10, 1998--File No. 
                                   0-20799). 
 
10.18                      --      Agreement to Vot e and Tender Stock, dated as of February 10,  
                                   1998, among the Granting Stockholders named on Schedule A 
                                   thereto, Sprint Corporation, and Sprint Communications 
                                   Company L.P. (in corporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to 
                                   EarthLink Networ k's Form 8-K filed on February 10, 
                                   1998--File No. 0 -20799). 
 
10.19                      --      Marketing and Di stribution Agreement, dated as of February 
                                   10, 1998, Sprint  Corporation, and Sprint Communications 
                                   Company L.P. (in corporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of 
                                   EarthLink Networ k's Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed  
                                   May 13, 1998, Fi le No. 333-52507). 
 
10.20                      --      Lease Agreement,  between EarthLink Network Inc. and Prentiss  
                                   Properties Natom as, L.P. (incorporated by reference to 
                                   Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink Network's Form 10-Q filed on 
                                   September 30, 19 99--File No. 0-20799). 
 
10.22                      --      Lease Agreement,  between Park West E-3 Associates and NETCOM  
                                   On-Line Communic ation Services, Inc., dated February 23, 
                                   1996 (incorporat ed by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to 
                                   MindSpring's For m 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 
                                   31, 1998--File N o. 0-27890). 
 
10.23                      --      Credit Agreement , dated as of February 17, 1999 by and among  
                                   MindSpring Enter prises, Inc., as Borrower, the Lenders 
                                   referred to here in, First Union Capital Markets Corp., as 
                                   Arranger and Fir st Union National Bank, as Administrative 
                                   Agent (incorpora ted by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
                                   MindSpring's For m 8-K dated February 25, 1999--File No. 
                                   0-27890). 
 
10.24                      --      Guaranty and Col lateral Agreement made by MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . and the other Grantors party hereto in 
                                   favor of First U nion National Bank, as Administrative Agent 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10.2 to MindSpring's 
                                   Form 8-K dated F ebruary 25, 1999--File No. 0-27890). 
 
10.25                      --      First Amendment,  Waiver and Consent Agreement, dated as of 
                                   April 7, 1999, b y and among MindSpring Enterprises, Inc., 
                                   certain Lenders identified therein, First Union Capital 
                                   Markets Corp., a s Arranger, and First Union National Bank, 
                                   as Administrativ e Agent (incorporated by reference to 
                                   Exhibit 10.1 to MindSpring's Form 8-K dated April 7, 
                                   1999--File No. 0 -27890). 
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EXHIBIT                                                    DESCRIPTION 
---------------------              ---------------- --------------------------------------------  
10.26                      --      Lease Agreement,  commencing on November 1, 1995, between 
                                   West Peachtree P oint Partners, L.P. and MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
                                   10(j) to MindSpr ing's Registration Statement on Form 
                                   S-1--File No. 33 3-108). 
 
10.27                      --      First Amendment dated February 6, 1996 to Lease Agreement 
                                   dated November 1 , 1995 between John Marshall Law School, 
                                   Inc. (assignee o f West Peachtree Point Partners, L.P.) and 
                                   MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
                                   Exhibit 10(cc) t o MindSpring's Registration Statement on 
                                   Form S-1--File N o. 333-108). 
 
10.28                      --      MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan, as 
                                   amended (incorpo rated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to 
                                   MindSpring's For m 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 
                                   31, 1998--File N o. 0-27890). 
 
10.29                      --      Form of Stock Op tion Agreement (incorporated by reference to  
                                   Exhibit 10(v) to  MindSpring's Registration Statement on Form  
                                   S-1--File No. 33 3-108). 
 
10.30                      --      MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. 1995 Directors Stock Option 
                                   Plan, as amended  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 
                                   to MindSpring's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December  
                                   31, 1998--File N o. 0-27890). 
 
10.31                      --      Form of Director  Stock Option Agreement, as amended 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10(x) to MindSpring's 
                                   Registration Sta tement on Form S-1--File No. 333-108). 
 
10.32                      --      Form of MindSpri ng Director or Officer Indemnity Agreement 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10(dd) to MindSpring's  
                                   Registration Sta tement on Form S-1--File No. 333-108). 
 
10.33                      --      Master Services Agreement, dated July 15, 1996, between 
                                   BellSouth Teleco mmunications, Inc. and MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
                                   10(cc) to MindSp ring's Form S-1--File No. 333-10779). 
 
10.34                      --      Office Building Lease Agreement, commencing December 15, 
                                   1997, between Pe nnsylvania Dental Service Corporation, a 
                                   Pennsylvania cor poration d/b/a Delta Dental of Pennsylvania,  
                                   and MindSpring E nterprises, Inc. (incorporated by reference 
                                   to Exhibit 10.13  to MindSpring's Form 10-K for the fiscal 
                                   year ended Decem ber 31, 1998--File No. 0-27890). 
 
10.35                      --      Lease Agreement effective as of January 1, 1997 by and 
                                   between CMS Peac htree, L.P. and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc.  
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10(hh) to MindSpring's  
                                   Form 10-K for th e fiscal year ended December 31, 1996--File 
                                   No. 0-27890). 
 
10.36                      --      Amendment dated June 6, 1997 to Master Services Agreement, 
                                   dated July 15, 1 996, between BellSouth Telecommunications, 
                                   Inc. and MindSpr ing Enterprises, Inc. (incorporated by 
                                   reference to Exh ibit 10.1 to MindSpring's Form 10-Q for the 
                                   quarter ended Ju ne 30, 1997--File No. 0-27890). 
 
10.37                      --      Special Service Arrangement Agreement, dated June 1997, 
                                   between BellSout h Telecommunications, Inc. and MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . (a substantially identical contract has 
                                   been executed fo r each of Alabama, Florida, Kentucky, North 
                                   Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee) (incorporated by 
                                   reference to Exh ibit 10.2 to MindSpring's Form 10-Q for the 
                                   quarter ended Ju ne 30, 1997--File No. 0-27890). 
 
10.38*                     --      Lease Agreement dated November 16, 1999, between Kingston 
                                   Atlanta Partners , L.P. and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 



 

(D) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.  

MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

On January 8, 1999, MindSpring filed a Current Report on Form 8-K reporting that, on January 5, 1999, MindSpring entered into an Asset 
Purchase Agreement with NETCOM On-Line Communication Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 
of ICG Communications, Inc., pursuant to which MindSpring agreed to acquire certain assets used in connection with the Internet services 
business operated in the United States by NETCOM (the "NETCOM Acquisition").  

On February 25, 1999, MindSpring filed a Current Report on Form 8-K reporting that, on February 17, 1999, MindSpring completed the 
NETCOM Acquisition. The Form 8-K contained, pursuant to Item 7 to Form 8-K, certain financial information concerning the NETCOM 
Acquisition.  

On February 25, 1999, MindSpring filed a Current Report on Form 8-K that contained certain exhibits with respect to its business and financial 
condition, including its Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and audited financial 
statements of MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. as of December 31, 1998 and 1997.  

On April 12, 1999, MindSpring filed a Current Report on Form 8-K that contained certain exhibits with respect to its debt offering completed 
in April 14, 1999.  

On May 27, 1999, MindSpring filed a Current Report on Form 8-K to report that on May 25, 1999, the Company's Board of Directors had 
declared a two-for-one stock split to be effected in the form of a stock dividend.  

On September 30, 1999, MindSpring filed a Current Report on Form 8-K to report that, on September 22, 1999, the Company had entered into 
an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization with EarthLink Network, Inc. (the "Merger Agreement"). The Merger Agreement sets forth the terms 
and conditions of the proposed merger of MindSpring and EarthLink into a new company (the "Merger").  
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EXHIBIT                                                    DESCRIPTION 
---------------------              ---------------- --------------------------------------------  
10.39*                     --      First Amendment to Lease, dated October 1, 1999, between 
                                   Park West E-3 As sociates and NETCOM On-line Communication 
                                   Services, Inc. 
 
10.40*                     --      Lease Agreement,  dated June 30, 1998, between Ryan Southbank  
                                   II, L.L.C. and M indSpring Enterprises, Inc. 
 
10.41*                     --      Sublease, dated September 14, 1999, between International 
                                   Business Machine s Corporation and MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . 
 
10.42*                     --      Fourth Amendment  dated June 24, 1998, to Lease Agreement 
                                   dated August 11,  1995 by and among 1430 L.L.C. and 
                                   MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. 
 
10.43*                     --      Fifth Amendment dated October 26, 1999 to Lease Agreement 
                                   dated August 11,  1995 by and among 1430 L.L.C. and 
                                   MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. 
 
10.44*                     --      Amendment dated December 20, 1999, to Office Building Lease 
                                   Agreement dated December 15, 1997, between Pennsylvania 
                                   Dental Service C orporation and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 
 
10.45*                     --      EarthLink Centre  Standard Modified Gross Office Lease, dated  
                                   October 5, 1999,  by and between Limar Realty Corp. #6 and 
                                   Earthlink Networ k, Inc. 
 
27.1                       --      Financial Data S chedule 



On October 12, 1999, MindSpring filed a Current Report on Form 8-K/A amending its Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 30, 1999. 
The Form 8-K/A included certain pro forma financial statements with respect to the Merger.  

On December 12, 1999 MindSpring amended its Current Report on Form 8-K/A describing the Company's acquisition of Spry, Inc.  

EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

On September 30, 1999, EarthLink Network filed a Current Report on Form 8-K to report that, on September 22, 1999, it had entered into an 
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization with MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. (the "Merger Agreement"). The Merger Agreement sets forth the 
terms and conditions of the proposed merger of MindSpring and EarthLink into a new company (the "Merger").  

On October 14, 1999 EarthLink Network amended its Current Report on Form 8-K describing its strategic alliance with Sprint Corporation and 
related transactions.  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this Report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

 

Each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Charles G. Betty and Lee Adrean, the true and lawful attorneys-in-
fact and agents of the undersigned, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for and in the name, place and stead of the undersigned, 
in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in 
connection therewith, with the Commission, and hereby grants to such attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform 
each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or could do in 
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to 
be done by virtue hereof.  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  

 
37  

EARTHLINK, INC. 
 
/s/ CHARLES G. BETTY 
---------------------------------------------  
Charles G. Betty 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
Date: March 30, 2000 

                  SIGNATURE                                        TITLE 
                  ---------                                        ----- 
                                               /s/ CHARLES G. BETTY 
                                               ---- ---------------------------------------- 
Date: March 30, 2000                           Char les G. Betty, Chief Executive 
                                               Offi cer and Director 
 
                                               /s/ LEE ADREAN 
                                               ---- ---------------------------------------- 
Date: March 30, 2000                           Lee Adrean, Executive Vice President--Finance  
                                               and Administration and Chief Financial 
                                               Offi cer 
 
                                               /s/ RICHARD A. QUIROGA 
                                               ---- ---------------------------------------- 
Date: March 30, 2000                           Rich ard A. Quiroga, Vice President--Corporate  
                                               Cont roller 
 
                                               /s/ CHARLES M. BREWER 
Date: March 30, 2000                           ---- ---------------------------------------- 
                                               Char les M. Brewer, Chairman of the Board 
 
                                               /s/ SKY D. DAYTON 
Date: March 30, 2000                           ---- ---------------------------------------- 
                                               Sky D. Dayton, Director 
 
                                               /s/ WILLIAM T. ESREY 
Date: March 30, 2000                           ---- ---------------------------------------- 
                                               Will iam T. Esrey, Director 
 
                                               /s/ LINWOOD A. LACY 
Date: March 30, 2000                           ---- ---------------------------------------- 
                                               Linw ood A. Lacy, Director 
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                                               /s/ CAMPBELL B. LANIER III 
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                                               Camp bell B. Lanier III, Director 
 
                                               /s/ LEN J. LAUER 
Date: March 30, 2000                           ---- ----------------------------------------  
                                               Len J. Lauer, Director 
 
                                               /s/ MICHAEL S. MCQUARY 
Date: March 30, 2000                           ---- ----------------------------------------  
                                               Mich ael S. McQuary, President, Director 
 
                                               /s/ WILLIAM H. SCOTT III 
Date: March 30, 2000                           ---- ----------------------------------------  
                                               Will iam H. Scott III, Director 
 
                                               /s/ REED E. SLATKIN 
Date: March 30, 2000                           ---- ----------------------------------------  
                                               Reed  E. Slatkin, Director 
 
                                               /s/ PHILIP SCHILLER 
Date: March 30, 2000                           ---- ----------------------------------------  
                                               Phil ip Schiller, Director 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of EarthLink, Inc.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations, of stockholders' equity 
(deficit) and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of EarthLink Network, Inc. and its subsidiary at 
December 31, 1998 and 1999, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States, which require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.  

As described in Note 1, on February 4, 2000, EarthLink Network, Inc. merged with MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. and formed a new corporation 
named EarthLink, Inc. in a transaction accounted for as a pooling of interests. The accompanying supplementary combined financial statements 
give retroactive effect to the merger of EarthLink Network, Inc. and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. Generally accepted accounting principles 
proscribe giving effect to a consummated business combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method in financial statements that do 
not extend through the date of consummation. These financial statements do not extend through the date of the consummation; however, they 
will become the historical consolidated financial statements of EarthLink, Inc. and subsidiary after financial statements covering the date of 
consummation of the business combination are issued.  

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the accompanying supplementary combined balance sheet and the related 
supplementary combined statements of operations, of stockholders' equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of EarthLink, Inc. at December 31, 1998 and 1999, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. These financial statements 
are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audits. We did not audit the financial statements of MindSpring Enterprises, Inc., which statements reflect total assets of $247.6 million and 
$714.9 million as of December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively, and total revenues of $52.6 million, $114.7 million and $328.1 million for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been 
furnished to us, and our opinion expressed herein, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for MindSpring Enterprises, Inc., is based solely 
on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.  

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP  

Century City, California  
March 28, 2000  
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                                                                   DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              ---------------------- 
                                                                1998         1999 
                                                              ---------   ---------- 
                                                                  (IN THOUSANDS) 
                                       ASSETS 
Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents........................ .........  $ 308,607   $  685,753 
  Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,629,0 00 and 
    $3,933,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1999, 
    respectively................................... .........      8,057       16,367 
  Prepaid expenses................................. .........      5,082       19,596 
  Other assets..................................... .........        598       13,672 
                                                              ---------   ---------- 
    Total current assets........................... .........    322,344      735,388 
Investments in other companies (Note 3)............ .........         --        4,000 
Other long-term assets............................. .........      1,863       12,936 
Property and equipment, net (Notes 1 and 4)........ .........     71,047      151,435 
Intangibles, net (Note 5).......................... .........    114,748      205,388 
                                                              ---------   ---------- 
                                                              $ 510,002   $1,109,147 
                                                              =========   ========== 
 
                        LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER S' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
  Trade accounts payable........................... .........  $  28,119   $   47,074 
  Accrued payroll and related expenses............. .........     11,484       15,850 
  Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities... .........     32,477       58,947 
  Current portion of capital lease obligations (Not e 12)....     11,036       11,724 
  Deferred revenue................................. .........     16,274       28,732 
                                                              ---------   ---------- 
    Total current liabilities...................... .........     99,390      162,327 
Long-term liabilities: 
  Convertible notes (Note 6)....................... .........         --      179,975 
  Long-term portion of capital lease obligations (N ote 
    12)............................................ .........     10,125        8,392 
                                                              ---------   ---------- 
    Total liabilities.............................. .........    109,515      350,694 
 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12) 
 
Stockholders' equity: 
  Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 sha res 
    authorized, 
    Series A convertible 6,626,250 shares issued an d 
    outstanding December 31, 1998 and 1999 (Notes 8  and 
    9)............................................. .........         66           66 
    Series B convertible nil and 978,940 shares iss ued and 
      outstanding December 31, 1998 and 1999, respe ctively 
      (Note 8 and 9)............................... .........         --           10 
  Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000,000 shares  
    authorized, 103,514,969 and 116,864,610 shares issued 
    and outstanding at December 31, 1998 and 1999, 
    respectively................................... .........      1,035        1,169 
  Stock subscriptions receivable................... .........     (1,041)          -- 
  Additional paid-in capital....................... .........    540,408    1,085,109 
  Warrants to purchase common stock (Note 10)...... .........        597          477 
  Accumulated deficit.............................. .........   (140,578)    (328,378)  
                                                              ---------   ---------- 
    Total stockholders' equity..................... .........    400,487      758,453 
                                                              ---------   ---------- 
                                                              $ 510,002   $1,109,147 
                                                              =========   ========== 
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                                                                     YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              -------------------------------------  
                                                                 1997         1998         1999 
                                                              ----------   ----------   -----------  
                                                              (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)  
Revenues: 
  Narrowband access................................ .........   $119,030     $260,229     $ 582,883 
  Web hosting...................................... .........     12,557       22,007        47,435 
  Broadband access................................. .........      1,220        3,321        23,540 
  Content, commerce and advertising................ .........        637        5,057        16,575 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
    Total revenues................................. .........    133,444      290,614       670,433 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
 
Operating costs and expenses: 
  Cost of revenues................................. .........     57,183      115,529       248,487 
  Operations and member support.................... .........     44,801       80,244       182,134 
  Sales and marketing.............................. .........     36,281       65,037       219,349 
  General and administrative....................... .........     23,168       34,575        67,876 
  Acquisition-related costs (Note 5)............... .........      4,208       49,684       148,267 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
    Total operating costs and expenses............. .........    165,641      345,069       866,113 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
 
Loss from operations............................... .........    (32,197)     (54,455)     (195,680)  
Interest income (expense), net..................... .........     (1,800)       3,671        21,986 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
      Net loss before income tax provision......... .........    (33,997)     (50,784)     (173,694)  
Income tax provision............................... .........                  (2,394) 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
      Net loss..................................... .........    (33,997)     (53,178)     (173,694)  
Deductions for accretion dividends (Note 9)........ .........                  (7,601)      (14,106)  
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders....... .........   $(33,997)    $(60,779)    $(187,800)  
                                                               ========     ========     ========= 
Basic and diluted net loss per share............... .........   $  (0.44)    $  (0.66)    $   (1.65)  
                                                               ========     ========     ========= 
Weighted average shares............................ .........     77,387       91,466       113,637 
                                                               ========     ========     ========= 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQ UITY  

                                       PREFERRED ST OCK        COMMON STOCK           STOCK       ADDIT IONAL 
                                     -------------- -----   -------------------   SUBSCRIPTIONS    PAID -IN 
                                      SHARES     AM OUNT     SHARES     AMOUNT     RECEIVABLE      CAPI TAL     WARRANTS 
                                     --------   --- -----   --------   --------   -------------   ----- -----   ---------  
                                                                       (IN THOUSANDS) 
Balance at December 31, 1996.......                         64,315     $  644                    $  48 ,705     $  599 
Initial public offering, net of 
  expenses.........................                          7,380         74                       26 ,152 
Conversion of redeemable preferred 
  stock into common stock..........                          4,404         44                       13 ,969 
Conversion of debt to common 
  stock............................                            181          2                          723 
Issuance of common stock in 
  connection with private 
  placement........................                          4,716         47                       15 ,362 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                            549          5                          469 
Warrants issued in exchange for 
  services (Note 10)...............                                                                               494 
Net loss........................... 
                                      ------      - ---     -------     ------       -------      ----- -----    ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1997.......                         81,545        816                      105 ,380      1,093 
Issuance of series A convertible 
  preferred stock (Note 8).........    6,626      $  66                                             134 ,934 
Accretion of convertible preferred 
  stock............................                                                                  7 ,601 
Follow on offerings, net of 
  expenses (Note 7)................                         16,677        167                      280 ,682 
Conversion of debt to common 
  stock............................                          1,265         13                        5 ,030 
Issuance of common stock for 
  services.........................                             32                                     130 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                          2,739         27                        4 ,216 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of warrants..........                          1,229         12                        1 ,394       (647) 
Warrants issued in conjunction with 
  marketing agreement..............                             --                                                 91 
Warrants issued in exchange for 
  services (Note 10)...............                             --                                                 60 
Issuance of notes receivable from 
  stock sales......................                             28                  $(1,041)         1 ,041 
Net loss...........................                             -- 
                                      ------      - ---     -------     ------       -------      ----- -----    ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1998.......    6,626        66     103,515      1,035        (1,041)       540 ,408        597 
Issuance of series B convertible 
  preferred stock (Note 8).........      979      $  10                                              42 ,612 
Accretion of convertible preferred 
  stock............................                                                                 14 ,106 
Follow on offering, net of expenses 
  (Note 7).........................                          9,744         98                      446 ,540 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to customer base acquisition 
  (Note 2).........................                            752          7                       29 ,993 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                          2,307         23                       10 ,929 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of warrants..........                            547          6                          521       (120) 
Collection of notes receivable from 
  stock sales......................                                                   1,041 
Net loss........................... 
                                      ------      - ---     -------     ------       -------      ----- -----    ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1999.......    7,605      $  76     116,865     $1,169       $    --      $1,08 5,109    $  477 
                                      ======      = ===     =======     ======       =======      ===== =====    ====== 
 
                                                        TOTAL 
                                     ACCUMULATED    STOCKHOLDERS' 
                                       DEFICIT         EQUITY 
                                     ------------   ------------- 
                                            (IN THO USANDS) 
Balance at December 31, 1996.......   $ (45,802)      $   4,146 
Initial public offering, net of 
  expenses.........................                      26,226 
Conversion of redeemable preferred 
  stock into common stock..........                      14,013 
Conversion of debt to common 
  stock............................                         725 
Issuance of common stock in 
  connection with private 
  placement........................                      15,409 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                         474 
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Warrants issued in exchange for 
  services (Note 10)...............                         494 
Net loss...........................     (33,997)        (33,997) 
                                      ---------       --------- 
Balance at December 31, 1997.......     (79,799)         27,490 
Issuance of series A convertible 
  preferred stock (Note 8).........                     135,000 
Accretion of convertible preferred 
  stock............................      (7,601) 
Follow on offerings, net of 
  expenses (Note 7)................                     280,849 
Conversion of debt to common 
  stock............................                       5,043 
Issuance of common stock for 
  services.........................                         130 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                       4,243 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of warrants..........                         759 
Warrants issued in conjunction with 
  marketing agreement..............                          91 
Warrants issued in exchange for 
  services (Note 10)...............                          60 
Issuance of notes receivable from 
  stock sales...................... 
Net loss...........................     (53,178)        (53,178) 
                                      ---------       --------- 
Balance at December 31, 1998.......    (140,578)        400,487 
Issuance of series B convertible 
  preferred stock (Note 8).........                      42,622 
Accretion of convertible preferred 
  stock............................     (14,106) 
Follow on offering, net of expenses 
  (Note 7).........................                     446,638 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to customer base acquisition 
  (Note 2).........................                      30,000 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                      10,952 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of warrants..........                         407 
Collection of notes receivable from 
  stock sales......................                       1,041 
Net loss...........................    (173,694)       (173,694) 
                                      ---------       --------- 
Balance at December 31, 1999.......   $(328,378)      $ 758,453 
                                      =========       ========= 
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                                                                  YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              ------------------------------- 
                                                                1997       1998       1999 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
                                                                      (IN THOUSANDS) 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Net loss......................................... .........  $(33,997)  $(53,178)  $(173,694)  
  Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (us ed in) 
    provided by operating activities, net of effect  from 
    acquisition: 
    Depreciation and amortization.................. .........    18,070     69,953     190,504 
    Loss on sale of assets......................... .........                               31 
    Issuance of common stock in exchange for profes sional 
      services..................................... .........                  130 
    Issuance of warrants in exchange for profession al 
      services..................................... .........       494         60 
    Increase in net accounts receivable............ .........      (801)    (3,536)     (9,801)  
    Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets.. .........      (362)    (3,496)    (32,077)  
    Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabil ities....     3,298     41,679      56,790 
    Increase in deferred revenue................... .........     3,362     10,486      12,458 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities .........    (9,936)    62,098      44,211 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Purchase of property and equipment............... .........   (22,570)   (44,492)   (109,819)  
  Sale of property and equipment................... .........        --         --       1,416 
  Purchase of intangible assets.................... .........    (2,364)   (27,321)   (227,494)  
  Transaction costs................................ .........               (9,914) 
  Cash acquired from acquisition................... .........               23,750 
  Investments in other companies................... .........                           (4,000)  
  Purchase of restricted short-term investment..... .........      (200) 
  Liquidation of restricted short-term investment.. .........        37      1,250 
  Other............................................ .........                 (159)        148 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
    Net cash used in investing activities.......... .........   (25,097)   (56,886)   (339,749)  
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Proceeds from issuance of notes payable.......... .........     4,387        200     174,082 
  Repayment of notes payable....................... .........    (2,849)    (6,626) 
  Proceeds from line of credit..................... .........                           77,987 
  Repayment of line of credit...................... .........                          (80,000)  
  Proceeds from capital lease obligations.......... .........    10,544      9,275      13,456 
  Principal payments under capital lease obligation s........    (6,968)   (11,141)    (14,501)  
  Proceeds from private placement of common stock.. .........    15,409 
  Proceeds from public stock offerings............. .........    26,226    280,849     489,260 
  Proceeds from warrants exercised................. .........                  759         407 
  Proceeds from stock options exercised............ .........       474      4,243      10,952 
  Proceeds from liquidation of stock subscription 
    receivable..................................... .........                            1,041 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
    Net cash provided by financing activities...... .........    47,223    277,559     672,684 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents.......... .........    12,190    282,771     377,146 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year....... .........    13,646     25,836     308,607 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year............. .........  $ 25,836   $308,607   $ 685,753 
                                                              ========   ========   ========= 
Acquisition, net of cash acquired (Note 2): 
  Issuance of convertible preferred stock.......... .........             $135,000 
  Transaction costs................................ .........                9,914 
  Intangible assets................................ .........             (121,164) 
                                                                         -------- 
  Cash acquired from acquisition................... .........             $ 23,750 
                                                                         ======== 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

ORGANIZATION  

EarthLink, Inc. (or the "Company"), is a leading Internet service provider, or ISP, providing reliable nationwide Internet access and related 
value-added services to our individual and business members. The Company was formed in February 2000 by way of the merger of EarthLink 
Network, Inc., ("EarthLink Network"), and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc., ("MindSpring") in a transaction accounted for as a "pooling of 
interests". By combining the two companies we formed the second largest Internet service provider in the United States.  

BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

Each outstanding share of EarthLink Network securities was exchanged for 1.615 shares of the equivalent security of the new Company and 
each outstanding share of MindSpring common stock was exchanged for one share of the common stock of the new Company. Other 
outstanding securities of the companies were converted on the same basis. The effect of these conversions is reflected in the earnings per share 
of the new Company.  

The supplemental combined financial statements have been prepared to give retroactive effect to the merger of EarthLink Network and 
MindSpring in a transaction accounted for as a pooling of interests (see note 16). The supplemental financial statements also include the 
accounts of EarthLink Operations, Inc. a wholly-owned subsidiary the Combined Company. All intercompany transactions and balances have 
been eliminated in the supplemental financial statements. Separate results of EarthLink Network and MindSpring for the three years ended 
December 31, 1999 were as follows:  

 

In 1998, MindSpring's management reviewed its net deferred tax asset, consisting primarily of net operating loss carryforwards and based on 
the net income generated in 1998 as well as the projections of future income determined that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax 
assets would be realized. Accordingly, the Company reversed its valuation allowance in 1998 and did not record one in 1999. In the course of 
the reorganization discussions, management of MindSpring and EarthLink Network reviewed the combined net deferred tax assets and 
concluded that sufficient uncertainty now exists regarding realizability of the net deferred tax asset. The financial statements of the combined 
Company include adjustments of $3.9 million and $25.3 million for 1998 and 1999, respectively, to give effect to the  
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                                                   YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                               ---- --------------------------- 
                                                 19 97       1998       1999 
                                               ---- ----   --------   --------- 
                                                       (IN THOUSANDS) 
Revenue: 
  EarthLink Network..........................  $ 80 ,888   $175,941   $ 342,288 
  MindSpring.................................    52 ,556    114,673     328,145 
                                               ---- ----   --------   --------- 
                                               $133 ,444   $290,614   $ 670,433 
                                               ==== ====   ========   ========= 
Net loss: 
  EarthLink Network..........................  $(29 ,916)  $(59,782)  $(108,248)  
  MindSpring.................................    (4 ,081)    10,544     (40,131)  
  Adjustment to reflect establishment of tax 
    valuation allowance......................               (3,940)    (25,315)  
                                               ---- ----   --------   --------- 
                                               $(33 ,997)  $(53,178)  $(173,694)  
                                               ==== ====   ========   ========= 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) reestablishment of a valuation allowance on the MindSpring 
net deferred tax assets. There were no intercompany transactions between the two companies or significant conforming accounting 
adjustments.  

REVENUES  

Narrowband access revenues consists primarily of monthly fees charged to members for dial-up Internet access. Web hosting revenues consists 
of fees earned by leasing server space and providing web services to companies and individuals wishing to present a web or e-commerce 
presence. Broadband access revenues consists of fees charged for high-speed, high-capacity access services including cable, ISDN and DSL 
services. Content, commerce and advertising revenues are generated by leveraging the value of the Company's member base and user traffic. 
All revenues are recorded as earned.  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

All short-term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition are classified as cash 
equivalents.  

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND DEFERRED REVENUES  

The Company bills for Internet service generally one month in advance. Accordingly, these non-cancelable advanced billings are included in 
both accounts receivable and deferred revenue.  

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK  

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash investments and trade 
receivables. The Company's cash investment policies limit investments to short-term, investment grade instruments. Concentrations of credit 
risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the large number of members comprising the Company's member base.  

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets, which is 
generally three to five years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated lives or 
the term of the lease, ranging from one to ten years.  

EQUIPMENT UNDER CAPITAL LEASE  

The Company leases certain of its data communications and other equipment under capital lease agreements. The assets and liabilities under 
capital lease are recorded at the lesser of the present value of aggregate future minimum lease payments, including estimated bargain purchase 
options, or the fair value of the assets under lease. Assets under capital lease are depreciated over the lesser of their estimated useful lives of 
three to five years or the term of the lease.  
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EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) INTANGIBLES  

Intangible assets consist primarily of acquired member bases, long-term marketing agreements, goodwill, deferred financing and other items. 
The costs assigned to intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range 
from one to ten years. The Company regularly reviews the recoverability of intangible assets based on estimated undiscounted future cash 
flows from operating activities compared with the carrying values of the intangibles.  

ADVERTISING AND MEMBER ACQUISITION COSTS  

Advertising and member acquisition costs are included in sales and marketing. Such costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were 
$9.3 million, $18.9 million and $98.4 million in 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.  

INCOME TAXES  

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on 
differences between the financial reporting basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws 
that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.  

NET LOSS PER SHARE  

The combined Company has retroactively adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 128, "Earnings per Share" (EPS). 
Basic EPS represents the weighted average number of shares divided into net income during a reported period. Diluted EPS reflects the 
potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. 
However, the combined Company has not included potential common stock in the calculation of EPS as such inclusion would have an anti-
dilutive effect.  

USE OF ESTIMATES IN PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  

COMMON STOCK BASED COMPENSATION  

Both EarthLink Network and MindSpring account for employee stock based compensation using the intrinsic value method in accordance with 
the provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees". The Company provides 
pro forma disclosures as if the measurement provisions of SFAS No. 123 had been adopted.  
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EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) LONG LIVED ASSETS  

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived 
Assets to Be Disposed Of," requires that long-lived assets and certain indentifiable intangible assets to be held and used by an entity be 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
The carrying value of long-lived assets is periodically reviewed by management, and impairment losses, if any, are recognized when the 
expected nondiscounted future operating cash flows derived from such assets are less than their carrying value. Management believes that no 
such impairments have occurred during the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1999.  

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS  

On December 3, 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 ("SAB 101"), "Revenue 
Recognition in Financial Statements," which summarizes certain of the Staff's views in applying generally accepted accounting principles to 
revenue recognition in financial statements. The Staff is providing this guidance due, in part, to the large number of revenue recognition issues 
that registrants encounter. The application of SAB 101 to revenue recognition is not expected to have a material effect on Earthlink, Inc.'s 
supplemental combined statement of operations.  

2. STRATEGIC ALLIANCES AND ACQUISITIONS  

On February 10, 1998, EarthLink Network entered into certain agreements to establish a broad strategic relationship (the "Strategic Alliance") 
with Sprint Corporation ("Sprint") in the area of consumer Internet access and related services. In connection with the Strategic Alliance, on 
June 5, 1998, Sprint consummated a tender offer for 4.0 million shares of EarthLink Network's common stock at a price per share of $13.94 in 
cash to each tendering stockholder (the "Offer"). Immediately following the closing of the Offer, Sprint received approximately 13.2 million 
shares of the EarthLink Network's Series A convertible preferred stock which has been valued at $135 million, in exchange for (i) transfer to 
the EarthLink Network of Sprint's approximately 130,000 Sprint Internet Passport subscribers, (ii) aggregate cash consideration of 
approximately $24 million and (iii) the exclusive right to use certain ports within Sprint's high-speed data network for four years. EarthLink 
Network and Sprint also entered into a Marketing and Distribution Agreement which includes a commitment by Sprint to deliver a minimum of 
150,000 new subscribers per year for five years through its own channels, EarthLink Network's right to be Sprint's exclusive provider of 
consumer Internet access services for at least ten years and the right to use Sprint's brand and distribution network for at least ten years. Sprint 
has also provided EarthLink Network with a credit facility currently totaling $50 million (increasing to $100 million by June 2001) in the form 
of convertible senior debt. Collectively, the above is referenced to as the "Sprint Transaction".  

In connection with the Sprint Transaction, a newly-formed company, "EarthLink Operations, Inc.," was formed and became a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the EarthLink Network, Inc. All references in these financial statements to EarthLink Network relate, collectively, to both 
EarthLink Network and EarthLink Operations, Inc.  

In September 1998, MindSpring entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with America Online, Inc. ("AOL") and Spry, Inc. ("Spry"), a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of AOL, to purchase certain assets used in connection with the consumer dial-up Internet access business operated by 
Spry (the "Spry Agreement").  
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EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

2. STRATEGIC ALLIANCES AND ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED) Pursuant to the Spry Agreement, MindSpring acquired Spry's 
subscriber base of approximately 130,000 individual Internet access members in the United States and Canada as well as various assets used in 
serving those members, including a member support facility and a network operations facility in Seattle, Washington. MindSpring also 
acquired all rights held by Spry to the "Spry" name. The acquisition was closed in October 1998 and the total purchase price for these assets 
was $32 million.  

In February 1999, MindSpring completed its acquisition of certain assets used in connection with the United States Internet access and Web 
hosting business operated by NETCOM On-Line Communication Services Inc., which subsequently changed its name to ICG Netahead, Inc. 
and is a wholly owned subsidiary of ICG Communications, Inc. In this transaction, MindSpring acquired NETCOM's subscriber base of 
approximately 408,000 individual Internet access accounts, 25,000 Web hosting accounts, 3,000 dedicated Internet access accounts in the 
United States and property and equipment valued at $13.2 million. MindSpring paid NETCOM approximately $245 million, consisting of $215 
million in cash and $30 million in MindSpring common stock (752,232 shares, at a price per share of $39.88). MindSpring incurred additional 
expenses of approximately $4.2 million in connection with this acquisition.  

The following unaudited pro forma supplemental results of operations for the two years ended December 31, 1999, assume the acquisitions of 
the Sprint Internet Passport business and the Spry assets occurred on January 1, 1998 and the acquisition of the NETCOM business occurred on 
January 1, 1998 and 1999, respectively. These pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and do not purport to be 
indicative of the results of operations that actually would have resulted had the acquisition occurred on the date indicated, or which may result 
in the future.  

 

3. INVESTMENTS IN OTHER COMPANIES  

In July 1999, EarthLink Network committed to invest in eCompanies Venture Group, LP, ("EVG"), a limited partnership formed to invest in 
domestic emerging growth companies. Mr. Sky Dayton is a member of the EarthLink, Inc. board of directors and a founding partner in EVG. 
In 1999, EarthLink Network invested $4.0 million in EVG and has committed to invest an additional $6.0 million. The investment is accounted 
for under the cost method of accounting as the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the partnership's 
operating or financial policies. Any distributions of earnings from the partnership, will be recorded as income when declared.  
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                                                         YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                        -------------------------  
                                                           1998          1999 
                                                        -----------   -----------  
                                                        (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER  
                                                          SHARE DATA UNAUDITED) 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
Total revenues..................................... ...   $ 481,980     $ 689,290 
Net loss........................................... ...    (223,024)     (188,948)  
Deductions for accretion dividends (Note 9)........ ...     (13,126)      (14,106)  
Net loss attributable to common stockholders....... ...    (236,150)     (203,054)  
Basic and diluted net loss per share............... ...   $   (2.38)    $   (1.71)  
Weighted average shares............................ ...      99,016       118,472 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

Property and equipment consist of:  

 

Property under capital lease, primarily data communications equipment included above, aggregated $41.2 million and $41.4 million at 
December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively. Included in accumulated depreciation and amortization are amounts related to property under 
capital lease of $19.6 million and $25.3 million at December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively. Depreciation expense charged to operations was 
$13.0 million, $20.5 million and $41.0 million in 1997, 1998, and 1999, respectively.  

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

Intangible assets consist of:  

 

Intangible assets include (i) member bases acquired from Sprint, Spry and NETCOM, (ii) marketing and distribution agreements and goodwill 
acquired in the acquisition of the Sprint Internet Passport business and (iii) and various other intangible assets of lesser value. Intangible assets 
acquired in the acquisition of the Sprint Internet Passport business are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. 
The member base and goodwill, which represents the excess of consideration over the fair value of net assets acquired, were fully amortized as 
of December 31, 1999. The Marketing and Distribution Agreement is being amortized over 5 and 10 years which represents the life of the 
portion of the contract related to Sprint's provision of additional members and the overall contract life relative to the co-branding feature, 
respectively. The member bases acquired from Spry and NETCOM are being amortized over three years.  
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                                                             DECEMBER 31, 
                                                          ------------------- 
                                                            1998       1999 
                                                          --------   -------- 
                                                            (IN THOUSANDS) 
Data center equipment.............................. .....  $ 72,411   $150,424 
Office and other equipment......................... .....    28,673     58,165 
Leasehold improvements............................. .....     8,771     12,488 
Construction in progress........................... .....       541      4,526 
                                                          --------   -------- 
                                                           110,396    225,603 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization..... .....   (39,349)   (74,168)  
                                                          --------   -------- 
                                                          $ 71,047   $151,435 
                                                          ========   ======== 

                                                             DECEMBER 31, 
                                                         -------------------- 
                                                           1998       1999 
                                                         --------   --------- 
                                                            (IN THOUSANDS) 
Member base........................................ ....  $ 90,000   $ 334,695 
Marketing and distribution agreement............... ....    20,000      20,000 
Goodwill........................................... ....    36,164      36,164 
Other.............................................. ....    22,776      16,898 
                                                         --------   --------- 
                                                          168,940     407,757 
Less accumulated amortization...................... ....   (54,192)   (202,369)  
                                                         --------   --------- 
                                                         $114,748   $ 205,388 
                                                         ========   ========= 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

6. DEBT  

CREDIT FACILITY  

On February 17, 1999, in conjunction with the NETCOM transaction, MindSpring entered into a credit agreement with First Union National 
Bank and several other lenders. In February 1999, the Company borrowed approximately $80 million under the credit facility to finance the 
NETCOM acquisition. The Company repaid all amounts outstanding under the credit facility using a portion of its net proceeds from the 
offering of common stock completed in April 1999. As a consequence of MindSpring's merger with EarthLink Network, Inc. and the 
Company, the credit facility was terminated.  

CONVERTIBLE NOTES  

In March 1999, MindSpring filed a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the public offering 
from time to time of up to $800 million of debt and equity securities. In April 1999, MindSpring sold $180.0 million aggregate principal 
amount of 5% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006, raising net proceeds of approximately $174.1 million. The notes were convertible 
into shares of the common stock of MindSpring at any time prior to their maturity or their redemption by the Company at a rate of 16 shares 
per each $1,000 principal amount of notes, or $62.50 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. Interest is payable semi-
annually on April 15 and October 15 of each year beginning October 15, 1999. The notes were subordinated in right of payment to all senior 
debt of MindSpring. MindSpring had the option to redeem the notes before April 15, 2002, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 
principal amount of the note plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date, if the closing price for MindSpring's common 
stock exceeded 150% of the conversion price for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading 
day prior to the date of the mailing of the notice of redemption. MindSpring was required to make an additional payment of cash with respect 
to notes called for redemption of $200 per $1,000 note, less the amount of interest actually paid on such note prior to the call for redemption. 
Further the notes could be redeemed on or after April 15, 2002 at 102.86% of the principal amount declining to 100% by April 15, 2006.  

Upon completion of the merger, EarthLink adopted the indentures and the notes became convertible into shares of EarthLink common stock. 
Completion of the merger constituted a "change in control" of MindSpring under the indentures. Thus each holder of notes has the option to 
require EarthLink to repurchase that holder's notes at a repurchase price of 100% of the principal amount plus accrued interest to the date of 
repurchase. The repurchase price will be paid in cash. If all holders exercise this option the payment will be $184.3 million. A holder that 
chooses not to have the notes repurchased will thereafter hold convertible subordinated notes of EarthLink.  

7. COMMON STOCK ISSUED  

FOLLOW ON OFFERINGS  

In May 1998, MindSpring completed a follow on public offering of 6.0 million shares of its common stock at $8.84 per share. Net proceeds 
from the offering were approximately $49.8 million.  

In June 1998 EarthLink Network completed a follow on public offering of 6.1 million shares of its common stock at $18.58 per share. The 
offering consisted of 4.9 million shares, including 791,000 shares sold to Sprint in accordance with its preemptive rights under the Sprint 
Alliance, and an underwriter's over-allotment of 1.2 million shares. Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $106.3 million.  
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EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

7. COMMON STOCK ISSUED (CONTINUED) In December 1998, MindSpring completed a follow on public offering of 4.6 million shares 
of its common stock at $28.50 per share. Net proceeds from the offering were approximately $124.8 million.  

In January 1999 EarthLink Network completed a follow on public offering of 3.9 million shares of its common stock at $45.59 per share. The 
offering consisted of 3.7 million shares and an underwriter's over-allotment of 160,000 shares exercised in February 1999. Net proceeds to 
EarthLink Network were approximately $170 million. In conjunction with the offering, Sprint exercised its preemptive rights to maintain its 
existing ownership level in EarthLink Network of approximately 27%, of which 10% is voting common stock. Accordingly, Sprint purchased 
1.2 million shares of which 310,000 were common stock and 932,000 were series B convertible preferred stock. Proceeds from the sale of 
shares to Sprint were $54.1 million.  

In February 1999, Sprint exercised its preemptive rights to maintain its ownership in EarthLink Network after the exercise of the underwriter's 
over-allotment granted in connection with the aforementioned follow on public offering. Accordingly, Sprint purchased 62,000 shares of which 
15,000 were common stock and 47,000 were series B convertible preferred stock. Series B convertible preferred stock has the same rights and 
privileges as series A convertible preferred stock shares, as described in Note 8, except that each share is convertible into one share of 
EarthLink Network common stock. Proceeds from the sale of stock to Sprint were $2.7 million.  

In April 1999 MindSpring completed a follow on public offering of 5.5 million shares of its common stock. Net Proceeds were approximately 
$263.5 million.  

COMMON STOCK ISSUANCES FOR OTHER THAN CASH  

In January 1998, EarthLink Network issued 32,000 shares of its common stock to a consultant in lieu of cash for services provided pursuant to 
a consulting agreement. The fair value of the shares was recorded as prepaid professional services and amortized ratably over the term of the 
contract. Under this agreement EarthLink Network issued 32,000 additional shares of its common stock in January 1999.  

8. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK  

All issued and outstanding shares of Series A and B convertible preferred stock are held by Sprint (Note 2).  

The series A and B convertible preferred stockholders receive dividends at a rate per annum of 3% of the Liquidation Value (as defined below), 
compounded quarterly. For a period of five years from June 1998, such dividends are payable "in kind" by way of an increase in the 
Liquidation Value of the shares. Beginning in June 2003, holders of Series A convertible preferred stock will receive cumulative quarterly cash 
dividends of 3% annually. Beginning in June 2018, holders of the series A convertible preferred stock are entitled to cumulative quarterly cash 
dividends at an 8% annual rate of the Liquidation Value per share, increasing annually to a maximum rate of 12%.  

Upon voluntary or involuntary liquidation or winding up of the Company the holders of series A and B convertible preferred stock will receive, 
prior to any payment or distribution in respect of other shares of the Company's capital stock, an amount per share equal to the average market 
value of the common stock measured over the thirty day period ended on the June 5, 1998 (the "Average Stock Price"), plus all  
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EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

8. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK (CONTINUED) accrued and unpaid dividends on such shares, whether in cash or in kind (such 
amount, the "Liquidation Value").  

Each share of series A and B convertible preferred stock is convertible into such number of shares of common stock as is determined by 
dividing the Liquidation Value by the "Conversion Price" in effect at such time. For the five year period following June 1998, the Conversion 
Price is equal to the Average Stock Price multiplied by 116.118%. Thereafter, the Conversion Price is increased annually by 6%, accruable 
quarterly. The Conversion Price is also subject to adjustment based on changes in capitalization of the common stock. Although conversion of 
the series A and B convertible preferred stock is at the holder's option, conversion is required in the event the Company consummates certain 
business combination transactions.  

Beginning in June 2001, the Company may elect to redeem the outstanding shares of series A and B convertible preferred stock at a redemption 
price per share equal to the Liquidation Value of such shares, including the acceleration of certain dividends, multiplied by a specified 
percentage. The specified percentage is initially equal to 103%, and will be reduced by 1% annually in each of the subsequent three years, and 
thereafter will be equal to 100%.  

The series A and B convertible preferred stockholders do not possess general voting rights together with holders of common stock. However, 
the series A and B convertible preferred stockholders are separately entitled to elect two of the Company's directors. This right terminates as to 
one of the directors if Sprint fails to maintain at least a 20% equity interest in EarthLink (on a fully diluted basis, subject to adjustment) for any 
three consecutive months, and will terminate as to both of the directors if Sprint fails to maintain at least a 10% equity interest over the same 
period. A separate vote of 66.67% of the then- outstanding shares of series A and B convertible preferred stock is required in certain limited 
situations, including liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, or taking certain actions which would adversely affect the rights of 
the holders of the series A and B convertible preferred stock as a class.  

9. DEDUCTIONS FOR DIVIDENDS ON CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK  

Dividends on convertible preferred stock are reflected as an increase to net loss attributable to common stockholders. This adjustment reflects 
the liquidation dividend of $8.8 million based on a 3% dividend (Note 8) and the accretion of a $5.3 million dividend related to the beneficial 
conversion feature of The series A convertible preferred stock in accordance with EITF Topic No. D-60 based upon the rate at which the 
preferred stock becomes convertible.  

10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS  

Options and warrants granted by Earthlink Network and MindSpring will  
(i) maintain their rights, (ii) continue to vest as originally scheduled and  
(iii) be redeemable in the common stock of Earthlink, Inc.  

1995 STOCK OPTION PLAN  

EarthLink Network and MindSpring established their "1995 Stock Option Plans" in September 1995 and February 1995, respectively. Each of 
the plans provides for the grant of incentive stock options to purchase shares of common stock to employees of the Company and non-qualified 
stock options to employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company. Total options available under the EarthLink Plan and the 
MindSpring Plan were 12,435,500 and 9,000,000, respectively. Both Plans are administered by  
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EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONTINUED) a committee appointed by the Board of Directors which determines the terms of 
the options granted, including the exercise price, the number of shares subject to option, and the option vesting period. The exercise price of all 
options granted under the plan must be at least 100% of the fair market value on the date of grant. Options generally have a maximum term of 
ten years and vest over terms of four to five years.  

OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER EARTHLINK NETWORK DIRECTORS S TOCK OPTION PLAN  

In September 1995, EarthLink Network established the EarthLink Network Directors Stock Option Plan (the "Directors Plan"). The Directors 
Plan, as amended and restated in December 1996, provides for the grant of options to purchase an aggregate of 201,875 shares of common 
stock to directors who do not also serve as employees of the Company and do not beneficially own, nor are employees, directors or officers of 
any entity which owns 5% or more of the outstanding shares of the Company's capital stock. Under the Directors Plan, grants of options to 
purchase 32,300 and 8,075 shares of common stock are automatically made to each non-management director at such time as the person first 
becomes a member of the board of directors and at the beginning of each fiscal year, respectively. Options generally have a maximum term of 
ten years and vest in equal quarterly increments over a five year period. As of December 31, 1999, there were no outstanding options to 
purchase shares of common stock under the Directors Plan.  

MINDSPRING DIRECTORS STOCK OPTION PLAN  

Under the MindSpring Directors' Stock Option Plan (the "Directors' Plan"), adopted in December 1995, 420,000 shares of common stock are 
authorized for issuance to nonemployee directors in the form of 60,000 options per director) upon their initial election or appointment to the 
board or, in the case of directors who joined the board prior to the creation of the Directors' Plan, upon the adoption of the Directors' Plan by 
the board of directors. The Directors' Plan, as amended by the board of directors on March 26, 1999 and approved by the stockholders on April 
22, 1999, provides for discretionary option grants. Options become exercisable as follows: (i) 50% of the options become exercisable two years 
after the date of grant, (ii) an additional 25% of the options become exercisable three years after the date of grant, and (iii) the remaining 25% 
of the options become exercisable four years after the date of grant. All options were granted at an exercise price equal to the estimated fair 
value of the common stock at the dates of grant as determined by the board of directors based upon equity transactions and other analyses. The 
options expire ten years from the date of grant.  

NON-QUALIFIED OPTION GRANTS  

In addition to the options granted under the plans described above, EarthLink Network granted non-qualified stock options to certain 
employees, officers and directors. Non-qualified options generally have a maximum term of ten years and generally vest in equal quarterly 
increments over a five-year period.  
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EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONTINUED)  

VALUE OF OPTIONS GRANTED TO EMPLOYEES  

For disclosure purposes, the fair value of all stock options granted is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the 
following weighted average assumptions used for stock options granted:  

 

The following weighted average assumptions were used for stock options granted by MindSpring:  

 

Had compensation cost been determined on the basis of fair value pursuant to SFAS No. 123, net loss attributable to common stockholders and 
net loss attributable to common shareholders per share would have been increased as follows:  

 

WARRANTS  

The Company has issued to certain Board members, consultants, lessors, creditors and others warrants to purchase shares of the Company's 
common stock.  
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                                                     YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                --- ------------------------------  
                                                  1 997        1998        1999 
                                                --- ------   ---------   ---------  
Annual dividends..............................       zero        zero        zero  
Expected volatility...........................        69%         83%         92%  
Risk free interest rate.......................      6.49%       5.28%       5.44%  
Expected life.................................  6.6  years   6.6 years   6.6 years  

                                                     YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                --- ------------------------------  
                                                  1 997        1998        1999 
                                                --- ------   ---------   ---------  
Annual dividends..............................       zero        zero        zero  
Expected volatility...........................        58%         95%         84%  
Risk free interest rate.......................      6.40%       5.30%       5.40%  
Expected life.................................  3.5  years   3.5 years   3.5 years  

                                                    YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                 -- ----------------------------  
                                                   1997       1998       1999 
                                                 -- ------   --------   --------  
                                                     (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT 
                                                        PER SHARE DATA) 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders 
  As reported..................................  $3 3,997    $ 60,779   $187,800  
                                                 == =====    ========   ========  
  Pro forma....................................  $3 6,137    $110,808   $283,090  
                                                 == =====    ========   ========  
Basic and diluted net loss per share 
  As reported..................................  $  0.44    $   0.66   $   1.65  
                                                 == =====    ========   ========  
  Pro forma....................................  $  0.47    $   1.21   $   2.49  
                                                 == =====    ========   ========  



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONTINUED) WARRANTS ISSUED FOR SERVICES  

In January 1997 and October 1997, EarthLink Network issued warrants to purchase 19,000 and 81,000 shares, respectively, of EarthLink 
Network's common stock to certain consultants. The respective exercise prices of the warrants were $4.03 and $5.50. The fair value of the 
warrants is reflected as prepaid consulting fees and amortized ratably over the life of the consulting agreement. Consulting expense recorded 
with respect to warrants issued to consultants was $23,340, $34,836 and $34,836 during 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.  

In March 1997 and October 1997, EarthLink Network issued warrants to purchase 24,225 shares of the Company's common stock to each of 
two new members of the Company's Technology Advisory Council. The warrants have an exercise price of $3.25 per share and $5.50 per 
share, respectively, and vest quarterly over two years. The fair value of the warrants is reflected as deferred professional services expense and 
amortized ratably over the member's two year term of service in the Technology Advisory Council.  

Following is a summary of combined stock option and warrant activity of both EarthLink Network and MindSpring during the three years 
ended December 31, 1999:  

 

The weighted average fair values of the options granted by the Company, during the three years ended December 31, 1999, were $6.93, $16.31 
and $25.76, respectively. The weighted average fair values of  
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                                                     NUMBER OF SHARES 
                                                      OF COMMON STOCK     WEIGHTED  
                                                    -------------------   AVERAGE 
                                                     STOCK                EXERCISE  
                                                    OPTIONS    WARRANTS    PRICE 
                                                    --------   --------   --------  
                                                      (IN THOUSANDS) 
Balance at December 31, 1996......................    8,533      2,751     $ 1.72 
Granted...........................................    2,184        148     $ 3.44 
Exercised.........................................     (548)        --     $ 0.75 
Forfeited.........................................   (1,031)        --     $ 2.37 
                                                     ------     ------     ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1997......................    9,138      2,899     $ 2.05 
Granted...........................................    4,657         12     $17.22 
Exercised.........................................   (2,813)    (1,151)    $ 1.56 
Forfeited.........................................     (545)        --     $ 5.29 
Surrendered in cashless exercise..................      (13)      (240)    $ 5.43 
                                                     ------     ------     ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1998......................   10,424      1,520     $ 7.71 
Granted...........................................    5,801         --     $37.04 
Exercised.........................................   (2,290)      (538)    $ 2.47 
Forfeited.........................................   (1,450)        --     $27.62 
Surrendered in cashless exercise..................       --         (2)    $ 2.51 
                                                     ------     ------     ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1999......................   12,485        980     $14.72 
                                                     ======     ======     ====== 
Exercisable at December 31, 1997..................    2,373      2,703 
                                                     ======     ====== 
Exercisable at December 31, 1998..................    2,251      1,412 
                                                     ======     ====== 
Exercisable at December 31, 1999..................    2,505        913 
                                                     ======     ====== 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONTINUED) warrants granted by during the two years ended December 31, 1998 were $4.00 
and $13.97, respectively. There were no warrants granted in 1999.  

Following is a summary of stock options and warrants outstanding as of December 31, 1999:  

 

11. INCOME TAXES  

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following:  

 

The following table summarizes the significant differences between the U.S. Federal statutory tax rate and the Company's effective tax rate for 
financial statement purposes:  
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                                     OPTIONS AND WA RRANTS OUTSTANDING      OPTIONS AND WARRANTS 
                                   ---------------- --------------------        EXERCISABLE 
                                                  W EIGHTED                ----------------------  
                                                   AVERAGE     WEIGHTED                 WEIGHTED  
                                                  R EMAINING    AVERAGE                  AVERAGE 
            RANGE OF                 NUMBER      CO NTRACTUAL   EXERCISE     NUMBER      EXERCISE  
        EXERCISE PRICES            OUTSTANDING      LIFE        PRICE     EXERCISABLE    PRICE 
--------------------------------   -----------   -- ---------   --------   -----------   --------  
        0.1067           0.5950       986,625        5.61       $ 0.42       889,725      0.42 
        1.0634           1.4985     1,929,827        5.48       $ 1.41     1,194,531      1.39 
        1.5209          42.8019     9,075,250        8.33       $16.74     1,333,658      7.67 
       43.0341          46.2190     1,185,710        9.10       $44.42            --        -- 
       48.6068          51.4375       287,938        9.26       $48.73            --        -- 
                                   ----------                              --------- 
        0.1067          51.4375    13,465,350        7.95       $18.54     3,417,914      3.78 
                                   ==========                              ========= 

                                                           1997        1998       1999 
                                                        ----------   --------   --------  
                                                                 (IN THOUSANDS) 
Current............................................ ...  $      --     $3,000    $ 3,654 
Deferred........................................... ...         --       (606)    (3,654)  
                                                        ----------    ------    ------- 
Income tax provision (benefit)..................... ...  $      --     $2,394    $    -- 
                                                        ==========    ======    ======= 

                                                          DECEMBER 31, 
                                                 -- ---------------------------- 
                                                   1997       1998       1999 
                                                 -- ------   --------   -------- 
Federal income tax (benefit) at statutory 
  rate.........................................  $( 11,899)  $(17,774)  $(60,793)  
State income taxes, net of federal benefit.....      (168)    (3,064)    (8,915)  
Nondeductible expenses.........................        --         54        135 
Nondeductible goodwill.........................        --      4,922      7,735 
Net change to valuation allowance..............    12,067     18,085     62,083 
Other..........................................        --        171       (245)  
                                                 -- ------   --------   -------- 
                                                 $     --   $  2,394   $     -- 
                                                 == ======   ========   ======== 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

11. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) Deferred tax assets and liabilities include the following:  

 

At December 31, 1998 and 1999, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes totaling approximately 
$106.8 million, and $177.7 million, respectively, which begin to expire in 2010. At December 31, 1998 and 1999, the Company had net 
operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes totaling approximately $70.0 million and $90.4 million, respectively, which begin to 
expire in 2001. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, includes provisions which may limit the net operating loss carryforwards 
available for use in any given year if certain events occur, including significant changes in ownership. Due to the Company's merger and other 
issuances of common stock and common stock equivalents, utilization of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards to offset future 
income may be limited. At December 31, 1998 and 1999, the net operating loss includes approximately $24.0 million and $64.0 million, 
respectively, related to the exercise of employee stock options and warrants. Any benefit resulting from the utilization of this portion of the net 
operating loss will be credited directly to equity.  

The Company has recorded a net deferred tax asset to the extent that its current deferred tax assets will reverse within the two year federal net 
operating loss carryback period.  
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                                                            DECEMBER 31, 
                                                       ----------------------- 
                                                         1998         1999 
                                                       --------   ------------ 
                                                           (IN THOUSANDS) 
Deferred tax assets: 
  Net operating loss carryforwards................. ..  $ 42,625   $     67,531 
  Member base...................................... ..        --         31,315 
  Allowance for doubtful accounts.................. ..       657          1,600 
  Deferred income.................................. ..     2,912          6,177 
  Accrued vacation................................. ..       818          1,580 
  Other accrued liabilities........................ ..       211            811 
                                                       --------   ------------ 
  Gross deferred tax assets........................ ..    47,223        109,014 
 
Valuation allowance................................ ..   (29,412)       (95,977)  
                                                       --------   ------------ 
  TOTAL DEFERRED TAX ASSETS........................ ..    17,811         13,037 
 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
  Member base...................................... ..   (13,397)            -- 
  Depreciation and amortization.................... ..    (3,557)        (2,025)  
  Co-branding...................................... ..        --         (6,512)  
  Other............................................ ..      (251)          (240)  
                                                       --------   ------------ 
  TOTAL DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES................... ..   (17,205)        (8,777)  
                                                       --------   ------------ 
  NET DEFERRED TAXES............................... ..  $    606   $      4,260 
                                                       ========   ============ 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

LEASES  

The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable operating leases expiring in various years through 2008. Total 
rent expense in 1997, 1998 and 1999 for all operating leases amounted to $3.3 million, $4.4 million and $12.8 million respectively. The 
Company also leases equipment, primarily data communications equipment, under non-cancelable capital leases. Most of the Company's 
capital leases include purchase options at the end of the lease term.  

During the three years ended December 31, 1999, the Company financed the acquisition of data processing and office equipment amounting to 
approximately $10.5 million, $9.3 million and $13.5 million, respectively, by entering into a number of leases and agreements for the sale and 
leaseback of equipment. The saleleaseback transactions are recorded at cost, which approximates the fair market value of the property and, 
therefore, no gains or losses have been recorded. The property remains on the books and continues to be depreciated. A financing obligation 
representing the proceeds is recorded and reduced based upon payments under the lease agreement.  

The Company maintains facilities and offices at various locations throughout the United States for general corporate purposes, including 
technology centers, member call centers, office space and headquarters.  

All operating leases include scheduled base rent increases over the respective lease terms. The total amount of base rent payments is being 
charged to expense on the straight-line method over the terms of the leases. In addition to base rent payments, the Company pays a monthly 
allocation of the buildings' operating expenses. The Company has recorded a deferred rent liability to reflect the excess of rent expense over 
cash payments since the inception of the leases.  

Minimum lease commitments under non-cancelable leases at December 31, 1999 are as follows:  
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YEAR ENDING                                               CAPITAL    OPERATING  
DECEMBER 31,                                               LEASES     LEASES 
------------                                              --------   ---------  
                                                             (IN THOUSANDS) 
2000............................................... .....  $ 13,096   $ 14,656 
2001............................................... .....     6,844     16,705 
2002............................................... .....     2,408     17,748 
2003............................................... .....        54     17,180 
2004............................................... .....        --     14,043 
Thereafter......................................... .....        --     38,783 
                                                          --------   -------- 
Total minimum lease payments....................... .....    22,402   $119,115 
                                                                     ======== 
Less amount representing interest.................. .....    (2,286) 
                                                          -------- 
Present value of future lease payments............. .....    20,116 
Less current portion............................... .....   (11,724) 
                                                          -------- 
                                                          $  8,392 
                                                          ======== 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS  

Access to the Internet for members outside of areas served by the Company's owned network is provided through points of presence ("POP") 
capacity leased from third party providers. EarthLink is, in effect, buying this capacity in bulk at a discount, and providing access to 
EarthLink's member base at EarthLink's normal rates. At December 31, 1999, $1 million and $3.9 million in amounts due to Level 3 and 
Sprint, respectively, were recorded in accounts payable and $7.2 million and $7.5 million in amounts due to UUNET and PSINet, respectively, 
were recorded in other accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  

Minimum commitments under non-cancelable network service agreements from UUNET, GTE Internetworking Incorporated and PSINet are 
as follows:  

 

13. PROFIT SHARING PLAN  

Effective January 1997, EarthLink Network implemented a profit sharing plan (the "Plan") pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue 
code, whereby participants may contribute a percentage of compensation, but not in excess of the maximum allowed under the Code. EarthLink 
Network makes a discretionary matching contribution of 25% up to a maximum of 6% of the participant's total eligible compensation. The 
Company's matching contributions vest over four years from the participant's date of hire. Total contributions for 1997, 1998 and 1999 were 
$84,000, $285,000, and $389,000 respectively.  

Prior to the merger with EarthLink Network, MindSpring had a savings plan (the "Savings Plan") that qualified as a deferred salary 
arrangement under  
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under the Savings Plan, participating employees may defer a portion of their pretax earnings, up 
to the Internal Revenue Service annual contribution limit. The Company did not make any matching contributions to the Savings Plan.  
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YEAR ENDING 
DECEMBER 31,                                                  IN MILLIONS  
------------                                                  -----------  
2000............................................... .........    $ 68.0 
2001............................................... .........      66.9 
2002............................................... .........      41.4 
                                                                ------ 
Total.............................................. .........    $176.3 
                                                                ====== 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

14. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION  

 

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

Mr. Cambell Lanier is a stockholder and member of the Board of Directors of both EarthLink Inc. and ITC Holding. ITC Holdings holds 10.7 
million shares of EarthLink Inc. common stock as of December 31, 1999. The Company has entered into certain business relationships with 
several subsidiaries and affiliates of ITC Holding Company, Inc. ("ITC Holding"). Except as noted below, none of these transactions were 
material for the periods presented.  

The Company purchases long-distance telephone services and wide area network transport service from ITC DeltaCom, Inc. (ITC DeltaCom"), 
a related party through relationships with ITC Holding. Long-distance charges from ITC DeltaCom totaled approximately $1,942,000, 
$3,672,000 and $9,540,000 for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.  

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

In January 2000, the Company entered into a multi-year partnership to deliver services to customers of Apple Computer Corporation in the 
U.S. Under the terms of the partnership, EarthLink will become the exclusive default ISP in Apple's Internet Setup Software included with all 
Apple Macintosh-Registered Trademark-computers sold in the U.S. In addition, Apple purchased 7,083,333 shares of Series C convertible 
preferred stock for $200 million. Apple has the right to appoint a member to EarthLink's Board of Directors.  

On February 4, 2000, EarthLink Network and MindSpring merged into EarthLink, Inc. in a transaction accounted for as tax-free reorganization 
under Section 368 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and as a "pooling-of-interests" transaction. Each outstanding share of 
EarthLink Network securities was exchanged for 1.615 shares of the equivalent securities of the new company and each outstanding share of 
MindSpring securities was exchanged for one share of the equivalent securities of the new Company. In connection with the merger, the new 
company assumed EarthLink Network's alliance agreements with Sprint. As a result, Sprint has the right, among others, to appoint up to two 
(2) representatives to the new company's board of directors provided Sprint holds 20% or more of EarthLink's fully diluted outstanding stock, 
to appoint one representative to the new company's board of directors provided Sprint holds 10% or more of EarthLink's fully diluted 
outstanding stock and to purchase additional shares of equity securities in the new company in order to maintain, but not exceed, a 27.8%  
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                                                        YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                     ------------------------------  
                                                       1997       1998       1999 
                                                     --------   --------   --------  
                                                             (IN THOUSANDS) 
Cash paid during the year for interest.............    $2,714     $2,991    $ 7,776 
Cash paid during the year for income taxes.........         1        435      6,581 
Non cash transactions related to the conversion 
  of notes payable to equity.......................       725      5,043         -- 
Common stock subscription..........................        --      1,041         -- 
Non cash adjustments related to accretion 
  dividends........................................        --      7,601     14,106 
Common stock issued in conjunction with 
  acquisition......................................        --         --     30,000 
Assets acquired under capital lease................     8,443         --         -- 
Noncash accrual for acquired subscriber base.......    $   --     $7,000    $    -- 



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO SUPPLEMENTAL COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (CONTINUED) ownership level. The new Company has also assumed MindSpring's outstanding 5% convertible 
subordinated notes and the indentures pursuant to which the notes were issued. The merger has given rise to the MindSpring noteholders' right 
to have the new company repurchase the notes at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued interest to the date of repurchase. Under the 
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, any notes presented for repurchase will only be repurchased for cash. Accordingly, the Company 
extended an offer to purchase the notes for cash as of April 7, 2000. If all holders exercise this option, the payment will be $184.3 million plus 
interest.  

In February 2000, Sprint exercised its preemptive rights to maintain its ownership in the Company after the aforementioned purchase of shares 
by Apple Computer corporation. Accordingly, Sprint purchased 2.7 million shares of which 682,000 were common stock and 2.0 million were 
series B convertible preferred stock.  

17. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)  

The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly supplemental financial data for the eight quarters ended December 31, 1999. In the 
opinion of the Company's management, this unaudited information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited Supplemental financial 
statements contained herein and includes all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the 
information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the supplemental combined financial Statements and Notes thereto. The operating 
results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.  

 

(1) Reflects the accretion of Liquidation Dividends on Series A and B convertible preferred stock at 3% compounded quarterly and the 
accretion of a dividend related to the beneficial conversion feature in accordance with EITF D-60.  

(2) Each outstanding share of EarthLink Network common stock was exchanged for 1.615 shares of the common stock of the new company 
and each outstanding share of MindSpring common stock was exchanged for one share of the common stock of the new company. See Note 1 
of Notes to Supplemental Combined Financial Statements for an explanation of the determination of the number of weighted average shares 
outstanding in the net loss per share computation.  
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                                            MAR. 31     JUN. 30    SEPT. 30   DEC. 31    MAR. 31    JUN . 30    SEPT. 30   DEC. 31 
                                              1998       1998       1998       1998       1999       1 999       1999       1999 
                                            ------- -   --------   --------   --------   --------   --- -----   --------   -------- 
                                                                    (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DA TA) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
Revenues:.................................  $51,210     $ 63,050   $ 78,519   $ 97,835   $129,871   $16 3,664   $177,753   $199,145 
Operating costs and expenses:.............   56,097       72,879     95,473    120,620    161,493    20 4,859    232,980    266,781 
Loss from operations......................   (4,887 )     (9,829)   (16,954)   (22,785)   (31,622)   (4 1,195)   (55,227)   (67,636)  
Deductions for accretion dividends (1)....       --       (1,054)    (3,276)    (3,271)    (3,646)    ( 3,627)    (3,404)    (3,429)  
                                            -------     --------   --------   --------   --------   --- -----   --------   -------- 
Net loss attributable to common 
  stockholders............................  $(5,919 )   $(11,464)  $(18,542)  $(24,854)  $(31,403)  $(3 9,685)  $(52,529)  $(64,183)  
                                            =======     ========   ========   ========   ========   === =====   ========   ======== 
Basic and diluted net loss per share 
  (2).....................................  $ (0.07 )   $  (0.13)  $  (0.19)  $  (0.25)  $  (0.29)  $  (0.35)  $  (0.45)  $  (0.55)  
                                            =======     ========   ========   ========   ========   === =====   ========   ======== 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS  

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of EarthLink, Inc.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations, of stockholders' equity 
(deficit) and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of EarthLink Network, Inc. and its subsidiary at 
December 31, 1998 and 1999, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States which require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.  

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP  

Century City, California  
March 15, 2000  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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                                                                  DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              --------------------- 
                                                                1998        1999 
                                                              ---------   --------- 
                                                                 (IN THOUSANDS) 
                                      ASSETS 
Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents........................ .........  $ 140,864   $ 308,579 
  Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $405,000  and 
    $925,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1999, respect ively....      4,779      10,750 
  Prepaid expenses................................. .........      4,324      15,105 
  Other assets..................................... .........        598       8,916 
                                                              ---------   --------- 
    Total current assets........................... .........    150,565     343,350 
Investments in other companies..................... .........         --       4,000 
Other long-term assets............................. .........        564       1,400 
Property and equipment, net (Notes 1 and 5)........ .........     35,206      59,852 
Intangibles, net (Note 6).......................... .........     80,006      14,873 
                                                              ---------   --------- 
                                                              $ 266,341   $ 423,475 
                                                              =========   ========= 
 
                       LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
  Trade accounts payable........................... .........  $  14,818   $  15,813 
  Accrued payroll and related expenses............. .........      8,934      11,350 
  Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities... .........     20,372      36,661 
  Current portion of capital lease obligations (Not e 12)....      8,341       9,365 
  Deferred revenue................................. .........      8,831      15,489 
                                                              ---------   --------- 
    Total current liabilities...................... .........     61,296      88,678 
Long-term debt (Note 12)........................... .........      7,701       8,259 
                                                              ---------   --------- 
    Total liabilities.............................. .........     68,997      96,937 
 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12) 
 
Stockholders' equity: 
  Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 25,000,000 shar es 
    authorized, Series A convertible, 4,102,941 sha res 
    issued and outstanding December 31, 1998 and 19 99 
    (Notes 8 and 9)................................ .........         41          41 
  Series B convertible, nil and 606,155 shares issu ed and 
    outstanding December 31, 1998 and 1999, respect ively 
    (Notes 8 and 9)................................ .........                      6 
  Common stock, $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares 
    authorized, 29,069,827 and 32,951,017 shares is sued and 
    outstanding at December 31, 1998 and 1999, 
    respectively................................... .........        291         329 
  Stock subscriptions receivable................... .........     (1,041) 
  Additional paid-in capital....................... .........    330,911     581,494 
  Warrants to purchase common stock (Note 10)...... .........        597         477 
  Accumulated deficit.............................. .........   (133,455)   (255,809)  
                                                              ---------   --------- 
    Total stockholders' equity..................... .........    197,344     326,538 
                                                              ---------   --------- 
                                                              $ 266,341   $ 423,475 
                                                              =========   ========= 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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                                                                     YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              -------------------------------------  
                                                                 1997         1998         1999 
                                                              ----------   ----------   -----------  
                                                              (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)  
Revenues: 
  Narrowband access................................ .........   $ 74,228     $161,009     $ 310,868 
  Web Hosting...................................... .........      5,202        7,537        11,554 
  Broadband........................................ .........      1,143        3,285         6,756 
  Content, commerce and advertising................ .........        315        4,110        13,110 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
    Total revenues................................. .........     80,888      175,941       342,288 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
 
Operating costs and expenses: 
  Cost of revenues................................. .........     38,065       77,223       132,679 
  Sales and marketing.............................. .........     25,971       42,837       125,992 
  General and administrative....................... .........     14,699       21,720        38,010 
  Operations and member support.................... .........     30,607       53,765       104,842 
  Acquisition-related costs (Note 6)............... .........         --       42,635        65,072 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
    Total operating costs and expenses............. .........    109,342      238,180       466,595 
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
Loss from operations............................... .........    (28,454)     (62,239)     (124,307)  
Interest income.................................... .........        637        4,424        17,334 
Interest expense................................... .........     (2,099)      (1,967)       (1,275)  
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
    Net loss....................................... .........    (29,916)     (59,782)     (108,248)  
Deductions for accretion dividends (Note 9)........ .........         --       (7,601)      (14,106)  
                                                               --------     --------     --------- 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders....... .........   $(29,916)    $(67,383)    $(122,354)  
                                                               ========     ========     ========= 
Basic and diluted net loss per share............... .........   $  (1.50)    $  (2.58)    $   (3.81)  
                                                               ========     ========     ========= 
Weighted average shares............................ .........     20,002       26,157        32,133 
                                                               ========     ========     ========= 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

                                       PREFERRED ST OCK        COMMON STOCK           STOCK       ADDIT IONAL 
                                     -------------- -----   -------------------   SUBSCRIPTIONS    PAID -IN 
                                      SHARES     AM OUNT     SHARES     AMOUNT     RECEIVABLE      CAPI TAL     WARRANTS 
                                     --------   --- -----   --------   --------   -------------   ----- -----   ---------  
                                                                       (IN THOUSANDS) 
Balance at December 31, 1996.......                         12,045      $120                      $ 14 ,176     $  599 
Initial public offering, net of 
  expenses.........................                          4,570        46                        26 ,180 
Conversion of redeemable preferred 
  stock into common stock..........                          2,727        27                        13 ,986 
Conversion of debt to common 
  stock............................                            112         1                           724 
Issuance of common stock in 
  connection with private 
  placement........................                          2,920        30                        15 ,379 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                            127         1                           384 
Warrants issued in exchange for 
  services (Note 10)...............                                                                               494 
Net loss........................... 
                                      -----       - --       ------      ----        -------       ---- ----     ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1997.......                         22,501       225                        70 ,829      1,093 
Issuance of Series A convertible 
  preferred stock (Note 7).........   4,103       $ 41                                              134 ,959 
Accretion of convertible preferred 
  stock............................                                                                  7 ,601 
Follow on offering, net of expenses 
  (Note 7).........................                          3,763        38                       106 ,271 
Conversion of debt to common 
  stock............................                            783         8                         5 ,035 
Issuance of common stock for 
  services.........................                             20                                     130 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                          1,224        12                         3 ,647 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of warrants..........                            761         8                         1 ,398       (647) 
Warrants issued in conjunction with 
  marketing agreement..............                                                                                91 
Warrants issued in exchange for 
  services (Note 10)...............                                                                                60 
Issuance of notes receivable from 
  stock sales......................                             18                  $(1,041)         1 ,041 
Net loss........................... 
                                      -----       - --       ------      ----        -------       ---- ----     ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1998.......   4,103        41       29,070       291         (1,041)       330 ,911        597 
Issuance of Series B convertible 
  preferred stock (Note 7).........     606         6                                               42 ,616 
Accretion of convertible preferred 
  stock............................                                                                 14 ,106 
Follow on offering, net of expenses 
  (Note 7).........................                          2,615        26                       183 ,073 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                            927         9                        10 ,264 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of warrants..........                            339         3                           524       (120) 
Collection of notes receivable from 
  stock sales......................                                                   1,041 
Net loss........................... 
                                      -----       - --       ------      ----        -------       ---- ----     ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1999.......   4,709       $ 47       32,951      $329        $    --       $581 ,494     $  477 
                                      =====       = ==       ======      ====        =======       ==== ====     ====== 
 
                                                        TOTAL 
                                     ACCUMULATED    STOCKHOLDERS' 
                                       DEFICIT         EQUITY 
                                     ------------   ------------- 
                                            (IN THO USANDS) 
Balance at December 31, 1996.......   $ (36,156)      $ (21,261) 
Initial public offering, net of 
  expenses.........................                      26,226 
Conversion of redeemable preferred 
  stock into common stock..........                      14,013 
Conversion of debt to common 
  stock............................                         725 
Issuance of common stock in 
  connection with private 
  placement........................                      15,409 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                         385 
Warrants issued in exchange for 
  services (Note 10)...............                         494 
Net loss...........................     (29,916)        (29,916) 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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                                      ---------       --------- 
Balance at December 31, 1997.......     (66,072)          6,075 
Issuance of Series A convertible 
  preferred stock (Note 7).........                     135,000 
Accretion of convertible preferred 
  stock............................      (7,601) 
Follow on offering, net of expenses 
  (Note 7).........................                     106,309 
Conversion of debt to common 
  stock............................                       5,043 
Issuance of common stock for 
  services.........................                         130 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                       3,659 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of warrants..........                         759 
Warrants issued in conjunction with 
  marketing agreement..............                          91 
Warrants issued in exchange for 
  services (Note 10)...............                          60 
Issuance of notes receivable from 
  stock sales...................... 
Net loss...........................     (59,782)        (59,782) 
                                      ---------       --------- 
Balance at December 31, 1998.......    (133,455)        197,344 
Issuance of Series B convertible 
  preferred stock (Note 7).........                      42,622 
Accretion of convertible preferred 
  stock............................     (14,106) 
Follow on offering, net of expenses 
  (Note 7).........................                     183,099 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of stock options.....                      10,273 
Issuance of common stock pursuant 
  to exercise of warrants..........                         407 
Collection of notes receivable from 
  stock sales......................                       1,041 
Net loss...........................    (108,248)       (108,248) 
                                      ---------       --------- 
Balance at December 31, 1999.......   $(255,809)      $ 326,538 
                                      =========       ========= 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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                                                                  YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                              ------------------------------- 
                                                                1997       1998       1999 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
                                                                      (IN THOUSANDS) 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Net loss......................................... .........  $(29,916)  $(59,782)  $(108,248)  
  Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (us ed in) 
    provided by operating activities, net of effect  from 
    acquisition: 
    Depreciation and amortization.................. .........     9,377     54,726      86,175 
    Loss on sale of assets......................... .........                               31 
    Issuance of common stock in exchange for profes sional 
      services..................................... .........                  130 
    Issuance of warrants in exchange for profession al 
      services..................................... .........       494         60 
    Increase in net accounts receivable............ .........      (796)    (2,260)     (5,791)  
    Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets.. .........       203     (3,176)    (19,935)  
    (Decrease) increase in accounts payable and acc rued 
      liabilities.................................. .........    (2,232)    31,658      19,700 
    Increase in deferred revenue................... .........     1,580      5,241       6,658 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities .........   (21,290)    26,597     (21,410)  
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Purchase of property and equipment............... .........   (14,528)   (24,316)    (47,315)  
  Sale of property and equipment................... .........                            1,416 
  Purchase of intangible assets.................... .........    (1,404)        (9) 
  Transaction costs................................ .........               (9,914) 
  Cash acquired from acquisition................... .........               23,750 
  Investments in other companies................... .........                           (4,000)  
  Purchase of restricted short-term investment..... .........      (200) 
  Liquidation of restricted short-term investment.. .........        37      1,250 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
    Net cash used in investing activities.......... .........   (16,095)    (9,239)    (49,899)  
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Proceeds from issuance of notes payable.......... .........     4,387        200 
  Repayment of notes payable....................... .........    (2,225)    (4,583) 
  Proceeds from capital lease obligations.......... .........    10,544      9,275      13,456 
  Principal payments under capital lease obligation s........    (4,884)    (8,563)    (11,874)  
  Proceeds from private placement of common stock.. .........    15,409 
  Proceeds from public stock offerings............. .........    26,226    106,309     225,721 
  Proceeds from warrants exercised................. .........                  759         407 
  Proceeds from stock options exercised............ .........       385      3,659      10,273 
  Proceeds from liquidation of stock subscription 
    receivable..................................... .........                            1,041 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
    Net cash provided by financing activities...... .........    49,842    107,056     239,024 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents.......... .........    12,457    124,414     167,715 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year....... .........     3,993     16,450     140,864 
                                                              --------   --------   --------- 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year............. .........  $ 16,450   $140,864   $ 308,579 
                                                              ========   ========   ========= 
Acquisition, net of cash acquired (Note 2): 
  Issuance of convertible preferred stock.......... .........             $135,000 
  Transaction costs................................ .........                9,914 
  Intangible assets................................ .........             (121,164) 
                                                                         -------- 
  Cash acquired from acquisition................... .........             $ 23,750 
                                                                         ======== 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

ORGANIZATION  

EarthLink Network, Inc. ("EarthLink Network") is an Internet service provider that was formed to help members derive meaningful benefits 
from the extensive resources of the Internet.  

EarthLink Network has experienced operating losses since inception as a result of efforts to build its network infrastructure and internal 
staffing, develop its systems, and expand into new markets. EarthLink Network expects that it will continue to incur net losses as it continues 
to expend substantial resources on sales and marketing as it attempts to rapidly increase its market share. There can be no assurance that 
EarthLink Network will achieve or sustain profitability or positive cash flow from its operations.  

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of EarthLink Network, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary EarthLink Operations, 
Inc. (Note  
2). All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.  

REVENUES  

Narrowband access revenues consists of monthly fees charged to members for dial-up Internet access. Web hosting revenues consists of fees 
earned by leasing server space and providing web services to companies and individuals wishing to present a web or e-commerce presence. 
Broadband access revenues consists of fees charged for high-speed, high-capacity access services including cable, and DSL services. Content, 
commerce and advertising revenues are derived from advertising, content and electronic commerce fees that leverage the value of EarthLink 
Network's member base and user traffic. All revenues are recorded as earned.  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

All short-term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition are classified as cash 
equivalents.  

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND DEFERRED REVENUES  

EarthLink Network bills for Internet service generally one month in advance. Accordingly, these non-cancelable advanced billings are included 
in both accounts receivable and deferred revenue.  

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK  

Financial instruments that potentially subject EarthLink Network to concentrations or credit risk consist principally of cash investments and 
trade receivables. EarthLink Network's cash investment policies limit investments to short-term, investment grade instruments. Concentrations 
of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the large number of members comprising EarthLink Network's member base.  

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets, which is 
generally three years for computers and computer related  
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EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) equipment and five years for other non-computer furniture 
and equipment. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated lives or the term of the 
lease, ranging from one to ten years.  

EQUIPMENT UNDER CAPITAL LEASE  

EarthLink Network leases certain of its data communications and other equipment under capital lease agreements. The assets and liabilities 
under capital lease are recorded at the lesser of the present value of aggregate future minimum lease payments, including estimated bargain 
purchase options, or the fair value of the assets under lease. Assets under capital lease are depreciated over the lesser of their estimated useful 
lives of three to five years or the term of the lease.  

INTANGIBLES  

Intangible assets consist primarily of rights to member lists, long-term marketing agreements, goodwill, deferred financing and other items. 
The costs assigned to intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range 
from one to ten years. EarthLink Network regularly reviews the recoverability of intangible assets based on estimated undiscounted future cash 
flows from operating activities compared with the carrying values of the intangibles.  

ADVERTISING AND MEMBER ACQUISITION COSTS  

Advertising and member acquisition costs are included in sales and marketing. Such costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were 
$5.1 million, $8.8 million and $40.6 million in 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.  

INCOME TAXES  

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on 
differences between the financial reporting basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws 
that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.  

NET LOSS PER SHARE  

EarthLink Network adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 128, "Earnings per Share" (EPS) and Staff Accounting 
Bulletin (SAB) No. 98. SAB No. 98 states that companies, such as EarthLink, that completed an initial public offering ("IPO") within the past 5 
years and incorporated the SAB No. 83 concept of "cheap stock" in determining pre-IPO EPS data must restate all EPS data to conform to 
SFAS No. 128. Accordingly, all EPS data have been restated to conform to SFAS No. 128. SFAS No. 128 requires a dual presentation of basic 
and diluted EPS. Basic EPS represents the weighted average number of shares divided into net income during a reported period. Diluted EPS 
reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common 
stock. However, EarthLink Network did not include potential common stock in the calculation of EPS since inception as such inclusion would 
have an anti-dilutive effect.  
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EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) USE OF ESTIMATES IN PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  

COMMON STOCK BASED COMPENSATION  

EarthLink Network continues to account for its employee stock based compensation using the intrinsic value method in accordance with the 
provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and provides pro forma 
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (Note 9), as if the measurement provisions of SFAS No. 123 had been adopted.  

RECLASSIFICATION  

Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.  

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS  

On December 3, 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 ("SAB 101"), "Revenue 
Recognition in Financial Statements," which summarizes certain of the Staff's views in applying generally accepted accounting principles to 
revenue recognition in financial statements. The Staff is providing this guidance due, in part, to the large number of revenue recognition issues 
that registrants encounter. The application of SAB 101 to revenue recognition is not expected to have a material effect on Earthlink Network's 
consolidated statement of operations.  

2. STRATEGIC ALLIANCE WITH SPRINT CORPORATION  

On February 10, 1998, EarthLink Network entered into certain agreements to establish a broad strategic relationship (the "Strategic Alliance") 
with Sprint Corporation ("Sprint") in the area of consumer Internet access and related services. In connection with the Strategic Alliance, on 
June 5, 1998, Sprint consummated a tender offer for 2.5 million shares of EarthLink Network's common stock at a price per share of $22.50 in 
cash to each tendering stockholder (the "Offer"). Immediately following the closing of the Offer, Sprint received approximately 4.1 million 
shares of the EarthLink Network's Series A convertible preferred stock which has been valued at $135 million, in exchange for  
(i) transfer to the EarthLink Network of Sprint's approximately 130,000 Sprint Internet Passport subscribers, (ii) aggregate cash consideration 
of approximately $24 million and (iii) the exclusive right to use certain ports within Sprint's high-speed data network for four years. EarthLink 
Network and Sprint also entered into a Marketing and Distribution Agreement which includes a commitment by Sprint to deliver a minimum of 
150,000 new subscribers per year for five years through its own channels, EarthLink Network's right to be Sprint's exclusive provider of 
consumer Internet access services for at least ten years and the right to use Sprint's brand and distribution network for at least ten years. Sprint 
has also provided EarthLink Network with a credit facility currently totaling $50 million (increasing to $100 million by June 2001) in the form 
of  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

2. STRATEGIC ALLIANCE WITH SPRINT CORPORATION (CONTINUED) convertible senior debt. Collectively, the above is referenced 
to as the "Sprint Transaction". The series A convertible preferred stock received by Sprint is convertible into 8.2 million shares of EarthLink 
Network common stock at December 31, 1999 assuming acceleration of certain rights.  

In connection with the Sprint Transaction, a newly-formed company, "EarthLink Operations, Inc.," was formed and became a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the EarthLink Network Inc. All references in these financial statements to EarthLink Network relate, collectively, to both 
EarthLink Network, Inc., and EarthLink Operations, Inc.  

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31 1998, assumes the acquisition of the 
Sprint Internet Passport business on January 1, 1998. These pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and do not 
purport to be indicative of the results of operations that actually would have resulted had the acquisition occurred on the date indicated, or 
which may result in the future.  

 

3. PREPAID EXPENSES  

Prepaid expenses consist of:  

 

4. INVESTMENTS IN OTHER COMPANIES  

In July 1999, EarthLink Network committed to invest in eCompanies Venture Group, LP, ("EVG"), a limited partnership formed to invest in 
domestic emerging growth companies. Mr. Sky Dayton is a member of the EarthLink Network board of directors and a founding partner in 
EVG. In 1999 EarthLink Network invested $4.0 million in EVG and has committed to invest an additional $6.0 million. The investment is 
accounted for under the cost method of accounting as EarthLink Network does not have the ability to  
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                                                      YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998 
                                                  - ------------------------------------  
                                                  ( IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)  
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
Total revenues...................................               $ 187,063 
Net loss.........................................                 (98,022) 
Deductions for accretion dividends (Note 9)......                 (13,126) 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders.....                (111,148) 
 
Basic and diluted net loss per share.............               $   (4.25) 

                                                                DECEMBER 31, 
                                                             -------------------  
                                                               1998       1999 
                                                             --------   --------  
                                                               (IN THOUSANDS) 
Prepaid advertising................................ ........   $   16    $ 9,661 
Deferred transaction costs......................... ........      177      1,631 
Prepaid maintenance and support fees............... ........    1,579      1,703 
Prepaid communications costs....................... ........    1,285        593 
Other.............................................. ........    1,267      1,517 
                                                              ------    ------- 
                                                              $4,324    $15,105 
                                                              ======    ======= 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

4. INVESTMENTS IN OTHER COMPANIES (CONTINUED) exercise significant influence over the partnership's operating or financial 
policies. Any distributions of earnings from the partnership will be recorded as income when declared.  

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

Property and equipment consist of:  

 

Property under capital lease, primarily data communications equipment included above, aggregated $31.7 million and $33.3 million at 
December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively. Included in accumulated depreciation and amortization are amounts related to property under 
capital lease of $15.7 million and $20.0 million at December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively. Depreciation expense charged to operations was 
$8.5 million, $12.5 million and $21.0 million in 1997, 1998, and 1999, respectively.  

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

Intangible assets consist of:  

 

Intangible assets acquired in acquisition of the Sprint Internet Passport are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives. The member base and goodwill, which represents the excess of consideration over the fair value of net asserts acquired, were fully 
amortized as of December 31, 1999. The Marketing and Distribution Agreement is being amortized over 5 and 10 years which represents the 
life of the portion of the contract related to Sprint's provision of additional members and the overall contract life relative to the co-branding 
feature, respectively.  
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                                                             DECEMBER 31, 
                                                          ------------------- 
                                                            1998       1999 
                                                          --------   -------- 
                                                            (IN THOUSANDS) 
Data center equipment.............................. .....  $ 27,285   $ 41,538 
Office and other equipment......................... .....    23,852     41,403 
Leasehold improvements............................. .....     8,771     12,488 
Construction in progress........................... .....       541      4,526 
                                                          --------   -------- 
                                                            60,449     99,955 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization..... .....   (25,243)   (40,103)  
                                                          --------   -------- 
                                                          $ 35,206   $ 59,852 
                                                          ========   ======== 

                                                             DECEMBER 31, 
                                                         -------------------- 
                                                           1998       1999 
                                                         --------   --------- 
                                                            (IN THOUSANDS) 
Member base........................................ ....  $ 65,000   $  65,000 
Marketing and distribution agreement............... ....    20,000      20,000 
Goodwill........................................... ....    36,164      36,164 
Other.............................................. ....       255         104 
                                                         --------   --------- 
                                                          121,419     121,268 
Less accumulated amortization...................... ....   (41,413)   (106,395)  
                                                         --------   --------- 
                                                         $ 80,006   $  14,873 
                                                         ========   ========= 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

7. CAPITAL STOCK AND MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE EQUITY SECURITIES  

FOLLOW ON PUBLIC OFFERINGS  

In June 1998, EarthLink Network completed a follow on public offering of 3.8 million shares of its common stock at $30.00 per share. The 
offering consisted of 3.0 million shares, including 490,000 shares sold to Sprint in accordance with its preemptive rights under the Sprint 
Alliance, and an underwriter's over-allotment of 720,000 shares. Net proceeds to EarthLink Network were approximately $106.3 million.  

In January 1999 EarthLink Network completed a follow on public offering of 2.4 million shares of its common stock at $73.63 per share. The 
offering consisted of 2.3 million shares and an underwriter's over-allotment of 99,000 shares exercised in February 1999. Net proceeds to 
EarthLink Network were approximately $170 million. In conjunction with the offering, Sprint exercised its preemptive rights to maintain its 
existing ownership level in EarthLink Network of approximately 27%, of which 10% is voting common stock. Accordingly, Sprint purchased 
770,000 shares of EarthLink Network securities which 192,000 were common stock and 578,000 were series B convertible preferred stock. 
Proceeds from the sale of shares to Sprint were $54.1 million.  

In February 1999, Sprint exercised its preemptive rights to maintain its ownership in EarthLink Network after the exercise of the underwriter's 
over-allotment granted in connection with the aforementioned follow on public offering. Accordingly, Sprint purchased 38,000 shares of which 
9,000 were common stock and 28,000 were series B convertible preferred stock. Series A convertible preferred stock was issued prior to 
EarthLink Network's 2 for one stock split in July 1999. Accordingly, each share of Series A convertible preferred stock is convertible into two 
shares of EarthLink Network's common stock assuming acceleration of certain rights. Series B convertible preferred stock has the same rights 
and privileges as series A convertible preferred stock shares, as described in Note 8, except that each share is convertible into one share of 
EarthLink Network's common stock. Proceeds from the sale of stock to Sprint were $2.7 million.  

COMMON STOCK ISSUANCES FOR OTHER THAN CASH  

In January 1998, EarthLink Network issued 20,000 shares of its common stock to a Consultant in lieu of cash for services provided pursuant to 
a consulting agreement. The fair value of the shares was recorded as prepaid professional services and amortized ratably over the term of the 
contract. Under this agreement EarthLink Network issued 20,000 additional shares of its common stock in January 1999.  

8. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK  

All issued and outstanding shares of Series A and B convertible preferred stock are held by Sprint (Note 2).  

The series A and B convertible preferred stockholders receive dividends at a rate per annum of 3% of the Liquidation Value (as defined below), 
compounded quarterly. For a period of five years from June 1998, such dividends are payable "in kind" by way of an increase in the 
Liquidation Value of the shares. Beginning in June 2003, holders of Series A convertible preferred stock will receive cumulative quarterly cash 
dividends of 3% annually. Beginning in June 2018, holders of the series A convertible preferred stock are entitled to cumulative quarterly cash 
dividends at an 8% annual rate of the Liquidation Value per share, increasing annually to a maximum rate of 12%.  

Upon voluntary or involuntary liquidation or winding up of EarthLink Network the holders of series A and B convertible preferred stock will 
receive, prior to any payment or distribution in respect of other  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

8. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK (CONTINUED) shares of EarthLink Network's capital stock, an amount per share equal to the 
average market value of the common stock measured over the thirty day period ended on the June 5, 1998 (the "Average Stock Price"), plus all 
accrued and unpaid dividends on such share, whether in cash or in kind (such amount, the "Liquidation Value").  

Each share of series A and B convertible preferred stock is convertible into such number of shares of common stock as is determined by 
dividing the Liquidation Value by the "Conversion Price" in effect at such time. For the five year period following June 1998, the Conversion 
Price is equal to the Average Stock Price multiplied by 116.118%. Thereafter, the Conversion Price is increased annually by 6%, accruable 
quarterly. The Conversion Price is also subject to adjustment based on changes in capitalization of the common stock. Although conversion of 
the series A and B convertible preferred stock is at the holder's option, conversion is required in the event EarthLink Network consummates 
certain business combination transactions.  

Beginning in June 2001, EarthLink Network may elect to redeem the outstanding shares of series A and B convertible preferred stock at a 
redemption price per share equal to the Liquidation Value of such shares, including the acceleration of certain dividends, multiplied by a 
specified percentage. The specified percentage is initially equal to 103%, and will be reduced by 1% annually in each of the subsequent three 
years, and thereafter will be equal to 100%.  

The series A and B convertible preferred stockholders do not possess general voting rights together with holders of common stock. However, 
the Series A and B convertible preferred stockholders are separately entitled to elect two of EarthLink Network's directors. This right 
terminates as to one of the directors if Sprint fails to maintain at least a 20% equity interest in EarthLink Network (on a fully diluted basis, 
subject to adjustment) for any three consecutive months, and will terminate as to both of the directors if Sprint fails to maintain at least a 10% 
equity interest over the same period. A separate vote of 66.67% of the then-outstanding shares of series A and B convertible preferred stock is 
required in certain limited situations, including liquidation, dissolution or winding up of EarthLink Network, or taking certain actions which 
would adversely affect the rights of the holders of the series A and B convertible preferred stock as a class.  

9. DEDUCTIONS FOR DIVIDENDS ON CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK  

Dividends on convertible preferred stock are reflected as an increase to net loss attributable to common stockholders. This adjustment reflects 
the liquidation dividend of $8.8 million based on a 3% dividend (Note 8) and the accretion of a $5.3 million dividend related to the beneficial 
conversion feature of the series A and B convertible preferred stock in accordance with EITF Topic No. D-60 based upon the rate at which the 
preferred stock becomes convertible.  

10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS  

1995 STOCK OPTION PLAN  

In September 1995, EarthLink Network established the EarthLink Network 1995 Stock Option Plan (the "1995 Plan"). The 1995 Plan provides 
for the grant of incentive stock options to purchase shares of common stock to employees of EarthLink Network and non-qualified stock 
options to employees, officers, directors and consultants of EarthLink Network. During 1999, the Plan was amended to increase the number of 
available options from 5,700,000 to 7,700,000. The Plan is administered by a committee  
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10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONTINUED) appointed by the Board of Directors which determines the terms of the options 
granted, including the exercise price, the number of shares subject to option, and the option vesting period. The exercise price of all options 
granted under the plan must be at least 100% of the fair market value on the date of grant. Options generally have a maximum term of ten years 
and vest in equal quarterly increments over a five-year period. As of December 31, 1999, there were 2,063,330 shares available for issuance 
under the 1995 Plan.  

DIRECTORS STOCK OPTION PLAN  

In September 1995, EarthLink Network established the EarthLink Directors Stock Option Plan (the "Directors Plan"). The Directors Plan, as 
amended and restated in December 1996, provides for the grant of options to purchase an aggregate of 125,000 shares of common stock to 
directors who do not also serve as employees of EarthLink Network and do not beneficially own, nor are employees, directors or officers of 
any entity which owns 5% or more of the outstanding shares of EarthLink Network's capital stock. Under the Directors Plan, grants of options 
to purchase 20,000 and 5,000 shares of common stock are automatically made to each non-management director at such time as the person first 
becomes a member of the Board of Directors and at the beginning of each fiscal year, respectively. Options generally have a maximum term of 
ten years and vest in equal quarterly increments over a five year period. As of December 31, 1999, there were no outstanding options to 
purchase shares of common stock under the Directors Plan.  

NON-QUALIFIED OPTION GRANTS  

In addition to the options granted under the plans described above, EarthLink Network granted non-qualified stock options to certain 
employees, officers and directors. Non-qualified options generally have a maximum term of ten years and generally vest in equal quarterly 
increments over a five-year period.  

VALUE OF OPTIONS GRANTED TO EMPLOYEES  

For disclosure purposes, the fair value of all stock options granted is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the 
following weighted average assumptions used for stock options granted:  
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                                                    YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                               ---- ------------------------------  
                                                  1 997        1998        1999 
                                               ---- ------   ---------   ---------  
Annual dividends.............................        zero        zero        zero  
Expected volatility..........................         69%         83%         92%  
Risk free interest rate......................       6.49%       5.28%       5.44%  
Expected life................................   6.6  years   6.6 years   6.6 years  



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONTINUED) Had compensation cost been determined on the basis of fair value pursuant to 
SFAS No. 123, net loss attributable to common stockholders and net loss attributable to common shareholders per share would have been 
increased as follows:  

 

WARRANTS  

EarthLink Network has issued to certain Board members, consultants, lessors, creditors and others warrants to purchase shares of EarthLink 
Network's common stock.  

WARRANTS ISSUED FOR SERVICES  

In January 1997 and October 1997, EarthLink Network issued warrants to purchase 12,000 and 50,000 shares, respectively, of EarthLink 
Network's common stock to certain consultants. The respective exercise prices of the warrants were $6.50 and $8.88. The fair value of the 
warrants is reflected as prepaid consulting fees and amortized ratably over the life of the consulting agreement. Consulting expense recorded 
with respect to warrants issued to consultants was $23,340, $34,836 and $34,836 during 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.  

In March 1997 and October 1997, EarthLink Network issued warrants to purchase 15,000 shares of EarthLink Network's common stock to 
each of two new members of EarthLink Network's Technology Advisory Council. The warrants have an exercise price of $5.25 per share and 
$8.88 per share, respectively, and vest quarterly over two years. The fair value of the warrants is reflected as deferred professional services 
expense and amortized ratably over the member's two year term of service in the Technology Advisory Council.  
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                                                      YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                               ---- ----------------------------------  
                                                  1 997         1998          1999 
                                               ---- ------   -----------   -----------  
                                               (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders 
  As reported................................   $(2 9,916)    $ (67,383)    $(122,354)  
                                                === =====     =========     ========= 
  Pro forma..................................   $(3 0,737)    $(104,577)    $(205,005)  
                                                === =====     =========     ========= 
 
Basic and diluted net loss per share 
  As reported................................   $  (1.50)    $   (2.58)    $   (3.81)  
                                                === =====     =========     ========= 
  Pro forma..................................   $  (1.54)    $   (4.00)    $   (6.38)  
                                                === =====     =========     ========= 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONTINUED) Following is a summary of stock option and warrant activity during the three 
years ended December 31, 1999:  

 

The weighted average fair values of the options granted during the three years ended December 31, 1999, were $4.98, $20.47 and $28.76, 
respectively. The weighted average fair values of warrants granted during the two years ended December 31, 1998 were $6.46 and $22.56, 
respectively. There were no warrants granted in 1999.  
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                                      NUMBER OF SHA RES OF COMMON STOCK 
                                    --------------- ----------------------   WEIGHTED  
                                    INCENTIVE   NON -QUALIFIED               AVERAGE 
                                      STOCK         STOCK                   EXERCISE  
                                     OPTIONS       OPTIONS      WARRANTS     PRICE 
                                    ---------   --- ----------   ---------   --------  
Balance at December 31, 1996......  2,056,500     1 ,079,582     1,703,294    $ 3.45 
Granted...........................    691,250       100,000        92,000    $ 6.92 
Exercised.........................    (97,914)      (29,582)           --    $ 2.82 
Forfeited.........................   (422,614)           --            --    $ 4.51 
                                    ---------     - --------     ---------    ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1997......  2,227,222     1 ,150,000     1,795,294    $ 4.01 
Granted...........................  1,817,400            --         7,306    $26.35 
Exercised.........................   (774,720)     (494,034)     (712,392)   $ 2.82 
Forfeited.........................    (85,712)           --            --    $14.79 
Surrendered in cashless 
  exercise........................         --        (7,966)     (148,776)   $ 8.77 
                                    ---------     - --------     ---------    ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1998......  3,184,190       648,000       941,432    $12.14 
Granted...........................  1,779,550            --            --    $58.02 
Exercised.........................   (785,306)     (132,000)     (333,304)   $ 5.04 
Forfeited.........................   (349,704)           --            --    $29.46 
Surrendered in cashless 
  exercise........................         --            --        (1,111)   $ 4.06 
                                    ---------     - --------     ---------    ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1999......  3,828,730       516,000       607,017    $16.81 
                                    =========     = ========     =========    ====== 
Exercisable at December 31, 
  1997............................    598,710       417,500     1,673,840 
                                    =========     = ========     ========= 
Exercisable at December 31, 
  1998............................    583,497       145,500       874,257 
                                    =========     = ========     ========= 
Exercisable at December 31, 
  1999............................    531,410       243,500       565,617 
                                    =========     = ========     ========= 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

10. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONTINUED)  

Following is a summary of stock options and warrants outstanding as of December 31, 1999:  

 

11. INCOME TAXES  

At December 31, 1998 and 1999, EarthLink Network had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes totaling 
approximately $106.8 million, and $177.7 million, respectively, which begin to expire in 2010. At December 31, 1998 and 1999, EarthLink 
Network had net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes totaling approximately $70.0 million and $90.4 million, 
respectively, which begin to expire in 2001. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, includes provisions which may limit the net 
operating loss carryforwards available for use in any given year if certain events occur, including significant changes in ownership. Due to 
EarthLink Network's initial public offering and other issuances of common stock and common stock equivalents, utilization of EarthLink 
Network's net operating loss carryforwards to offset future income may be limited. At December 31, 1998 and 1999, the net operating loss 
includes approximately $24.0 million and $64.0 million, respectively, related to the exercise of employee stock options and warrants. Any 
benefit resulting from the utilization of this portion of the net operating loss will be credited directly to equity.  

F-42  

                                                                           OPTIONS AND WARRANTS 
                                     OPTIONS AND WA RRANTS OUTSTANDING          EXERCISABLE 
                                   ---------------- --------------------   ----------------------  
                                                  W EIGHTED 
                                                   AVERAGE     WEIGHTED                 WEIGHTED  
                                                  R EMAINING    AVERAGE                  AVERAGE 
            RANGE OF                 NUMBER      CO NTRACTUAL   EXERCISE     NUMBER      EXERCISE  
        EXERCISE PRICES            OUTSTANDING      LIFE        PRICE     EXERCISABLE    PRICE 
--------------------------------   -----------   -- ---------   --------   -----------   --------  
       $ 0.91            $ 2.42     1,044,660        5.89       $ 2.11       698,160     $ 2.08 
       $ 4.88            $ 9.94     1,030,375        6.95       $ 6.08       388,575     $ 5.60 
       $12.63            $39.19     1,321,407        8.41       $27.47       253,792     $28.08 
       $40.25            $69.50     1,384,755        9.51       $54.88            --     $   -- 
       $78.50            $78.50       170,550        9.27       $78.50            --     $   -- 
                                   ----------                              --------- 
       $ 0.91            $78.50     4,951,747        7.91       $16.81     1,340,527     $ 8.02 
                                   ==========                              ========= 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

11. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) Deferred tax assets and liabilities include the following:  

 

Because management believes sufficient uncertainty exists regarding realizability, a full valuation allowance has been established.  

The following table summarizes the significant differences between the U.S. Federal statutory tax rate and EarthLink Network's effective tax 
rate for financial statement purposes:  
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                                                             DECEMBER 31, 
                                                          ------------------- 
                                                            1998       1999 
                                                          --------   -------- 
                                                            (IN THOUSANDS) 
Deferred tax assets: 
  Net operating loss carryforwards................. .....  $ 42,625   $ 67,531 
  Allowance for doubtful accounts.................. .....       178        405 
  Depreciation and amortization.................... .....       123      1,678 
  Deferred income.................................. .....        --        936 
  Accrued vacation................................. .....       436        747 
  Other accrued liabilities........................ .....       211        811 
  Other............................................ .....        --        141 
                                                          --------   -------- 
  Gross deferred tax assets........................ .....    43,573     72,249 
 
Valuation allowance................................ .....   (25,340)   (65,737)  
                                                          --------   -------- 
  Total deferred tax assets........................ .....  $(18,233)  $ (6,512)  
                                                          ========   ======== 
 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
  Member base...................................... .....  $(17,414)  $     -- 
  Co-branding...................................... .....        --     (6,512)  
  Other............................................ .....      (819)        -- 
                                                          --------   -------- 
  Total deferred tax liabilities................... .....  $(18,233)  $ (6,512)  
                                                          ========   ======== 

                                                          DECEMBER 31, 
                                                 -- ---------------------------- 
                                                   1997       1998       1999 
                                                 -- ------   --------   -------- 
                                                         (IN THOUSANDS) 
Federal income tax (benefit) at statutory 
  rate.........................................  $( 10,171)  $(20,923)  $(37,887)  
State income taxes, net of federal benefit.....        --     (3,435)    (6,220)  
Nondeductible expenses.........................        --         54        135 
Nondeductible goodwill.........................        --      4,922      7,735 
Net change to valuation allowance..............    10,171     19,382     36,237 
                                                 -- ------   --------   -------- 
                                                 $     --   $     --   $     -- 
                                                 == ======   ========   ======== 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

LEASES  

EarthLink Network leases its facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable operating leases expiring in various years through 2008. 
Total rent expense in 1997, 1998 and 1999 for all operating leases amounted to $1.9 million, $2.4 million and $4.4 million respectively. 
EarthLink Network also leases equipment, primarily data communications equipment, under non-cancelable capital leases. Most of EarthLink 
Network's capital leases include purchase options at the end of the lease term.  

During the three years ended December 31, 1999, EarthLink Network financed the acquisition of data processing and office equipment 
amounting to approximately $10.5 million, $9.3 million and $13.5 million, respectively, by entering into a number of leases and agreements for 
the sale and leaseback of equipment. The sale-leaseback transactions are recorded at cost, which approximates the fair market value of the 
property and, therefore, no gains or losses have been recorded. The property remains on the books and continues to be depreciated. A financing 
obligation representing the proceeds is recorded and reduced based upon payments under the lease agreement.  

EarthLink Network maintains facilities and offices at various locations throughout the United States for general corporate purposes, including 
technology centers, member call centers, office space and headquarters.  

All operating leases include scheduled base rent increases over the respective lease terms. The total amount of base rent payments is being 
charged to expense on the straight-line method over the terms of the leases. In addition to base rent payments, EarthLink Network pays a 
monthly allocation of the buildings' operating expenses. EarthLink Network has recorded a deferred rent liability to reflect the excess of rent 
expense over cash payments since inception of the leases.  

Minimum lease commitments under non-cancelable leases at December 31, 1999 are as follows:  

 

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS  

EarthLink Network uses a combination of owned POPs and leased third-party POPs enabling it to provide Internet access services on a 
nationwide basis while managing the timing and magnitude of its  
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YEAR ENDING                                                CAPITAL    OPERATING  
DECEMBER 31,                                                LEASES     LEASES 
------------                                               --------   ---------  
                                                              (IN THOUSANDS) 
2000............................................... ......  $10,579     $ 6,488 
2001............................................... ......    6,710       7,110 
2002............................................... ......    2,408       7,430 
2003............................................... ......       54       7,553 
2004............................................... ......       --       4,717 
Thereafter......................................... ......       --      28,298 
                                                           -------     ------- 
Total minimum lease payments....................... ......   19,751     $61,596 
                                                                       ======= 
Less amount representing interest.................. ......   (2,127) 
                                                           ------- 
Present value of future lease payments............. ......   17,624 
Less current portion............................... ......   (9,365) 
                                                           ------- 
                                                           $ 8,259 
                                                           ======= 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) capital expenditures. EarthLink Network employs a strategy of leasing POPs 
from third-party providers in locations where it is more economical to do so. As of December 31, 1999, EarthLink Network has leased points 
of presence ("POP") capacity leased from UUNET, PSINet, Level 3 and Sprint. EarthLink Network is, in effect, buying this capacity in bulk at 
a discount, and providing access to EarthLink Network's member base at EarthLink Network's normal rates. At December 31, 1999, $1 million 
and $3.9 million in amounts due to Level 3 and Sprint, respectively, were recorded in accounts payable and $7.2 million and $7.5 million in 
amounts due to UUNET and PSINet, respectively, were recorded in other accrued liabilities.  

Minimum commitments under non-cancelable network service agreements from UUNET and PSINet are as follows:  

 

13. PROFIT SHARING PLAN  

Effective January 1997, EarthLink Network implemented a profit sharing plan (the Plan) pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue 
code, whereby participants may contribute a percentage of compensation, but not in excess of the maximum allowed under the Code. EarthLink 
Network makes a discretionary matching contribution of 25% up to a maximum of 6% of the participant's total eligible compensation. 
EarthLink Network's matching contributions vest over four years from the participant's date of hire. Total contributions for 1997, 1998 and 
1999 were $84,000, $285,000, and $375,000 respectively.  

14. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION  

 

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

In January 2000, EarthLink Network entered into a multi-year partnership to deliver services to member of Apple Computer corporation 
members in the U.S. Under the terms of the partnership, EarthLink is the exclusive default ISP in Apple's Internet Setup Software included 
with all Apple Macintosh-Registered Trademark-computers sold in the U.S. In addition, Apple purchased 7,083,333 shares of Series C  
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YEAR ENDING 
DECEMBER 31,                                                  IN MILLIONS  
------------                                                  -----------  
2000............................................... .........    $ 65.7 
2001............................................... .........      66.9 
2002............................................... .........      41.4 
                                                                ------ 
Total.............................................. .........    $174.0 
                                                                ====== 

                                                        YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                     ------------------------------  
                                                       1997       1998       1999 
                                                     --------   --------   --------  
                                                             (IN THOUSANDS) 
Cash paid during the year for interest.............    $1,965     $2,101    $ 1,275 
Cash paid during the year for income taxes.........         1          1          1 
Non cash transactions related to the conversion of 
  notes payable to equity..........................       725      5,043         -- 
Common stock subscription..........................        --      1,041         -- 
Non cash adjustments related to accretion 
  dividends........................................    $   --     $7,601    $14,106 



EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (CONTINUED) convertible preferred stock for $200 million. Apple has the right to appoint a member to 
EarthLink Network's Board of Directors. The new Company assumed this alliance  

On February 4, 2000, EarthLink Network and MindSpring merged into EarthLink, Inc. in a transaction accounted for as tax-free reorganization 
under  
Section 368 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and as a "pooling-of-interests" transaction. Each outstanding share of 
EarthLink Network's securities was exchanged for 1.615 shares of the equivalent securities of the new Company and each outstanding share of 
MindSpring securities was exchanged for one share of the securities of the new company. Other outstanding securities of the companies were 
converted on the same basis. In connection with the Merger, the new company assumed EarthLink Network's alliance agreements with Sprint. 
As a result, Sprint has the right, among others, to appoint up to two  
(2) representatives to the new company's board of directors provided Sprint holds 20% or more of EarthLink's fully diluted outstanding stock, 
to appoint one representative to the new company's board of directors provided Sprint holds 10% or more of EarthLink's fully diluted 
outstanding stock and to purchase additional shares of equity securities in the new company in order to maintain, but not exceed, a 27.8% 
ownership level. The new company has also assumed MindSpring's outstanding 5% convertible subordinated notes and the indentures pursuant 
to which the notes were issued. The merger has given rise to the MindSpring noteholders' right to have the new company repurchase the notes 
at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued interest to the date of repurchase. Under the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, any notes 
presented for repurchase will only be repurchased for cash. Accordingly, the Company extended an offer to purchase the notes for cash as of 
April 7, 2000. If all holders exercise this option, the payment will be $184.3 million plus interest.  

In February 2000, Sprint exercised its preemptive rights to maintain its ownership in EarthLink Network after the aforementioned purchase of 
shares by Apple Computer Corporation. Accordingly, Sprint purchased 2.7 million shares of which 682,000 were common stock and 2.0 
million were series B convertible preferred stock.  

16. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)  

The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly consolidated financial data for the two years ended December 31, 1999. In the 
opinion of EarthLink Network's management, this unaudited information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated 
financial statements contained herein and includes all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the 
information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and  
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EARTHLINK NETWORK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)  

16. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) (CONTINUED) Notes thereto. The operating results for any quarter are not 
necessarily indicative of results for any future period.  

 

(1) Reflects the accretion of Liquidation Dividends on series A and B convertible preferred stock at 3% compounded quarterly and the 
accretion of a dividend related to the beneficial conversion feature in accordance with EITF D-60.  

(2) Each outstanding share of EarthLink Network common stock was exchanged for 1.615 shares of the common stock of the new company 
and each outstanding share of MindSpring common stock was exchanged for one share of the common stock of the new company. See Note 1 
of Notes to Consolidated Combined Financial Statements for an explanation of the determination of the number of weighted average shares 
outstanding in the net loss per share computation.  
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                                           MAR. 31    JUN. 30    SEPT. 30   DEC. 31    MAR. 31    JUN.  30    SEPT. 30    DEC. 31 
                                             1998       1998       1998       1998       1999       19 99       1999        1999 
                                           --------    --------   --------   --------   --------   ---- ----   ---------   -------- 
                                                                   (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DAT A) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 
  DATA: 
Revenues.................................   29,826      37,990     49,824     58,301     68,243     78 ,001     89,574     106,470 
Operating costs and expenses.............   35,766      49,812     70,218     82,384     94,047    106 ,502    125,065     140,981 
Loss from operations.....................   (5,940)     (11,822)   (20,394)   (24,083)   (25,804)   (28 ,501)   (35,491)    (34,511)  
Deductions for accretion dividends(1)....       --      (1,054)    (3,276)    (3,271)    (3,646)    (3 ,627)    (3,404)     (3,429)  
                                           -------    --------   --------   --------   --------   ---- ----   --------    -------- 
Net loss attributable to common 
  stockholders...........................  $(6,404)    $(13,071)  $(22,104)  $(25,804)  $(25,889)  $(28 ,174)  $(34,769)   $(33,522)  
                                           =======    ========   ========   ========   ========   ==== ====   ========    ======== 
Basic and diluted net loss per 
  share(2)...............................  $ (0.28)    $  (0.53)  $  (0.78)  $  (0.89)  $  (0.82)  $  ( 0.88)  $  (1.07)   $  (1.02)  
                                           =======    ========   ========   ========   ========   ==== ====   ========    ======== 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS  

To EarthLink, Inc.:  

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC. (a Delaware corporation) as of December 31, 
1998 and 1999 and the related statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the three years ended December 31, 1997, 
1998 and 1999. These financial statements are the responsibility of MindSpring's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of MindSpring 
Enterprises, Inc. as of December 31, 1998 and 1999 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the three years ended December 31, 
1997, 1998 and 1999 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP  

Atlanta, Georgia  
February 7, 2000  
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MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

BALANCE SHEETS  

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1998 AND 1999  

 

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements  
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                                                                1998       1999 
                                                              --------   -------- 
                                                                (IN THOUSANDS) 
                                     ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS 
  Cash and cash equivelants........................ .........  $167,743   $377,174 
  Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 
    of $1,224 and $3,008 at December 31, 1998 and 1 999......     3,278      5,617 
  Deferred income taxes (Note 8)................... .........     3,421      7,061 
  Prepaids and other current assets................ .........       758      9,247 
                                                              --------   -------- 
    Total current assets........................... .........   175,200    399,099 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
  Computer and telecommunications equipment........ .........    35,580    100,788 
  Assets under capital lease....................... .........     9,546      8,098 
  Other............................................ .........     4,821     16,762 
                                                              --------   -------- 
                                                                49,947    125,648 
  Less: accumulated depreciation................... .........   (14,106)   (34,065)  
                                                              --------   -------- 
    Property and equipment, net.................... .........    35,841     91,583 
                                                              --------   -------- 
OTHER ASSETS 
  Acquired customer base, net (Notes 1 and 2)...... .........    34,742    190,514 
  Deferred income taxes (Note 8)................... .........     1,123     26,452 
  Deferred Debt Costs.............................. .........                6,926 
  Other............................................ .........       693        351 
                                                              --------   -------- 
    Total other assets............................. .........    36,558    224,243 
                                                              --------   -------- 
                                                              $247,599   $714,925 
                                                              ========   ======== 
                      LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'  EQUITY 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
  Trade accounts payable........................... .........  $  3,462   $ 10,774 
  Current portion of capital lease liability (Note 7).......     2,695      2,359 
  Telecommunications cost payable.................. .........     2,831     10,629 
  Deferred revenue (Note 1)........................ .........     7,443     13,243 
  Other accrued expenses........................... .........    12,105     20,424 
  Accrued compensation expense..................... .........     2,550      4,500 
  Income tax payable............................... .........     2,566         -- 
  Accrued Interest................................. .........        --      1,860 
  Network service payable.......................... .........     4,442      9,858 
                                                              --------   -------- 
    Total current liabilities...................... .........    38,094     73,647 
                                                              --------   -------- 
LONG TERM LIABILITIES 
  Convertible Notes (Note 6)....................... .........              179,975 
  Capital lease liability (Note 7)................. .........     2,424        133 
                                                              --------   -------- 
    Total long term liabilites..................... .........     2,424    180,108 
                                                              --------   -------- 
    Total Liabilities.............................. .........    40,518    253,755 
                                                              --------   -------- 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 7) 
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
  Common Stock, $.01 par value; 60,000 and 400,000 shares 
    authorized at December 31, 1998 and 1999 and 56 ,568 and 
    63,649 issued and outstanding at December 31, 1 998 and 
    1999, respectively............................. .........       566        636 
  Additional paid-in capital....................... .........   209,698    503,848 
  Accumulated deficit.............................. .........    (3,183)   (43,314)  
                                                              --------   -------- 
    Total stockholders' equity..................... .........   207,081    461,170 
                                                              --------   -------- 
                                                              $247,599   $714,925 
                                                              ========   ======== 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

 

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.  

F-51  

                                                              1997          1998          1999 
                                                            --------      --------      -------- 
                                                            (IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 
REVENUES: 
  Access........................................... .......  $44,802       $ 99,220      $272,015 
  Web hosting...................................... .......    7,355         14,470        35,881 
  Broadband........................................ .......       77             36        16,784 
  Content, commerce, and advertising............... .......      322            947         3,465 
                                                            -------       --------      -------- 
    Total revenues................................. .......   52,556        114,673       328,145 
                                                            -------       --------      -------- 
OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES 
  Cost of revenues................................. .......   19,118         38,306       115,808 
  Sales and marketing.............................. .......   10,310         22,200        93,357 
  General and administrative....................... .......    8,469         12,855        29,866 
  Operations and member support.................... .......   14,194         26,477        77,292 
  Acquisition-related amortization................. .......    4,208          7,049        83,195 
                                                            -------       --------      -------- 
    Total operating expenses....................... .......   56,299        106,887       399,518 
                                                            -------       --------      -------- 
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)............................ .......   (3,743)         7,786       (71,373)  
INTEREST INCOME (EXPENSE), NET..................... .......     (338)         1,214         5,927 
                                                            -------       --------      -------- 
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TAXES......................... .......   (4,081)         9,000       (65,446)  
                                                            -------       --------      -------- 
  INCOME TAX BENEFIT............................... .......       --          1,544        25,315 
                                                            -------       --------      -------- 
NET INCOME (LOSS).................................. .......  $(4,081)      $ 10,544      $(40,131)  
                                                            =======       ========      ======== 
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE: 
  Basic............................................ .......  $ (0.09)      $   0.21      $  (0.65)  
                                                            =======       ========      ======== 
  Diluted.......................................... .......  $ (0.09)      $   0.21      $  (0.65)  
                                                            =======       ========      ======== 
SHARES USED FOR COMPUTING NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE: 
  Basic............................................ .......   45,084         49,222        61,742 
                                                            =======       ========      ======== 
  Diluted.......................................... .......   45,084         50,862        61,742 
                                                            =======       ========      ======== 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

 

The accompanying Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.  
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                                                COM MON STOCK       ADDITIONAL                     TOTA L 
                                             ------ -------------    PAID-IN     ACCUMULATED   STOCKHOL DERS' 
                                              SHARE S     AMOUNT     CAPITAL       DEFICIT        EQUIT Y 
                                             ------ --   --------   ----------   -----------   -------- -----  
                                                                     (IN THOUSANDS) 
Balance, December 31, 1996.................   44,86 2      $449      $ 34,604      $ (9,646)     $ 25,4 07 
  Issuance of common stock pursuant to 
    exercise of options....................      34 4         3            86            --            89 
    Net Loss...............................       - -        --            --        (4,081)       (4,0 81) 
                                              ----- -      ----      --------      --------      ------ -- 
 
Balance, December 31, 1997.................   45,20 6       452        34,690       (13,727)       21,4 15 
  Issuance of common stock, net of related 
    offering expenses......................    6,00 0        60        49,696            --        49,7 56 
  Issuance of common stock, net of related 
    offering expenses......................    4,60 0        46       124,738            --       124,7 84 
  Issuance of common stock pursuant to 
    exercise of options....................      76 2         8           576            --           5 84 
    Net Income.............................       - -        --            --        10,544        10,5 44 
                                              ----- -      ----      --------      --------      ------ -- 
 
Balance, December 31, 1998.................   56,56 8       566       209,700        (3,183)      207,0 83 
  Issuance of common stock, net of related 
    offering expenses......................    5,52 0        55       263,484            --       263,5 39 
  Issuance of common stock, pursuant 
    customer base acquisition..............      75 2         7        29,993            --        30,0 00 
  Issuance of common stock pursuant to 
    exercise of options....................      80 9         8           671            --           6 79 
    Net Loss...............................       - -        --            --       (40,131)      (40,1 31) 
                                              ----- -      ----      --------      --------      ------ -- 
Balance, December 31, 1999.................   63,64 9      $636      $503,848      $(43,314)     $461,1 70 
                                              ===== =      ====      ========      ========      ====== == 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

 

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.  
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                                                                1997       1998       1999 
                                                              --------   --------   -------- 
                                                                      (IN THOUSANDS) 
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
  Net (loss) income................................ .........  $(4,081)   $ 10,544   $(40,131)  
                                                              -------    --------   -------- 
  Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash pro vided by 
    operating activities: 
  Depreciation and amortization.................... .........    8,693      15,227    104,329 
  Deferred income taxes............................ .........       --      (4,544)   (28,969)  
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
    Trade receivables.............................. .........       (5)     (1,276)    (4,010)  
    Other current assets........................... .........     (565)        284     (8,489)  
    Trade accounts payable......................... .........    2,352        (844)     7,312 
    Telecommunications cost payable................ .........    1,332         598      7,798 
    Deferred revenue............................... .........    1,782       5,245      5,800 
    Other accrued expenses......................... .........    1,166       3,329     15,321 
    Accrued interest............................... .........       --          --      1,860 
    Accrued compensations expense.................. .........      769       1,146      1,950 
    Income taxes payable........................... .........       --       2,566     (2,566)  
    Network services payable....................... .........      (89)      3,226      5,416 
                                                              -------    --------   -------- 
      Total adjustments............................ .........   15,435      24,957    105,752 
                                                              -------    --------   -------- 
        Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities.. .........   11,354      35,501     65,621 
                                                              -------    --------   -------- 
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
  Purchases of property and equipment.............. .........   (8,042)    (20,176)   (62,504)  
  Purchase of customer base........................ .........     (960)    (27,312)  (227,494)  
  Other............................................ .........       --        (159)       148 
                                                              -------    --------   -------- 
        Net Cash Used in Investing Activities...... .........   (9,002)    (47,647)  (289,850)  
                                                              -------    --------   -------- 
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
  Payments of notes payable........................ .........     (624)     (2,043) 
  Cash provided by credit line..................... .........       --          --     77,987 
  Repayment of credit line......................... .........       --          --    (80,000)  
  Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt....... .........       --          --    174,082 
  Payments of capital lease obligations............ .........   (2,084)     (2,578)    (2,627)  
  Issuance of common stock......................... .........       89     175,124    264,218 
                                                              -------    --------   -------- 
        Net Cash (Used in) Provided By Financing 
          Activities............................... .........   (2,619)    170,503    433,660 
                                                              -------    --------   -------- 
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT S........     (267)    158,357    209,431 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year....... .........    9,653       9,386    167,743 
                                                              -------    --------   -------- 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year............. .........  $ 9,386    $167,743   $377,174 
                                                              =======    ========   ======== 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FOR CASH FLOW INFORMATION: 
  Interest paid.................................... .........  $   749    $    890   $  6,501 
                                                              =======    ========   ======== 
  Income taxes paid................................ .........  $    --    $    434   $  6,580 
                                                              =======    ========   ======== 
SUPPLEMENTAL NONCASH DISCLOSURES: 
  Stock issued in conjunction with acquisition..... .........  $    --    $     --   $ 30,000 
                                                              =======    ========   ======== 
  Assets acquired under capital lease.............. .........  $ 8,443    $     --   $     -- 
                                                              =======    ========   ======== 
  Noncash accrual for acquired subscriber base..... .........  $    --    $  7,000   $     -- 
                                                              =======    ========   ======== 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. ("MindSpring") is a national provider of Internet access. MindSpring was incorporated in Georgia on February 
24, 1994 and began marketing its services in June 1994. MindSpring reincorporated in Delaware and effected a recapitalization in December 
1995.  

On February 4, 2000 EarthLink Network, Inc. ("EarthLink Network") and MindSpring merged ("the Merger") into a new company named 
EarthLink, Inc, ("the newly formed Company" ). The merger was accounted for as a tax-free reorganization under Section 368 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and as a "pooling-of-interests" transaction. Each outstanding share of EarthLink Network securities was 
exchanged for 1.615 shares of the common stock of the newly formed company and each outstanding share of MindSpring securities was 
exchanged for one share of the securities of the newly formed company. The newly formed company has also assumed MindSpring's 
outstanding 5% convertible subordinated notes due 2006 and the indentures pursuant to which the notes were issued. The merger has given rise 
to the MindSpring noteholders' right to have the new company repurchase the notes at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued interest to the 
date of the repurchase. Under the Merger Agreement, any notes presented for repurchase will only be repurchased for cash. See Note 6.  

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  

PRESENTATION  

Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  

SOURCES OF SUPPLIES  

MindSpring relies on third-party networks, local telephone companies, and other companies to provide data communications capacity. 
Although management feels alternative telecommunications facilities could be found in a timely manner, any disruption of these services could 
have an adverse effect on operating results.  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

MindSpring considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.  

CREDIT RISK  

MindSpring's accounts receivable potentially subject MindSpring to credit risk, as collateral is generally not required. MindSpring's risk of loss 
is limited due to advance billings to members for services,  
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MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) the 
use of preapproved charges to member credit cards, and the ability to terminate access on delinquent accounts. In addition, the concentration of 
credit risk is mitigated by the large number of members comprising the member base. The carrying amount of MindSpring's receivables 
approximates their fair value.  

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are provided for using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, commencing when assets are installed or placed in service. The estimated useful life for all assets is five years or, for 
leasehold improvements, the life of the lease, if shorter.  

EQUIPMENT UNDER CAPITAL LEASE  

MindSpring leases certain of its data communication and other equipment under lease agreements accounted for as capital. The assets and 
liabilities under capital leases are recorded at the lesser of the present value of aggregate future minimum lease payments, including estimated 
bargain purchase options, or the fair value of the assets under lease. Assets under capital lease are depreciated over their estimated useful lives 
of five years, which are longer than the terms of the leases.  

ACQUIRED MEMBER BASE  

MindSpring capitalizes specific costs incurred for the purchase of member bases from other Internet Service Providers ("ISPs"). The member 
acquisition costs include the actual fee paid to the selling ISP, as well as legal and other expenses specifically related to the transactions. 
Subscriber acquisition costs capitalized at December 31, 1998 and 1999 were $47,521,000, and $286,488,000, respectively. Amortization is 
provided using the straight-line method over three years commencing when the member base is received. Amortization expense for the years 
ended December 31, 1997, 1998, and 1999 was $4,208,000, $7,049,000, and $83,195,000, respectively. See Note 2 for further discussion.  

LONG-LIVED ASSETS  

MindSpring periodically reviews the values assigned to long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and acquired member bases, to 
determine whether any impairments are other than temporary. Management reviews the undiscounted projected cash flows related to such 
assets and compares them to the carrying values of the assets to determine if an impairment has occurred. If an asset is deemed to be impaired, 
MindSpring records the difference between the projected cash flows on a discounted basis or the fair market value (whichever is more 
appropriate) and the carrying value as an asset impairment charge in the period incurred. There were no such impairments in the periods 
presented. Management believes that the long-lived assets in the accompanying balance sheets are appropriately valued.  
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MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
INCOME TAXES  

Deferred income taxes are recorded using enacted tax laws and rates for the years in which the taxes are expected to be paid. Deferred income 
taxes are provided for items when there is a temporary difference in recording such items for financial reporting and income tax reporting.  

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS  

MindSpring accounts for its stock-based compensation plans under Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for 
Stock Issued to Employees." The disclosure option of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation" requires that companies which do not choose to account for stock-based compensation as prescribed by this statement 
shall disclose the pro forma effects on earnings and earnings per share as if SFAS No. 123 had been adopted.  

REVENUE RECOGNITION  

MindSpring recognizes revenue when services are provided. Services are generally billed one month in advance. During 1998, MindSpring 
began offering prepaid services. Advance billings including prepaid services and collections relating to future access services are recorded as 
deferred revenue and recognized as revenue when earned.  

BARTER TRANSACTIONS  

MindSpring engages in certain exchanges of services for advertising and promotional services. MindSpring records these transactions at the 
market value of the services provided. Such transactions are not material for the periods presented.  

ADVERTISING COSTS  

MindSpring expenses all advertising costs as incurred.  

NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE  

MindSpring calculates net income (loss) per share as required by SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share." Basic earnings (loss) per common share 
("EPS") was computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the year 
ended. The effect of MindSpring's stock options (using the treasury stock method) was included in the computation of diluted EPS for the year 
ended December 31, 1998. For the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1999, the effect of  
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MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) the 
options is excluded as their effect is anti-dilutive. The following table summarizes the shares used in the calculations:  

 

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS  

In 1998, MindSpring was subject to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130 ("SFAS 130"), "Reporting 
Comprehensive Income" and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131 ("SFAS 131"), "Disclosures about Segments of an 
Enterprise and Related Information." Neither statement had any impact on MindSpring's financial statements as MindSpring does not have any 
"comprehensive income" type earnings (losses) and its financial statements reflect how the "key operating decisions maker" views the business. 
MindSpring will continue to review these statements over time, in particular SFAS 131, to determine if any additional disclosures are necessary 
based on evolving circumstances.  

2. MEMBER BASE ACQUISITIONS  

On September 10, 1998, MindSpring entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with America Online, Inc. ("AOL") and Spry, Inc. ("Spry"), a 
wholly owned subsidiary of AOL, to purchase certain assets used in connection with the consumer dial-up Internet access business operated by 
Spry (the "Spry Agreement"). Pursuant to the Spry Agreement, MindSpring acquired Spry's subscriber base of individual Internet access 
members in the United States and Canada as well as various assets used in serving those members, including a member support facility and a 
network operations facility in Seattle, Washington. MindSpring also acquired all rights held by Spry to the "Spry" name. The acquisition was 
closed on October 15, 1998 and in accordance with the agreement MindSpring paid the initial payment of $25 million in cash to AOL. The 
ultimate purchase price for these assets was $32 million.  

On February 17, 1999, MindSpring completed its acquisition of certain assets used in connection with the United States Internet access and 
Web hosting business operated by NETCOM On-Line Communication Services Inc., which subsequently changed its name to ICG Netahead, 
Inc. and is a wholly owned subsidiary of ICG Communications, Inc. In this transaction, MindSpring acquired NETCOM's subscriber base of 
approximately 408,000 individual Internet access accounts, 25,000 Web hosting accounts and 3,000 dedicated Internet access accounts in the 
United States. MindSpring paid NETCOM approximately $245 million, consisting of $215 million in cash and $30 million in MindSpring 
common stock (752,232  
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                                                           TWELVE MONTHS ENDED 
                                                               DECEMBER 31, 
                                                      ------------------------------  
                                                        1997       1998       1999 
                                                      --------   --------   --------  
                                                              (IN THOUSANDS) 
Weighted average shares 
  Outstanding--basic............................... .   45,084     49,222     61,742 
 
Effect of dilutive stock options................... .               1,640 
                                                       ------     ------     ------ 
Shares used for diluted earnings per share......... .   45,084     50,862     61,742 
                                                       ======     ======     ====== 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

2. MEMBER BASE ACQUISITIONS (CONTINUED) shares, at a price per share of $39.88). MindSpring also incurred expenses of 
approximately $4.2 million in connection with this acquisition.  

In conjunction with the NETCOM acquisition, MindSpring obtained a $100 million secured revolving credit facility from First Union National 
Bank and certain other lenders. For more discussion of this credit facility see footnote 6.  

The following table summarizes the net assets purchased in connection with Spry and Netcom acquisitions and the amount attributable to 
intangibles (in thousands):  

 

The preliminary estimate of net assets acquired represents management's best estimate based on currently available information; however, such 
estimate may be revised up to one year from the acquisition date. MindSpring is amortizing the acquired member base over three years.  

The following unaudited pro forma condensed statements of operations (in millions) assumes the NETCOM and Spry acquisitions occurred on 
January 1, 1998. In the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary to present fairly such unaudited pro forma condensed statements of 
operations have been made.  

 

3. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

At the annual meeting of stockholders in May 1999 MindSpring voted to approve and adopt an amendment to Article 4 of MindSpring's 
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of $.01 par value common stock from 
60,000,000 to 400,000,000.  

STOCK SPLIT  

On June 25, 1999 MindSpring effected a two-for-one stock split of the outstanding shares of common stock in the form of a stock dividend. 
Accordingly, all data shown in the accompanying financial statements and notes has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split.  
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                                                            NETCOM      SPRY 
                                                           --------   --------  
Working Capital.................................... ......  $ (1,672)  $    -- 
Property and Equipment............................. ......  $ 13,200   $    -- 
Acquired subscriber base........................... ......  $237,695   $32,450 

                                                             1998            1999 
                                                           ---------       ---------  
                                                           (IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER 
                                                                  SHARE DATA) 
Revenue............................................ ......   $ 294.9         $347.0 
Net loss........................................... ......   $(121.1)        $(55.4) 
Net loss per share................................. ......   $ (2.13)        $(0.84) 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

3. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (CONTINUED) COMMON STOCK  

In April 1999, MindSpring issued 5,520,000 shares at a public offering price of $50 per share. The total prcoeeds of the offering, net of 
underwriting discounts and offering expenses, were approximately $263,500,000.  

4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS  

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN  

Under MindSpring's 1995 Stock Option Plan, as amended (the "Stock Option Plan"), 9,000,000 shares of common stock are reserved and 
authorized for issuance upon the exercise of options. All employees of MindSpring are eligible to receive options under the Stock Option Plan. 
The compensation committee of the board of directors administers the Stock Option Plan. Options granted under the Stock Option Plan are 
intended to qualify as incentive stock options under  
Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Options generally become exercisable as follows: (i) 50% of the options 
become exercisable two years after the date of grant or, in certain cases, the commencement date of the holder's employment; (ii) an additional 
25% of the options become exercisable three years after the date of grant or, in certain cases, the commencement date of the holder's 
employment; and (iii) the remaining 25% of the options become exercisable four years after the date of grant or, in certain cases, the 
commencement date of the holder's employment. Except as noted in the next sentence, all options were granted at an exercise price equal to the 
estimated fair value of the common stock on the dates of grant as determined by the board of directors based on equity transactions and other 
analyses. Options granted to holders of 10% or more of the outstanding common stock were granted at an exercise price equal to 110% of the 
estimated fair value of the common stock on the dates of grant as determined by the board of directors based on equity transactions and other 
analyses. The options expire ten years from the date of grant or, in certain circumstances, the commencement date of the option holder's 
employment.  

DIRECTORS' STOCK OPTION PLAN  

Under MindSpring's Directors' Stock Option Plan (the "Directors' Plan"), adopted in December 1995, 420,000 shares of common stock are 
authorized for issuance to nonemployee directors in the form of 60,000 options per director) upon their initial election or appointment to the 
board or, in the case of directors who joined the board prior to the creation of the Directors' Plan, upon the adoption of the Directors' Plan by 
the board of directors. The Directors' Plan, as amended by the board of directors on March 26, 1999 and approved by the stockholders on April 
22, 1999, provides for discretionary option grants. Options become exercisable as follows: (i) 50% of the options become exercisable two years 
after the date of grant, (ii) an additional 25% of the options become exercisable three years after the date of grant, and (iii) the remaining 25% 
of the options become exercisable four years after the date of grant. All options were granted at an exercise price equal to the estimated fair 
value of the common stock at the dates of grant as determined by the board of directors based upon equity transactions and other analyses. The 
options expire ten years from the date of grant.  
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MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (CONTINUED) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NO. 123  

During 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123, which defines a fair value-based method of accounting for an 
employee stock option or similar equity instrument and encourages all entities to adopt that method of accounting for all of their employee 
stock-based compensation plans. However, it also allows an entity to continue to measure compensation cost for those plans using the method 
of accounting prescribed by APB No. 25. Entities electing to remain with the accounting in APB No. 25 must make pro forma disclosures of 
net income and, if presented, earnings per share as if the fair value-based method of accounting defined in this statement had been applied.  

MindSpring has elected to account for its stock-based compensation plans under APB No. 25; however, MindSpring has computed for pro 
forma disclosure purposes the value of all options granted during 1997, 1998, and 1999 using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as 
prescribed by SFAS No. 123 using the following weighted average assumptions used for grants in 1997, 1998, and 1999:  

 

The total value of options granted during 1997, 1998, and 1999 was computed as approximately $3,735,000, $38,679,000, and $66,399,000, 
respectively, which would be amortized on a pro forma basis over the four-year vesting period of the options. If MindSpring had accounted for 
these plans in accordance with SFAS No. 123, MindSpring's net income (loss) and pro forma net income (loss) per share for the years ended 
December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 would have been as follows:  
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                                                     YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
                                                --- ------------------------------  
                                                  1 997        1998        1999 
                                                --- ------   ---------   ---------  
Annual dividends..............................       zero        zero        zero  
Expected volatility...........................        58%         95%         84%  
Risk free interest rate.......................      6.40%       5.30%       5.40%  
Expected life.................................  3.5  years   3.5 years   3.5 years  

                                                         AS REPORTED    PRO FORMA 
                                                         ------------   ----------  
                                                         (IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER 
                                                                SHARE DATA) 
1997 
Net loss........................................... ....     $ (4,081)    $ (5,402)  
Net loss per share................................. ....     $  (0.09)    $  (0.12)  
 
1998 
Net income......................................... ....     $ 10,544     $  2,291 
Net income per share............................... ....     $   0.21     $   0.05 
 
1999 
Net loss........................................... ....     $(40,131)    $(52,770)  
Net loss per share................................. ....     $  (0.65)    $  (0.85)  



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (CONTINUED)  

A summary of the status of MindSpring's two stock options plans at December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 and changes during the years then 
ended are presented in the following table:  

 

The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the three years ended December 31, 1997, 1998, and 1999 were $12.36, $22.50, 
and $22.81, respectively.  

F-61  

                                                                         WEIGHTED  
                                                                         AVERAGE 
                                                                         EXERCISE  
                                                        STOCK OPTIONS     PRICE 
                                                        --------------   --------  
                                                        (IN THOUSANDS) 
Balance at December 31, 1996....................... ...      3,468         $ 0.77 
Granted............................................ ...        906         $ 2.11 
Exercised.......................................... ...       (342)        $ 0.15 
Forfeited.......................................... ...       (348)        $ 1.56 
                                                            -----         ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1997....................... ...      3,684         $ 1.08 
Granted............................................ ...      1,722         $18.77 
Exercised.......................................... ...       (764)        $ 0.77 
Forfeited.......................................... ...       (407)        $ 3.98 
                                                            -----         ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1998....................... ...      4,235         $ 8.05 
Granted............................................ ...      2,927         $38.13 
Exercised.......................................... ...       (809)        $ 0.84 
Forfeited.......................................... ...       (885)        $33.60 
                                                            -----         ------ 
Balance at December 31, 1999....................... ...      5,468         $21.03 
                                                            =====         ====== 
Exercisable at December 31, 1997                              732 
                                                            ===== 
Exercisable at December 31, 1998                            1,074 
                                                            ===== 
Exercisable at December 31, 1999                            1,254 
                                                            ===== 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

4. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (CONTINUED) The following is a summary of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 
1999  

 

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN  

MindSpring has a savings plan (the "Savings Plan") that qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Under the Savings Plan, participating employees may defer a portion of their pretax earnings, up to the Internal Revenue 
Service annual contribution limit. Annually, MindSpring determines whether to make a discretionary matching contribution equal to a 
percentage, determined by MindSpring, of the employee's deferred compensation contribution. MindSpring has not made any matching 
contributions to the Savings Plan.  

5. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

MindSpring has entered into certain business relationships with several subsidiaries and affiliates of ITC Holding Company, Inc. ("ITC 
Holding"). Except as noted below, none of these transactions were material for the periods presented.  

MindSpring purchases long-distance telephone services and wide area network transport service from ITC DeltaCom, Inc. ("ITC DeltaCom"), a 
related party through relationships with ITC Holding. Long-distance charges from ITC DeltaCom totaled approximately $1,942,000, 
$3,672,000, and $9,540,000 for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.  
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                                           OPTIONS OUTSTANDING             OPTIONS EXERCISABLE 
                                   ---------------- --------------------   ----------------------  
                                                  W EIGHTED 
                                                   AVERAGE     WEIGHTED                 WEIGHTED  
                                                  R EMAINING    AVERAGE                  AVERAGE 
            RANGE OF                 NUMBER      CO NTRACTUAL   EXERCISE     NUMBER      EXERCISE  
        EXERCISE PRICES            OUTSTANDING      LIFE        PRICE     EXERCISABLE    PRICE 
--------------------------------   -----------   -- ---------   --------   -----------   --------  
       $ 0.11            $ 0.60           639        5.56       $ 0.34           639     $ 0.34 
       $ 1.06            $ 1.40           590        6.56       $ 1.21           317     $ 1.16 
       $ 1.52            $ 4.85           547        7.15       $ 2.37           260     $ 2.30 
       $ 5.47            $11.46           649        8.25       $10.19            --     $   -- 
       $13.43            $28.63           560        9.24       $23.23            --     $   -- 
       $30.13            $30.34           695        9.19       $30.27            37     $30.34 
       $34.50            $36.81           617        9.56       $35.28            --     $   -- 
       $39.75            $41.94           640        9.36       $40.23            --     $   -- 
       $46.13            $46.22           518        9.16       $46.21            --     $   -- 
       $51.44            $51.44            13        9.07       $51.44            --     $   -- 
                                   ----------                              --------- 
                                        5,468                                  1,254 
                                   ==========                              ========= 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

6. DEBT  

CREDIT FACILITY  

On February 17, 1999, in conjunction with the NETCOM acquisition, MindSpring entered into a credit agreement with First Union National 
Bank ("First Union") and several other lenders. On February 17, 1999, MindSpring borrowed approximately $80 million under the credit 
facility to finance the NETCOM acquisition. MindSpring repaid all amounts outstanding under the credit facility with a portion of the net 
proceeds from offering completed in April of 5,520,000 shares of common stock, and MindSpring amended the credit facility to permit the 
issuance of notes, the payment of interest thereon, and certain redemptions thereof. Subsequent to year end, in conjunction with MindSpring's 
merger with Earthlink Network, Inc., MindSpring terminated this credit facility.  

CONVERTIBLE NOTES  

In March 1999, MindSpring filed a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the public offering 
from time to time of up to $800 million of debt and equity securities. MindSpring sold $179,975,000 aggregate principal amount of 5% 
Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006, raising net proceeds of approximately $174.1 million.  

The notes may be converted into shares of common stock of MindSpring at any time before their maturity or their redemption by MindSpring 
at a rate of 16 shares per each $1,000 principal amount of notes, or $62.50 per share, subject to adjustment in circumstances. Interest is payable 
semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 of each year beginning October 15, 1999. The notes are subordinated in right of payment to all 
senior debt of MindSpring.  

MindSpring may redeem the notes before April 15, 2002, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to principal amount of the note plus 
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date, if the closing price for MindSpring's common stock has exceeded 150% of the 
conversion price for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading prior to the date of the mailing 
of the notice of redemption. MindSpring will make an additional payment of cash with respect to the notes called for redemption of $200 per 
$1,000 note, less the amount of interest actually paid on such note prior to the call for redemption. Further MindSpring may redeem the notes 
on or after April 15, 2002 at 102.86% of the principal amount declining to 100% by April 15, 2006.  

As discussed in Note 1, the merger with EarthLink Network constituted a change in control as defined in the Indenture Agreement. Holders of 
the notes have the right to demand payment equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes, plus accrued interest to the date of repurchase. 
Accordingly, MindSpring extended an offer to purchase the notes for cash as of April 7, 2000. If all holders exercise this option the payment 
will be $184,274,000, including interest.  

7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

LEASES  

MindSpring leases certain equipment under agreements, which are classified as capital leases. These leases have original terms of three years or 
less and contain bargain purchase options at the end of the original lease terms. MindSpring also has operating leases, which relate to the lease 
of office and  
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MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) equipment space. Rental expense attributable to these operating leases was 
approximately $1,420,000, $1,953,000 and $8,383,000 for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.  

At December 31, 1999, MindSpring's capital lease obligations and minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases with 
initial or remaining terms of more than one year were as follows:  

 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

MindSpring is subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. As of December 31, 1999, management is 
not aware of any asserted or pending litigation or claims against MindSpring that would have a material adverse effect on MindSpring's 
financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.  

8. INCOME TAXES  

The provision for income taxes is attributable to:  
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YEAR ENDING                                                 CAPITAL    OPERATING  
DECEMBER 31,                                                 LEASES     LEASES 
------------                                                --------   ---------  
                                                               (IN THOUSANDS) 
2000............................................... .......  $ 2,517     $ 8,168 
2001............................................... .......      134       9,595 
2002............................................... .......       --      10,318 
2003............................................... .......       --       9,627 
2004............................................... .......       --       9,326 
Thereafter......................................... .......       --      10,485 
                                                            -------     ------- 
Total minimum lease payments....................... .......    2,651     $57,519 
                                                                        ======= 
Less amount representing interest.................. .......     (159) 
                                                            ------- 
Present value of future lease payments............. .......    2,492 
Less current portion............................... .......   (2,359) 
                                                            ------- 
                                                            $   133 
                                                            ======= 

                                                     1997       1998       1999 
                                                   --------   --------   -------- 
                                                           (IN THOUSANDS) 
Current..........................................  $          $ 3,000    $  3,654 
Deferred.........................................   (1,574)       654     (28,969)  
Increase in (reversal of) valuation allowance....    1,574     (5,198)         -- 
                                                   -------    -------    -------- 
  Income tax provision (benefit).................  $    --    $(1,544)   $(25,315)  
                                                   =======    =======    ======== 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

8. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) A reconciliation of the income tax provision (benefit) computed at statutory tax rates to the income tax 
benefit for the year ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 is as follows:  

 

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The significant components of MindSpring's deferred tax assets and 
liabilities as of December 31, 1999 and 1998 are as follows:  

 

Due to the fact that prior to 1998 MindSpring incurred losses since inception, MindSpring did not recognize the income tax benefit of the net 
operating loss carryforwards. Management provided a 100% valuation reserve against its net deferred tax asset, consisting primarily of net 
operating loss carryforwards. Management reviewed this position based on the net income generated in 1998 as well as the projections of 
future income and determined that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would be realized. Accordingly, MindSpring reversed 
its entire valuation allowance in 1998.  
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                                                               1997       1998       1999 
                                                             --------   --------   --------  
                                                                  (PERCENT OF TAXABLE 
                                                                        INCOME) 
Income tax benefit at statutory rate............... ........    (34)        34        (34) 
State income taxes, net of federal benefit......... ........     (4)         4         (4) 
Other.............................................. ........     --          2         (1) 
Valuation allowance................................ ........    (38)       (57)        -- 
  Total income tax provision (benefit)............. ........     --         17        (39) 

                                                              1998       1999 
                                                            --------   --------  
                                                              (IN THOUSANDS) 
Deferred tax assets: 
  Acquired customer base........................... .......  $ 3,902    $30,420 
  Deferred revenue................................. .......    2,829      5,091 
  Allowance for doubtful accounts.................. .......      465      1,161 
  Accrued vacation................................. .......      371        809 
                                                            -------    ------- 
    Total deferred tax assets...................... .......    7,567     37,481 
                                                            -------    ------- 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
  Depreciation..................................... .......   (2,779)    (3,597)  
  Other............................................ .......     (244)      (371)  
                                                            -------    ------- 
    Total deferred tax liabilities................. .......   (3,023)    (3,968)  
                                                            -------    ------- 
Net deferred tax asset............................. .......    4,544     33,513 
Less current portion............................... .......    3,421      7,061 
                                                            -------    ------- 
Net deferred taxes-long term....................... .......  $ 1,123    $26,452 
                                                            =======    ======= 



MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999  

9. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)  

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results for 1997, 1998, and 1999:  

 

See Note 1 for a discussion of earnings per share.  
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                                                                                           NET INCOME 
                                                                                           (LOSS) PER 
                                                                                              SHARE 
                                                           OPERATING     NET INCOME    --------------- ----  
QUARTER ENDED                                 REVEN UE    INCOME (LOSS)     (LOSS)       BASIC     DILU TED 
-------------                                 ----- ---   -------------   -----------   --------   ---- ----  
                                                          (IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 
December 31, 1997...........................  $17,2 09       $    646      $    498      $ (01      $ 0 .1 
September 30, 1997..........................   13,9 67           (465)         (626)      (.02)      (. 02) 
June 30, 1997...............................   11,6 00         (1,421)       (1,430)      (.03)      (. 03) 
March 31, 1997..............................    9,7 80         (2,505)       (2,525)      (.06)      (. 06) 
 
December 31, 1998...........................  $39,5 34       $  1,299      $  3,679      $ .07      $ . 07 
September 30, 1998..........................   28,6 95          3,440         3,985        .08        . 08 
June 30, 1998...............................   25,0 60          1,994         2,020        .05        . 04 
March 31, 1998..............................   21,3 84          1,053           860        .02        . 02 
 
December 31, 1999...........................  $92,6 74       $(33,125)     $(18,912)     $(.30)     $(. 30) 
September 30, 1999..........................   88,1 79        (19,736)      (10,834)      (.17)      (. 17) 
June 30, 1999...............................   85,6 64        (12,694)       (7,081)      (.06)      (. 06) 
March 31, 1999..............................   61,6 28         (5,818)       (3,304)      (.06)      (. 06) 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AS TO SCHE DULES  

We have audited, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the financial statements of MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC. 
included in this Form 10-K and have issued our report thereon dated February 7, 2000. Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an 
opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The schedule listed in the index is the responsibility of MindSpring's management 
and is presented for purposes of complying with the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and is not part of the basic financial 
statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in our 
opinion, fairly states in all material respects the financial data required to be set forth therein in relation to the basic financial statements taken 
as a whole.  

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP  

Atlanta, Georgia  
February 7, 2000  
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SCHEDULE II--VALUATION OF QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  
MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999  

 

(a) Represents specific accounts written-off considered to be uncollectible.  

MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998  

 

(a) Represents specific accounts written-off considered to be uncollectible.  

MINDSPRING ENTERPRISES, INC.  

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997  

 

(a) Represents specific accounts written-off considered to be uncollectible.  
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                  COLUMN A                     COLU MN B           COLUMN C             COLUMN D       COLUMN E 
--------------------------------------------  ----- -----   -----------------------   -------------   - ---------  
                                                                  ADDITIONS 
                                                           ----------------------- 
                                              BALAN CE AT   CHARGED TO   CHARGED TO                   B ALANCE AT 
                                              BEGIN NING    COSTS AND      OTHER                        END OF 
DESCRIPTION                                   OF PE RIOD     EXPENSES     ACCOUNTS    DEDUCTIONS(A)     PERIOD 
-----------                                   ----- -----   ----------   ----------   -------------   - ---------  
                                                                   (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS) 
DEDUCTION IN THE BALANCE SHEET FROM THE 
  ASSET TO WHICH IT APPLIES: 
Allowance for uncollectible accounts 
  Receivable................................    $1, 224       $5,976         $0          $(4,192)       $3,008 

                  COLUMN A                     COLU MN B           COLUMN C             COLUMN D       COLUMN E 
--------------------------------------------  ----- -----   -----------------------   -------------   - ---------  
                                                                  ADDITIONS 
                                                           ----------------------- 
                                              BALAN CE AT   CHARGED TO   CHARGED TO                   B ALANCE AT 
                                              BEGIN NING    COSTS AND      OTHER                        END OF 
DESCRIPTION                                   OF PE RIOD     EXPENSES     ACCOUNTS    DEDUCTIONS(A)     PERIOD 
-----------                                   ----- -----   ----------   ----------   -------------   - ---------  
                                                                   (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS) 
DEDUCTION IN THE BALANCE SHEET FROM THE 
  ASSET TO WHICH IT APPLIES: 
Allowance for uncollectible accounts 
  Receivable................................     $7 51        $3,123         $0          $(2,650)       $1,224 

                  COLUMN A                     COLU MN B           COLUMN C             COLUMN D       COLUMN E 
--------------------------------------------  ----- -----   -----------------------   -------------   - ---------  
                                                                  ADDITIONS 
                                                           ----------------------- 
                                              BALAN CE AT   CHARGED TO   CHARGED TO                   B ALANCE AT 
                                              BEGIN NING    COSTS AND      OTHER                        END OF 
DESCRIPTION                                   OF PE RIOD     EXPENSES     ACCOUNTS    DEDUCTIONS(A)     PERIOD 
-----------                                   ----- -----   ----------   ----------   -------------   - ---------  
                                                                   (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS) 
DEDUCTION IN THE BALANCE SHEET FROM THE 
  ASSET TO WHICH IT APPLIES: 
Allowance for uncollectible accounts 
  Receivable................................     $3 86        $1,459         $0          $(1,094)        $751 
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       10.26               --      Lease Agreement,  commencing on November 1, 1995, between 
                                   West Peachtree P oint Partners, L.P. and MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
                                   10(j) to MindSpr ing's Registration Statement on Form 
                                   S-1--File No. 33 3-108). 
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       10.27               --      First Amendment dated February 6, 1996 to Lease Agreement 
                                   dated November 1 , 1995 between John Marshall Law School, 
                                   Inc. (assignee o f West Peachtree Point Partners, L.P.) and 
                                   MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
                                   Exhibit 10(cc) t o MindSpring's Registration Statement on 
                                   Form S-1--File N o. 333-108). 
 
       10.28               --      MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan, as 
                                   amended (incorpo rated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to 
                                   MindSpring's For m 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 
                                   31, 1998--File N o. 0-27890). 
 
       10.29               --      Form of Stock Op tion Agreement (incorporated by reference to  
                                   Exhibit 10(v) to  MindSpring's Registration Statement on Form  
                                   S-1--File No. 33 3-108). 
 
       10.30               --      MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. 1995 Directors Stock Option 
                                   Plan, as amended  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 
                                   to MindSpring's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December  
                                   31, 1998--File N o. 0-27890). 
 
       10.31               --      Form of Director  Stock Option Agreement, as amended 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10(x) to MindSpring's 
                                   Registration Sta tement on Form S-1--File No. 333-108). 
 
       10.32               --      Form of MindSpri ng Director or Officer Indemnity Agreement 
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10(dd) to MindSpring's  
                                   Registration Sta tement on Form S-1--File No. 333-108). 
 
       10.33               --      Master Services Agreement, dated July 15, 1996, between 
                                   BellSouth Teleco mmunications, Inc. and MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
                                   10(cc) to MindSp ring's Form S-1--File No. 333-10779). 
 
       10.34               --      Office Building Lease Agreement, commencing December 15, 
                                   1997, between Pe nnsylvania Dental Service Corporation, a 
                                   Pennsylvania cor poration d/b/a Delta Dental of Pennsylvania,  
                                   and MindSpring E nterprises, Inc. (incorporated by reference 
                                   to Exhibit 10.13  to MindSpring's Form 10-K for the fiscal 
                                   year ended Decem ber 31, 1998--File No. 0-27890). 
 
       10.35               --      Lease Agreement effective as of January 1, 1997 by and 
                                   between CMS Peac htree, L.P. and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc.  
                                   (incorporated by  reference to Exhibit 10(hh) to MindSpring's  
                                   Form 10-K for th e fiscal year ended December 31, 1996--File 
                                   No. 0-27890). 
 
       10.36               --      Amendment dated June 6, 1997 to Master Services Agreement, 
                                   dated July 15, 1 996, between BellSouth Telecommunications, 
                                   Inc. and MindSpr ing Enterprises, Inc. (incorporated by 
                                   reference to Exh ibit 10.1 to MindSpring's Form 10-Q for the 
                                   quarter ended Ju ne 30, 1997--File No. 0-27890). 
 
       10.37               --      Special Service Arrangement Agreement, dated June 1997, 
                                   between BellSout h Telecommunications, Inc. and MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . (a substantially identical contract has 
                                   been executed fo r each of Alabama, Florida, Kentucky, North 
                                   Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee) (incorporated by 
                                   reference to Exh ibit 10.2 to MindSpring's Form 10-Q for the 
                                   quarter ended Ju ne 30, 1997--File No. 0-27890). 
 
       10.38*              --      Lease Agreement dated November 16, 1999, between Kingston 
                                   Atlanta Partners , L.P. and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 
 
       10.39*              --      First Amendment to Lease, dated October 1, 1999, between 
                                   Park West E-3 As sociates and NETCOM On-line Communication 
                                   Services, Inc. 
 
       10.40*              --      Lease Agreement,  dated June 30, 1998, between Ryan Southbank  
                                   II, L.L.C. and M indSpring Enterprises, Inc. 
 
       10.41*              --      Sublease, dated September 14, 1999, between International 
                                   Business Machine s Corporation and MindSpring 
                                   Enterprises, Inc . 
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       10.42*              --      Fourth Amendment  dated June 24, 1998, to Lease Agreement 
                                   dated August 11,  1995 by and among 1430 L.L.C. and 
                                   MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. 
 
       10.43*              --      Fifth Amendment dated October 26, 1999 to Lease Agreement 
                                   dated August 11,  1995 by and among 1430 L.L.C. and 
                                   MindSpring Enter prises, Inc. 
 
       10.44*              --      Amendment dated December 20, 1999, to Office Building Lease 
                                   Agreement dated December 15, 1997, between Pennsylvania 
                                   Dental Service C orporation and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 
 
       10.45*              --      EarthLink Centre  Standard Modified Gross Office Lease, dated  
                                   October 5, 1999,  by and between Limar Realty Corp. #6 and 
                                   Earthlink Networ k, Inc. 
 
       27.1                --      Financial Data S chedule 
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ARTICLE 5 

MULTIPLIER: 1,000 

PERIOD TYPE YEAR YEAR YEAR 
FISCAL YEAR END DEC 31 1999 DEC 31 1998 DEC 31 1997 
PERIOD START JAN 01 1999 JAN 01 1998 JAN 01 1997 
PERIOD END DEC 31 1999 DEC 31 1998 DEC 31 1997 
CASH 685,753 308,607 0 
SECURITIES 0 0 0 
RECEIVABLES 20,300 9,886 0 
ALLOWANCES 3,933 1,629 0 
INVENTORY 0 0 0 
CURRENT ASSETS 735,388 322,344 0 
PP&E 225,603 110,396 0 
DEPRECIATION 74,168 39,349 0 
TOTAL ASSETS 1,109,147 510,002 0 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 162,327 99,390 0 
BONDS 0 0 0 
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0 0 0 
PREFERRED 142 132 0 
COMMON 1,169 1,035 0 
OTHER SE 757,142 400,355 0 
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 1,109,147 510,002 0 
SALES 0 0 0 
TOTAL REVENUES 670,433 290,614 133,444 
CGS 0 0 0 
TOTAL COSTS 866,113 345,069 165,641 
OTHER EXPENSES 0 0 0 
LOSS PROVISION 9,866 0 0 
INTEREST EXPENSE (21,986) (3,671) 1,800 
INCOME PRETAX (173,694) (53,178) (33,997) 
INCOME TAX 0 0 0 
INCOME CONTINUING (187,800) (60,779) (33,997) 
DISCONTINUED 0 0 0 
EXTRAORDINARY 0 0 0 
CHANGES 0 0 0 
NET INCOME (187,800) (60,779) (33,997) 
EPS BASIC (1.65) (0.66) (0.44) 
EPS DILUTED (1.65) (0.66) (0.44) 


